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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MERE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-EF —E-—F e b, — £ —E-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BT BT
Results E¥
Revenue U 2% 186,364 161,124 133,101 72,557 51,510
Loss for the year ZN/NGIEZ SN
attributable to owners of ERFERNERE
the Company (80,215) (99,031) (180,884) (127,733) (43,195)
Assets and Liabilities ZBEREE
Total assets BEE 223,770 288,494 246,422 100,929 87,159
Total liabilities =N 268,959 300,935 374,734 353,744 266,409
Deficits attributable VN/NEIE TN
to owners of JEAE S 4L
the Company (48,746) (14,647) (124,014) (252,577) (181,872)
Loss per share BRER
Basic HARK (0.28) (0.33) (0.58) (0.41) (0.13)
Diluted g (0.28) (0.33) (0.58) (0.41) (0.13)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the Board (“Board”) of Director (“Directors”) of
Imperium Technology Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) and its audited financial results for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024.

In 2024, the economy of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
continued to recover steadily, and its economic development
maintained its leading position in the world. The GDP of the PRC
grew at an annual rate of 5.0%, outperforming market expectations.

During the year, while the global unstable business environment
posed challenges to various industries, the technological industry
develops well and the Group will invest resources in technology-
related businesses to seize market opportunities. In view of the
rapid development of current technological industrial trend, the
Group has tapped into the blockchain games enabling the Group
to remain competitive in the advanced technology online game and
esports business segments, which in turn will broaden the Group’s
source of revenue and maximise the return of the shareholders of
the Company.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
appreciation to all our investors, customers, partners and
shareholders for their ongoing support, and | would also like to
thank my colleagues for their invaluable contributions throughout
the year.

Cheng Ting Kong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWNE D

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The global economy is predicted to grow at 3.2% in 2024 and
3.5% in 2025 amid geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainties.
According to the marketing report issued by NewZoo, the total
revenue in the global game market is also expected to grow with
a compounded annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 31% from 2022
to 2027. The pace of development of the gaming industry has
fallen from its peak and becomes more in line with the overall
economy. During the Year, the digital economy continued to grow
strongly with artificial intelligence (“Al”), software and cybersecurity
as significant drivers. According to Forrester’'s Michael O’Grady,
the growing digital economy should account for approximately
17.0% percent of global GDP by 2028, representing a CAGR of
approximately 7.0% through 2028.

The launch of OpenAl attracted huge number of users and
accelerated the interest to integrate this solution to make the
operating systems across all sectors more efficient. The release
of DeepSeek in January 2025 has further fueled the growth of
artificial intelligence by offering a more cost efficient, open source
and modular approach alternative. At the same time, blockchain
technology has also evolved and expanded beyond its initial
use in cryptocurrencies. It has seen significant advancements in
scalability, security and interoperability, making it more viable for a
wide range of applications. Efforts to integrate Al and blockchain
technology has also had a profound impact on the development
of Web3 which emphasizes decentralization, user control and data
privacy. The Group considers that the long-term development
prospect of emerging technologies is enormous and will continue
to seize corresponding market opportunities.

6 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Since 2018, the Group has transformed itself into a leading player
in the realms of online game publishing, cloud computing related
services and esports which form the three pillars of the Group. At
the heart of the Group’s success is its unwavering commitment
to innovation. By leveraging cutting-edge technologies and a
deep understanding of consumer behavior, the Group targets to
create a portfolio of groundbreaking products and services that
are captivating audiences around the world. The Group’s ongoing
efforts to develop the Metasens, especially the Holosens project is
a testimonial to our vision. To date, we have accumulated valuable
experience and business network in this fast-growing arena which
will remain one of the major drivers of economic growth in the near
future.

In 2024 (the “Year”), the Group’s total revenue decreased
year-on-year by approximately 29.0% to approximately
HK$51,510,000 (2023: HK$72,557,000), mainly due to decrease
in sales from the household products segment and the lack of
contribution from the Metasens projects. The revenue from the
esports segment has increased compared to last year. Loss
attributable to shareholders of the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$43,195,000 (2023: HK$127,733,000), is mainly
due to expenses incurred in the development of the Holosens
project, depreciation of equipment and finance costs. The
decreases in loss as compared to that for the year 2023 are mainly
attributed to one-off costs including amortisation of costs for
options granted as well as impairment of intangible assets relating
to the Metasens incurred in 2023; reduction in research and
development costs for Holosens and decrease in amortization of
intangible assets.

Online game business

The Group continues publishing licensed online games including
(h B2 ' &)
“Champion Horse Racing” over the world. During the Year, the

“Jiuyin Zhenjing” in Southeast Asia region and
Group participated in the launch of “Myth of Empires” and gained
valuable experience in publishing games globally. This enhanced
our readiness in promoting the Holosens, part of the Metasens
project.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWNE D

Holosens is a social-focused metaverse platform that aims to
provide a variety of social features, including dating, entertainment,
and immersive experiences. The platform uses virtual reality
technology and advanced 3D graphics engines to create a highly
interactive and immersive digital world for users, enabling users
to engage in colorful social activities in a virtual environment. With
the rapid development of Al technology, we are actively exploring
the application of generative Al technology to Holosens to develop
game characters with text or voice. This innovation enables players
to create their avatars more accurately and quickly, enhancing the
overall gaming experience. Specifically, players can generate virtual
characters with unique appearances, personalities, and behavioral
traits through text descriptions or voice commands. Not only can
these characters interact with other players in the virtual world
of Holosens, but they can also participate in a variety of social
activities and entertainment. The project was recently launched for
testing on the App Store TestFlight platform. The Group will finalize
its launch plan pursuant to the market feedback.

The revenue from the online game business of the Group
decreased year-on-year by approximately 27.5% to HK$15,080,000
(2023: HK$20,796,000) as the contribution from Metasens
projects decreased by approximately HK$10,490,000. The revenue
generated from the two online games increased moderately during
the Year while the participation in “Myth of Empires” contributed
approximately HK$3,067,000 in revenue to the segment. However,
the joint publishing agreement for “Myth of Empires” was not
extended as the developer planned to focus more on the console
segment where the Group has limited experience. The segment
loss was approximately HK$16,371,000 (2023: HK$71,649,000)
representing primarily the cost incurred in the development of the
Holosens project.

The segment loss was significantly reduced compared to the results
for the year ended 31 December 2023 as there was no impairment
loss related to game intellectual properties and licenses during the
Year (2023: HK$33,443,000). All intangible assets relating to the
online game business were fully impaired in 2023 due to change
in the market environment and player habits arising from the sharp
fluctuations in the NFT market as well as uncertainties in securing
funding for development and publishing of Holosens.

8 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cloud computing and data storage business

The revenue from cloud computing and data storage business
of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$2,823,000
(2023: HK$5,294,000),
approximately 46.6%. The decrease was driven mainly by reduction

representing a year-on-year decrease of

in unit output of Filecoin as the size of the system expanded over
time. The segment loss was approximately HK$6,746,000 (2023:
HK$20,439,000) due to depreciation of equipment utilized and
decrease in market price of the cryptocurrencies.

During the Year, the Group ceased to operate the Chia mining
machines and disposed the Chia tokens and the machines.
Furthermore, the Group has sold part of its Filecoin portfolio to
improve its liquidity position and commenced an operation for
Bitcoin which will improve the revenue stream of the Group and
strengthen its position to capture opportunities in this segment.
In the past few years, the blockchain technology has expanded
beyond its initial applications in cryptocurrencies to applications
in finance, healthcare and supply chain management due to its
potential to enhance transparency, security and efficiency in the IT
solutions. This would also benefit the development of Web3 through
decentralized data management and applications. Going forward,
the Group will explore the possibility of provision of IT consulting
services to leverage its knowhow in blockchain technology to assist
clients in transforming its business operations and exploration of
new business models.

Esports business

The revenue from esports business of the Group for the Year
was approximately HK$29,737,000 (2023: HK$24,860,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 19.6%,
mainly due to increase in revenue generated from esports teams
other than the Peacekeeper Elite team, and resulted in the segment
gain of approximately HK$3,427,000 (2023: segment loss of
HK$13,352,000).

Apart from Peacekeeper Elite and League of Legends: Wildrift
teams, the Group’s Valorant team has achieved remarkable results
during the Year and contributed to the growth of the segment. The
Group considers that the advances in Al and blockchain technology
to enhance fan engagement and generate more revenue through
sponsorship and marketing events. All these efforts would reduce
the segment’s reliance on the performance of the Peacekeeper Elite
team and build a more sustainable platform for the business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWNE D

Other businesses

The revenue from household products business of the Group for
the Year was approximately HK$1,913,000 (2023: HK$18,292,000),
mainly attributable to the intense competition of household market.
The segment loss was approximately HK$382,000 due to absence
of gain from disposal of subsidiary in 2024 (2023: segment profit
of HK$23,959,000). Amid challenging outlook of the business, the
Group will take initiatives to increase revenue and reduce costs
while strengthening its customer base. This includes broadening
its product range to furnishing products and accessories using raw
materials other than stainless steel and adopting a more flexible
cost structure by significantly increase the portion of products
out-sourced to sub-contractors.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue from
property investment business was approximately HK$1,257,000
(2023: HK$1,642,000),
rental income. The segment profit was approximately HK$1,361,000

mainly due to downward adjustments in

(2023: segment loss of HK$95,000) as the fair value of investment
properties remained relatively constant during the Year.

The Group’s revenue from money lending business for the Year was
approximately HK$700,000 (2023: HK$1,673,000). The segment
recorded gain of approximately HK$684,000 (2023: segment loss of
HK$2,903,000) because the outstanding principal amount of loan
receivables was impaired approximately HK$4,576,000 in 2023. As
the Group has not extended any new loan since 2020, the interest
income earned represented the payments received from unsecured
loan to an individual granted in early 2019. The Group has been
actively negotiating with the borrower and may consider to take
further legal action to recover the loan and interest receivables.

Future Prospects

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to invest resources to
further explore business opportunities relating to blockchain
technology, Al and Web3. This may also be extended beyond the
existing segments to other businesses sectors. Given the market
environment in these areas would change rapidly, the Group will
continue to exercise caution when developing these projects.

Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group reported a
revenue of approximately HK$51,510,000 (2023: HK$72,557,000),
representing a decrease of 29.0% from that of the year 2023. The
decrease in revenue is mainly due to decrease of revenue from
household products business in the PRC and the online game
business.

Gross profit margin increased from 14.7% in 2023 to 39.4% in 2024
due to the increase of gross profit margin of esports business and
online game business during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Other income increased from approximately HK$1,405,000 in
2023 to approximately HK$1,870,000 in 2024, mainly due to one-
off sponsorship from business partner during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Distribution and selling costs decreased from approximately
HK$3,295,000 in 2023 to approximately HK$1,390,000 in 2024 due
to the decrease in marketing expenses for online game business
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Administrative expenses decreased from approximately
HK$90,056,000 in 2023 to approximately HK$47,665,000 in 2024,
mainly due to the decrease in share-based payment, staff costs,
reduction in research and development costs and decrease in
amortisation of intangible assets.

Impairment loss on non-financial assets, net of reversal decreased
from approximately HK$33,458,000 in 2023 to approximately
HK$2,060,000 in 2024.
in 2024 was attributable to impairment of cryptocurrencies and

Impairment loss on non-financial assets

cryptocurrency deposits and receivables.
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12 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWNE D

Finance costs decreased from approximately HK$16,793,000 in
2023 to approximately HK$16,030,000 in 2024, attributable to the
decrease in loans from related parties during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Income tax expenses decreased from approximately HK$590,000
in 2023 to approximately HK$26,000 in 2024, mainly arising from
deferred tax charged during the year ended 31 December 2024,

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$8,491,000 (2023: HK$10,189,000) and
net current liabilities of approximately HK$216,800,000 (2023:
HK$208,024,000), the increase in net current liabilities is mainly
due to the reclassification of loan from related parties to current
position. Excluding current portion of the loans from related parties
and interest payable of approximately HK$212,721,000 (2023:
HK$208,563,000) and HK$13,000,000 (2023: HK$4,500,000)
respectively, there was resulted in net current assets of
approximately HK$8,921,000 (2023: HK$5,039,000).

Excluding current portions of loans from related parties and interest
payable of approximately HK$212,721,000 (2023: HK$208,563,000)
and HK$13,000,000 (2023: HK$4,500,000) respectively, current
liabilities decreased to approximately HK$34,820,000 (2023:
HK$45,692,000).

The Group had no bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023. The Group had loans from related parties of
approximately HK$214,684,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$300,767,000). The loans from related parties carried interest at
fixed rate and repayable within two years.

On 14 March 2025, the Company entered into a revolving loan
facilities with an independent third party for an amount up to
HK$25,000,000. The rate of interest applicable to the loan facilities
shall be 12% per annum from the date of drawdown. The repayment
date is falling 12 months from the date of drawdown.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Nevertheless, the Group will continue to seek for other financial
resources as alternative means to meet working capital
requirement.

BANK BORROWINGS

No bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023.

GEARING RATIO

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was derived from loans from
related companies to total assets, decreased from 298.0% in 2023
10 246.3% in 2024, as a result of the decrease in loans from related
parties.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no capital
commitments.

Going Concern Basis

The Group experienced a net loss and operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$41,725,000 and HK$19,730,000 respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and had net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$216,800,000 and
HK$179,250,000 respectively as at that date. These conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. The directors of the Company, having considered
the measures being taken by the Group, are of the opinion that the
Group would be able to continue as a going concern. Our auditor’s
opinion includes an emphasis of matter on going concern, without
qualification.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 10 December 2024, the Group acquired 51% of the entire
issued share capital of Smart System Limited (“Smart System”)
from an independent third party with a cash consideration of
RMB1,000,000. Please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 10 December 2024 for details. And during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group has no material disposal of subsidiary.
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14 imperium Technology Group Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWNE D

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(i) On 24 January 2025, Diamond State Holdings Limited
(“Diamond State”) has entered into a placing agreement
with Waton Securities International Limited, the sole placing
agent (“Placing Agent”), in relation to the placing by the
Placing Agent in multiple tranches on a best effort basis
of up to an aggregate of 93,310,000 shares (the “Placing
Shares”) of the Company (representing 25% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the
Placing Agreement) held by Diamond State at a placing price
of HK$1.05 per Placing Share to professional, institutional,
corporate and other investors (the “Placee(s)”). The placing
period commenced from 24 January 2025 and ended on 24
March 2025 or such longer period as Diamond State and the
Placing Agent may agree in writing.

On 24 March 2025, Diamond State and the Placing Agent
entered into an extension letter to extend the placing period
stipulated under the Placing Agreement from ending on
24 March 2025 to ending on 30 April 2025, or such longer
period as Diamond State and the Placing Agent may agree
in writing. Up to the date of this annual report, the Placing
has not been completed.

(ii) On 14 March 2025, the Company entered revolving loan
facilities with an independent third party for an amount up to
HK$25,000,000. The rate of interest applicable to the loan
facilities shall be 12% per annum from date of drawdown.
The repayment date is falling 12 months from date of
drawdown.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND RELATED HEDGES

All transactions of the Group are denominated in RMB, HKD, USD,
MYR, SGD and THB. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk with respect to the fluctuation of RMB which may affect the
Group’s performance and assets. The Group has not entered into
any derivative contract to hedge against the risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed approximately 137
staffs. The Group’s remuneration to employees, including Directors’
emoluments, decreased from approximately HK$52,595,000 in
2023 to approximately HK$34,256,000 in 2024 mainly due to
decrease in amortisation of share options granted in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group reviews employee remuneration annually and rewards
its employees with reference to the length of services and
performance. The Group also has the liberty to grant share options
and bonuses to employees of the Group at the discretion of the
Directors based on the financial performance of the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and
funding policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions
that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING OF
SHARES

The following set forth a summary of utilization of the Net Proceeds
as at 31 December 2024:

Amount
Net Proceeds utilized as at
from Placing 31 December 31 December

EEENWR DT
AEEESERENEHFEREREFRITE
B 7 B 2 42 D 0 B - 7 % B A 22 707 4 B o B

BRAAEZENBRENAEBEERHEBRE
RIEAL o

MBEBRRREXRGER

AEEEMBEBRERKR T EREEE L HT

REREEREASEEBEXEAERBENR
5 o
ROBERERERARE

UWTE2IWR-ZE-_WFF+_A=+—BHEX
FEABNME:

B

Amount
unutilized
as at Expected timeline for

utilizing the unutilized

Business Strategy Shares 2024 2024 Net Proceeds
R-ZZFE-_NFE R-F-NF
+=A +=A
IR 4 B & =+—8H =t+t—H8 BAXBAMENRE
EX Y 4 FBREESH EBALHE ABASE FENRHEEX
(HK$ million) (HKS$ million) (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)
(B8ET) (BB%ET) (B&8x) (BEET)
Repayment of loans 99.7 95.0 4.7 Expected to be fully
BERER utilized on or before
31 December 2025
EHR-_ZT_AF+=A
=+ —H®ZAEH
Bt
General working capital 10.0 6.0 4.0 Expected to be fully
—REEES utilized on or before
31 December 2025
EHRR_ZT_AF+_-A
=+ —HEZAEH
A
Total 109.7 101.0 8.7
HEt
The Board currently has no intention to change the planned use ZEFEHABEEFXAN_T_MF+H-HFIE

of Net Proceeds as stated in the announcement dated 2 October
2024. The expected timeline for using the unutilized Net Proceeds
is based on the best estimation by the Board.
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416 Imperium Technology Group Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSNEEABZFHABE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, aged 50, who has been appointed as an
executive Director and the chairman of the board of directors on
21 September 2012 and 5 October 2012 respectively. Mr. Cheng
is the chairman of the board of directors and executive director of
Imperium Financial Group Limited (stock code: 8029) (“Imperium
Financial”), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
from 5 July 2013. Mr. Cheng’s wife, Ms. Yeung So Mui is an
executive Director of the Company.

Ms. Yeung So Mui, aged 49, who has been appointed as an
executive Director and vice chairlady of the board of directors from
1 September 2016 to 8 November 2024. Ms. Yeung is the founder
and a director of Sparkle Life Charity Fund Limited. Ms. Yeung was
appointed as a director of Yan Oi Tong Limited on 1 April 2013. Ms.
Yeung is experienced in corporate management. Ms. Yeung was
an executive director of Let Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1383), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
from 5 October 2010 to 20 July 2017. Ms. Yeung was an executive
director of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
2310), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
from 10 October 2019 to 31 March 2022.

Mr. Lin Junwei, aged 29, obtained a Bachelor of Science
Degree in Accounting and Finance from the University of East
Anglia in 2018. Mr. Lin is currently the chief financial officer of
Imperium Green Power Limited and his primary responsibilities
includes the planning, implementation, managing and running of
all the finance activities, including business planning, budgeting,
forecasting and negotiations. Mr. Lin was an executive director
of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2310), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and the
issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited from 10 October 2019 to 10 June 2022. Mr. Lin is
the nephew of Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, an executive Director and a
controlling shareholder of the Company, and Ms. Yeung So Mui, an
executive Director.

Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry, aged 34, holds a bachelor’s degree
in Science (Business and Management Studies) from University of
Sussex, England and a master’s degree in Science (International
Marketing) from University of Surrey, England. Mr. Yeung has been
investing in blockchain company since 2018 and has cofounded
EchoX which is an NFT related platform in early 2021, where he is
responsible for the implementation and supervision of corporate
budgeting and project operation. He has also been consulting
different blockchain projects for past few years and assisting
traditional companies to complete their digital transformation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xiao Junjia, aged 38, obtained a bachelor of science from
Wuhan University of China in 2008 and a master of art (economy)
from University of Alabama, the United States in 2011. Mr. Xiao
has over 10 years of entrepreneurial experience in China, primarily
in steel trading and cryptocurrency mining. From October 2011
to June 2017, Mr. Xiao worked as a client manager in Chengxin
Heng Metal Materials Company Limited, where he was responsible
for managing client relationship and transactions and after-sale
support. From September 2017 to April 2022, he became a partner
at X-dig Technology, where he led site construction, facility setup
and operations for the startup mining company and managed
procurement and upgrades of computer components. From May
2022 to October 2023, he worked as a sales director at Wintrust
International Limited at Canada, an immigration consultant
company, where he was responsible for product marketing and
supply chain management.

Ms. Li Tingting, aged 44, holds a bachelor’'s degree in Chinese
language studies from Shandong Normal University, China, and a
master of business administration from the City University of Hong
Kong. Ms. Li has extensive experience in the online games industry.
Ms. Li has been serving as the chief executive officer of Wanhui
Suzhou Digital Technology Company Limited (& 12 & M &85 &l 1%
BBRZAF]), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
since September 2020, and has led the Company’s esports team,
NOVA Esports, to win numerous international esports awards. Prior
to joining the Group, Ms. Li was employed by Beijing Changyou
Space-Time Software Technology Company Limited Fuzhou
Branch (It G =8 EE H T A R AR E N 5 A7), a company
principally engaged in the operation of online games platform and
publishing of online games business, from September 2003 to
March 2013 with her last position as the general manager of the
sales department. She served as the vice president of Guangzhou
Okidea Marketing Planning Company Limited (& M B &5 2 2 17
#HE BB MR AF) from May 2014 to July 2016 and was mainly
responsible for the online game advertising agency business and
media relations. She has been serving as the chief operating officer
of Fujian Tianshang Network Technology Company Limited (18 & X
i 48 4% B £ B IR A 7)) since July 2016 and is mainly responsible for
media operations and advertising for virtual reality games. In July
2017, she founded the esports team, YQL Esports Club (YQLE %%
B4 3T).
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418 Imperium Technology Group Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSNEEABZFHABE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Tze Wa, aged 68. He is a certified public accountant
and a director of an accounting firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has
various years of experience in auditing, taxation and company
secretarial practice in Hong Kong. He obtained a master degree
in professional accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2000. He is a member of the HKICPA, the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. From
April 2004, to September 2020, he had also been appointed as
the independent non-executive director of Citychamp Watch &
Jewellery Group Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock Code: 0256).
From January 2017 to September 2021,
non-executive director of Freeman Fintech Corporation Limited, a

he was an independent

company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock Code: 279). Since August 2022, he was
an independent non-executive director of Shimao Group Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock Code: 813).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, aged 49, is a District Councillor of Eastern
District. He holds a Master of Laws and Postgraduate Certificate
in Laws from City University of Hong Kong. He is currently a
member of The Hong Kong Bar Association. He is interested in
various issues of social concerns and he has been an active pro
bono adviser in the last 15 years. He was awarded the honour
of Chief Executive’s Commendation Public Service in recognition
of his contribution to the society in 2020. He was appointed the
Chairman of the HKSAR Buildings Appeal Tribunal Panel until 1
December 2024 and the Chief Executive of HKSAR has appointed
him as a member of the HKSAR Torture Claims Appeal Board since
1 April 2025. From 10 October 2019 to 31 March 2022, he was
an independent non-executive director of Times Universal Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2310), a Company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan, aged 49. He holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Business Administration. He is currently a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the HKICPA. Mr. Tse has over 10 years of experience
in auditing, finance and accounting. From December 2006 to
September 2020, he was the financial controller of Chinese People
Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0681). Since
September 2015, he was an independent non-executive director
of Thelloy Development Group Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and the issued shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1546). Since 1 June 2022, he was an independent
non-executive director of Superactive Group Company Limited, a
company incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability and the
issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0176).

Mr. Hui Ka Lung, aged 29, obtained a degree of bachelor
of science from University of East Anglia, Norwich, the United
Kingdom, in July 2016. He has been working as a business
manager in Television Broadcasts Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 511), where
he is responsible for market research and analysis and devising
marketing plan for clients, since February 2020. From November
2016 to June 2019, he worked as a key account manager in
Hyperion International Group Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSNEEABZFHABE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Louis Kan has been serving as the Chief Creative Officer of
the Company since January 2022 and Deputy Operations Manager
of Seven Senses Game Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, since July 2021. He is responsible
for operation, project planning, arts and music of games. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Kan was employed by Geo Security Limited
from 2018 to 2021 with his last position as the Chief Operating
Officer. He served as Chief Operating Officer of Magnus Pro Hong
Kong from 2015 to 2018. Mr. Kan also served as Chief Executive
Officer of Golden Power Motor Service Limited from since 2014 to
2017.

Mr. Luk Wai Keung, was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer
with effect from 30 April 2021. He obtained a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the Australian Graduate School of
Management of the University of New South Wales and a Bachelor
of Science in Engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and a Chartered Financial Analyst at
the Association for Investment Management and Research. Mr. Luk
has over 18 years of experience in the accounting and finance area.
He worked for an international accounting firm and held senior
positions in a number of listed companies in Hong Kong. He was
an executive director of the Company from 1 August 2016 to 30
April 2021.

Mr. Ip Ka Ki, was appointed as the company secretary with
effect from 31 March 2017. He obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from the Lingnan
University in 2003. He is a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He has over 15 years of
experience in accounting, auditing and finance. Since December
2017, he was an independent non-executive director of Vicon
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3878).
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The Board are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 19 January 2005 under
the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of financial position of this annual report respectively.

The Board do not recommend payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution amounted to approximately HK$42,967,000. Under
the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWE

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group during the ZAREBERNREMENE HESH NG A M ER
year are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. =MIFE19 o

SHARE CAPITAL fi% 2

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the ZARBFRARANESHFEBSH NG AT HRE
year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. B 5E34 o

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FEEFRMHER

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases RAFRFERN TBEFPLAEEESAEARE
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively EHEMFBEHERNT:
during the financial year is as follows:

Percentage of the Group’s
total Sales/Purchases

EREEHEE
KBHEE
The largest customer S PNEY S 30.7%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFEE 62.0%
The largest supplier &AM ER 63.1%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AREEEEE 96.1%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders & = + 1§ 5 8 (T {a] B 2 A s R Q &) &) (T ] B
of the Company (who or which to the knowledge of the Directors R(EEZEBFTMAE G B IBS.0% AR AEZ) HE
own more than 5.0% of the share capital of the Company) has any AEETAAAELPNAAHEERHERRER -
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers and

five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS 5E

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this RABMKFEEREEARE TR FNESMT
report were:

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (Chairman) BT B E(ERE)

Ms. Yeung So Mui (resigned on 8 November 2024) BESZET(RZZE_NF+—ANB&ET)
Mr. Lin Junwei WE IR E

Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry BR K EE

Mr. Xiao Junjia (appointed on 8 November 2024) HEFEAE(RZZZNWFE+—ANBEZMT)
Ms. Li Tingting (appointed on 16 December 2024) ZEEXT(RZZE-_MOEF+A+BEZE)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIFBITES

Mr. Fung Tze Wa HFELRE

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TREEE

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan FEHTE

Mr. Hui Ka Lung TRELLE
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 16 to
page 19 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
ROTATION

The appointment of each Director is subject to retirement by
rotation and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. All of the
independent non-executive Directors has entered a service contract
with the Company for a term of 3 years and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company and the Corporate Government Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Xiao Junjia, Ms. Li Tingting, Mr. Fung Tze Wa, Mr.
Ting Wong Kacee and Mr. Tse Ting Kwan will retire from office by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”).

Mr. Lin Junwei, Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry, Mr. Xiao Junjia and
Ms. Li Tingting has entered a service contract with the Company,
save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered or has
proposed to enter into any service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not expiring or determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in
Note 12 to consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors of their independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and both the Board and
the Nomination Committee considered that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

EERAQAREMRBEZENRSD - A
BARORBEZTHNEDZRKXRE

RZEZ_NEF+_A=+—H EFRFTETHK
AERERABSIEFMEEEZE(EERESRE
BEHRAIEXVE)(HEEEZBDRG - BERG X
%%EP%E*E%F %&Hﬂ 5B EXVEBETR 5

HEMSAR ST R ROA R (B1E

{&MEHF ﬁ&ﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬂmﬁf‘%ﬂ*x%ﬁi YE R
RAEEBNEERERAR)NBEESFRBEKH
%3521%%&T/,\%Tﬁzyjpaﬂﬁﬁﬁuaﬁ AR &
FHBTAESETELRRINBRESTR(EE
TFANEMEARARNRRBIMER RARIT

Percentage of
aggregate interests
to total number of

Personal Family Shares in issue
Name of Director interests interests Corporate interests Total (Note 4)
EEpgs (PN £ RikEE AR @t EEam
LEEBRTRG
BEgvEI
(#i34)
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong - - 214,428,488 (L) 214,428,488 (L) 57.45%
BTHEE (Note 2) (Note 1)
(B ##2) (hiit1)
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry - - 1,900,000 (L) 1,900,000 (L) 0.51%
BRK L (Note 5)
(H##3)
Notes: B 7 -
1. The letter “L” represents the Director’s interests in the Shares and underlying 1. FEMLRRESRAQA K E BB EBARG R
Shares or, as the case may be, the equity interest of the Company or its Mk R E R E) RIENRER -
associated corporations.
2. This represents interests held by Mr. Cheng Ting Kong through Diamond 2. & 8 T /& % & & 8 Diamond State Holdings Limited

State Holdings Limited (“Diamond State”), which holds 214,428,488 Shares.
As Mr. Cheng Ting Kong has 100% interest in Diamond State, he is deemed
to be interested in 214,428,488 Shares.
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3. This represents interest held by Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry through
Bluemount investment Fund SPC (“Bluemount Investment”), which holds
1,900,000 Shares of the Company. As Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry has 100%
interest in Bluemount Investment, he is deemed to be interested in 1,900,000
Shares.

4, The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2024 (i.e. 373,243,200 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in register referred to therein, or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significant to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year under review or any time during the year under review save
and except for the transactions disclosed as connected and/or
related party transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director, (i) is a director and a beneficial owner of Imperium
Financial Limited (“IFL"),
Kong and a licensed money lender engaged in money lending

a company incorporated in Hong

business under the MLO; and (ii) is a director and a substantial
shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of Imperium
Financial which engages in money lending business through its
subsidiary, Imperium International Credit Limited (“lICL”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and a licensed money lender under
MLO.
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IFL and IICL competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

The Board considers that, having considered the facts that:

(i) Mr. Cheng is fully aware of his fiduciary duty to the Group
and he will abstain from voting on any matter when there is
or may be a conflict of interest;

(ii) The Group is a capable of, and does carry on its business
independently of, and on an arm’s length basis with the
competing business of IFL and IICL;

(iii) An executive committee will be formed to ensure business
opportunities and the performance of Best Gold Corporation
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will be
independently assessed and reviewed from time to time;

(iv) Mr. Cheng will abstain from voting on any matter where there
is or may be a conflict of interest in accordance with the
requirements of the articles of association of the Company;
and

(v) Mr. Cheng will allow Best Gold Corporation Limited to remain
as an independent operating entity with its own management
team and distribution network and will not involve in its daily
management.

Since (i) all the major and important corporate actions of the
Company are and will be fully deliberated and determined by the
Board; and (i) any director(s) who is/are or deemed to be interested
in any proposed transaction(s) will have his/their interest fully
disclosed and will abstain from voting at the relevant resolution(s)
in accordance with the applicable requirements of the articles of
association of the Company, the Board is of the view that each
of the Relevant Directors does not, by himself or in an individual
capacity, competes with the Company and/or the business of the
Group. The Group’s interest is adequately safeguarded.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Except of the above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
directors, the management shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or the substantial shareholders of the Company, or any
of their respective associates, has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete with the businesses of the Group or has
any other conflict of interests with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there was sufficiency
of public float of the Company’s securities as required under the
Listing Rules up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands.

SHARE OPTION

On 29 June 2018, a resolution was passed in the 2018 annual
general meeting of the Company to adopt a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”).

The Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange has granted the
listing of, and permission to deal in the shares of the Company
which may fall to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options
which was granted and/or may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme subsequently.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

Share Option Scheme
Purpose

To provide an incentive or a reward to eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group.
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Participants

Eligible participants include:

Any directors or employees, consultants and/or advisers, the
eligible participants also include any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, suppliers,
producers or licensors, licensees (including sub-licensee) or
distributors, of the Group or any person who, in the sole discretion

of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group.

Exercise price

Determined by the Board and shall not be less than the higher of:

(@) the closing price of (1) one share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets at the offer date, which
must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of (1) one share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the (5) five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c) the nominal value of the share on the offer date, provided
that in case of fractional prices, the exercise price per share
shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cents.

Total number of share options available for grant

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of share options
available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was 37,324,320.
The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under all share option schemes during the year divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the
year is 0.1.
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Total number of shares available for issue and
the percentage of the issued share capital that it
represents as at the date of this annual report

42,056,752 shares, being approximately 11.27% of the issued
shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Not exceed 1% of the shares in issue in any 12-month period.

Period within which the securities must be taken up
under the option

Subject to the discretion by the Board and, in the absence of
which, from the date of acceptance to the earlier of the date on
which such option lapses and 10 years from the date of offer.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Subject to the discretion by the Board.

Acceptance of the option

Acceptance of the option must be made within 30 days after the
date of offer and HK$1.00 must be paid as a consideration for the
grant of option.

Amount payable on acceptance

HK$1.00 payable upon acceptance of the offer.

Remaining life of the scheme

The scheme will be valid and effective until 28 June 2028, after
which no further options will be granted but the provisions of the
scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects.
Options complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which
are granted during the duration of the scheme and remain
unexercised immediately prior to 28 June 2028 shall continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant, notwithstanding
the expiry of the scheme.
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Employees and other eligible participants EERAEMAEEZKRSHAL
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share REZ-_Z_WNF+-_A=+—HBLHEAR ~AQ
options during the periods ended 31 December 2024: AEREZEFH251T
Closing price
Number of share options of the Shares
RRRHEA immediately
Lapsed/ before the date
Granted  Exercised  cancelled on which the
Exercise Outstanding  during the  duringthe  during the Outstanding at Share Options
Name Date of grant price Exercisable period at 1.1.2024 year year year 31.12.2024  were granted
RZB-mE RZB-mE SEBRER
-A-H ER%%/ +T=BR=t-H o B AR £
#E Rt RS TEE TS i R 1T FREE ERfTE B i R AT W&
HKS
BT
Executive director
HITES
Lin Junwei 28.9.2021 11.04 155,518 options 311,036 - - - 311,036 11.04
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
wkE I 3 155,51817 i R 12
MNAZTNA (ZZZZF#RAA=TNR
EZT=-FAAZttR)
155,518 options
(28.3.2023 to 27.9.2031)
155,51817 I I 12
(CB-=#=B-1tN\BZE
ZZ=-fNLAZttR)
Yeung Tong Seng Terry 18.1.2022 17.14 1,555,180 options 3,110,360 - - - 3,110,360 17.02
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
BRK kot 2 1,555,18017 % 18
—AtNH (ZEZZ#AAZTNR
EZZ=-FAA=ttH)
1,555,180 options
(28.3.2023 t0 27.9.2031)
1,555,18017 % i 1
(ZE-Z#ZF=t/)\RZE
“E=-FAAZT+A)
Li Tingting 28.9.2021 11.04 500,000 options 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 11.04
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
E3 —Z--%FhA 500,00017 £ B #
~t+/R (ZBZZ#AA=TN\RE
“E=-FAAZT+A)
500,000 options
(28.3.2023 to 27.9.2031)
500,00017 & i &
(ZZZ=f#=f=tN\HE
ZE=-§AAZttA)
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Closing price
Number of share options of the Shares
RREHEA immediately
Lapsed/ before the date
Granted  Exercised  cancelled on which the
Exercise Outstanding  during the  during the  during the Outstanding at Share Options
Name Date of grant price Exercisable period at 1.1.2024 year year year 31.12.2024  were granted
R=2-m%F RZZ2-MF ZEBRER
-A-H ERk%/ T-B=+-A HAHARHG
B REBH e &S H RAT B EREH ERf BB H RAT B WHE
HKS
BT
Senior management
BRERE
Luk Wai Keung 28.9.2021 11.04 155,518 options 311,036 - - - 311,036 11.04
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
R k- S 155,518(7 B AR 1
MAZTNB (ZBZZ#AAZTN\BE
ZE=-fAAZttA)
155,518 options
(28.3.2023 t0 27.9.2031)
155,518{7 B A 12
(ZE-Z#ZF=t/)\RZE
b Ik )]

4,732,432 = = = 4,732,432
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The fair value of the share options were calculated using the
Binomial Model (the “Model”) at grant date. The inputs into the
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BN E B S AAERA AR (]
) EHE o MR BBRMT -

Model were as follows:

Share options with an
exercisable period from
28.9.2022 to 27.9.2031
BREZTESHH
“E__FAA=ZTNEE
—E=—fFhA=++tH

Share options with an
exercisable period from
28.9.2022 to 27.9.2031
BREZITESRS
—E-__FhA=+NHE
—E=—FhA=++tH

Share price at date of grant R BB E
Exercise price TEE

Expected volatility (per annum) & Hf S5 18 (5 &)
Expected life of share options & % # 78 Hi 4F Hf

BHRE X
= b A X
BREZANE

Expected dividend yield
Risk-free rate
Fair value of share option

HK$17.027% 7T
HK$17.147% 7T
81.16%

10 years4F

0.00%

1.61%
HK$35,360,8215 7T

HK$11.047% 7T
HK$11.047% 7T
78.61%

10 years4F

0.00%

1.43%
HK$34,456,2547% 7T

Fair values of the share options were with reference to the valuation
carried out by an independent firm of professional valuers.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The risk-free interest rate was estimated based on the yield of
5-year exchange fund note issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority as of the grant date.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value
of the share options are based on the Directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group maintains a mandatory provident fund (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s and
employee’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on 5%
of the relevant income of the relevant employee (up to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000) and in accordance with the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
and related regulations.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes (“Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in Yuyao, the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Schemes at the rate of 26% of the
eligible employees’ salaries. The local government authorities are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

The Group has defined benefit obligations arising from one of its
subsidiaries, Cubinet (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Details of which are set
out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statement.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group has the following continuing connected
transactions (the “Connected Transactions”) and the Company
has fully complied with the announcement, reporting and/or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules (where applicable):

1 On 10 August 2021, Seven Elements Interactive Digital
Technology Limited (“Seven Elements”) entered into the
Second Lease Agreement with Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (“Mr.
Cheng”) pursuant to which Seven Elements agreed to lease
the certain Filecoin equipment, storage facilities and auxiliary
parts, which can generate up to 8 pebibytes of effective
storage mining power, under the Second Lease Agreement
to Mr. Cheng for the provision of cloud computing and data
storage services and mining of Filecoin from 1 October 2021
to 30 September 2024.
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As Mr. Cheng is an executive Director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company, Mr. Cheng is a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the Second Lease
Agreement constitute a continuing connected transaction on
the part of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Financial year/period
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HRBEEERARARTEFTRIEBRRR -
WREERARANBEEAL - Bt RIF L
MHRAFUAE E_HHEEHBIEAAQ
ANRERERS -

Second Caps

MBREE BH F-ER
From 1 October 2021 to 31 December 2021 TR F+A-HEZE-—F+-A=+—H HK$6,000,0007% 7T
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 —EZZF—-RA-BAEZZE--F+=ZA=+—H HK$24,000,0007% 7T
From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 —E-_Zf—f—-HEZZE-_=Zf+-A=+-—H HK$16,000,0007% 7T
From 1 January 2024 to 30 September 2024 “E-NMF-A-BEE-_WFEANAZ=T+H HK$7,000,0007% 7T

On 19 January 2024, the Company entered into the
Co-Publishing Agreement with Imperium Interactive
Entertainment Limited (“Imperium Interactive”), pursuant to
which Imperium Interactive agreed to grant to the Company
the Co-Publishing Right and a non-exclusive licence to allow
the Group to use, apply or exploit the Intellectual Property
Rights for the purpose of use of the Co-Publishing Right
to distribute, market, sell and/or advertise the Subject
Matters within the Territories for the period, being a term
of three months commencing from 21 February 2024, at a
consideration of HK$1 and share of the Net Proceeds at the
ratio of 156% of the Net Proceeds to the Company and 85% of
the Net Proceeds to Imperium Interactive.

As Imperium Interactive is indirectly owned as to 85% by Mr.
Cheng, an executive Director and a controlling Shareholder,
Mr. Cheng is a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Co-Publishing Agreement constitutes a
continuing connected transaction on the part of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The annual cap for
the transactions under the Co-Publishing Agreement shall be
HK$9,500,000.
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Details of item 1 of the Connected Transactions are set out in BEXSFIENFEBHERAARBSHSRA-Z

the announcement and circular of the Company dated 10 August ——FN\A+THE-ZE-—FAAT+LtHEHNAHBR
2021 and 17 September 2021 respectively. Details of item 2 of the Bk - BEXFF2NFBHRARARBH AT
Connected Transactions are set out in the announcement of the Z—PIE—A+HL BB -

Company dated 19 January 2024.

The transaction amounts and cap amounts of the Connected MEXGREE T -_NMF+_A=+—HItHF
Transactions for the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows: ENXZBRERESBOAT:

Maximum
Cap of the
Connected
Transactions for Actual Amount
Status of Connected Transactions 2024 Incurred in 2024
BEXS
R=—Z_-HF R=ZT-D%F
BEX S MRE WEELR EEXENERLE
HKD HKD
AT & T
1 Second Lease Agreement with Mr. Cheng 7,000,000 150,202
HEEETVNE _—_HHAEHZ
2 Co-Publishing Agreement with Imperium Entertainment 9,500,000 3,067,628

HEEY BRI HE A BT HE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS EEEHN

No contracts concerning the management and administration of AFEEHET T RGFETABERARAESL 2 Y
the whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company IR EEX D2 EENITHAL °
were entered into or existed during the Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the Year.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited was appointed as auditor of
the Company on 28 November 2023 following the resignation of
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited on 16 November 2023.

Prism Hong Kong Limited was appointed as auditor of the Company
on 1 November 2024 following the resignation of HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited on 1 November 2024.

Prism Hong Kong Limited will retire as the Company’s auditor at
the end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment, the
resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Prism Hong Kong Limited, as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Cheng Ting Kong
Chairman

28 March 2025
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CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Group is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance and business practices. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance
Report, amended from time to time, contained in Appendix C1 of
the Listing Rules. As far as the CG Code is concerned, during the
Year and up to the date of this report, the Company complies with
all aspect of the Code Provisions except disclosed below:

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The role of chief executive officer
was shared among the members of the Board during the reporting
period. There is no time schedule to change this structure, as
the Directors consider that this structure provides the Group with
consistent leadership in the Company’s decision making process
and operational efficiency. The Board shall review this arrangement
from time to time to ensure appropriate and timely action is taken
to meet changing circumstances.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have fully
complied with the required standard set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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THE BOARD

The Board has a balance of skill and experience and a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors and is
responsible for oversight of the management of the Company’s
business and affairs. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive Directors and senior management of
the Company. The Board does not delegate matters to Executive
Directors or management team to an extent that would significantly
hinder or reduce the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its
functions. The Company formalises the functions reserved to the
Board and those delegated to management, and management are
aware of the matters needed to report back and obtain prior Board
approval before making decisions or entering into any commitments
on the Group’s behalf. The Board would review those arrangements
from time to time to ensure that they remain appropriate to the
Group’s needs.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised of nine members,
namely the Chairman and four other executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors (the biographical details and
relationships between the Directors are set out on page 16 to page
19).

The Board considers that its diversity, including gender diversity, is
a vital asset to the business. The Board adopted a board diversity
policy for better transparency and governance. Board appointments
are based on merit and candidates are considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

The Board oversees the Group’s strategic development and the
overall management of the Group. The Board also monitors the
financial performance and internal controls of the Group. The
Board members have a broad access to business documents and
information about the Group. Three Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee have been established to oversee particular aspects
of the Group’s affairs. The Board meets regularly to review the
financial and operating performance of the Group and to approve
future plans and development.
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All the Directors have actively participated in the review and
monitoring of the Company’s business. The Board meets regularly
and at least 4 times a year. Between scheduled meetings,
the senior management of the Group provides information to
the Directors on a regular basis regarding the activities and
development in the businesses of the Group. The Directors have full
access to information on the Group and independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will
be given written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance
and an agenda with supporting Board papers no less than 3 days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, the Directors are given as
much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting. All minutes
of Board and Board committee meetings are kept by the company
secretary to record in sufficient details the matters considered and
decisions reached by the Board or Board committee, including any
concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by any Director.
These minutes are available for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a total number of nine
(9) Board meetings, three (3) Audit Committee meetings, three
(3) Remuneration Committee meeting and three (3) Nomination
Committee meeting were held. Minutes of these meetings are
kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by the Directors.

The Directors are able, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide
separate appropriate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence

from all existing independent non-executive Directors and considers
them independent.
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The Directors except for the independent non-executive Directors,
have no fixed terms of appointment but are subject to re-election at
the AGM of the Company in accordance with the Company’s article
of association. All of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered a service contract with the Company for a term of 3
years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company and
the Corporate Government Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this
report, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by attending training course or
reading materials on the topics related to corporate governance
and regulations or the Company’s business or their duties and
responsibilities.

Mr. Xiao Junjia and Ms. Li Tingting had obtained legal advice from
Hong Kong legal advisers on 19 November 2024 and 12 December
2024 respectively, as required under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules
and confirmed they understood their obligations as directors of the
Company upon their appointment as Executive Director.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is summarised below:

Name of Directors

A g
EREBRE

EFEUATEFRINVEEBREREFH -
HARARB ZABERZMURKNAB R RBE
REBESE - MEBLUFATESFHEERALAR
AR AHBFEMNRBEHN  AARBARAK
MBERAR R AES TR RMEECIT#E
MEXERTAWMESRREEEE-

EEHA

BREBETAIKRXFEACSE  MEEZR2EBESR
XBER G BRUTHEMBLZRE  ARFREHE
BEABEEEARYAMBEZERATHESS
FHEBM BEEAREAHL FAEEHEBL
HEERITEREEE ARMBARINEZIRE
FHEBARAAEBXREBEMBEREERN
TAMBEGENREEEERED -

RIE ETHRBIES0DEMBRE HEERERS
EELZtTSIR-_Z-_NF+—A+thBR=F
TFFZ ATt HRABREEERIRESEERER

REECHHEZAANTESTRIEAERAR
EFEMEMT -

REBEE-FT_NEF+_A=1T—BHLFERZE
EREZEI 2@ SR IT

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/reading
relevant materials in
relation to the business
or directors’ duties

HEEEEREESREEBEZ
EEgE BERRE HEMEBEER
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong BT B AE Yes 52
Ms. Yeung So Mui BEREL L
(resigned on 8 November 2024) (RZE2E-_WF+—AN\AET) Yes 52
Mr. Lin Junwei A& 12 5 Yes &
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry B R KL Yes =
Mr. Xiao Junjia HEELE
(appointed on 8 November 2024) (RZZEZWF+—HAN\BEZE) Yes 7
Ms. Li Tingting TRt
(appointed on 18 December 2024) (RZE2E-_WF+A+N\BEZT) Yes =&
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BT ELE Yes 52
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TRELE Yes &
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan HEHTE Yes 52
Mr. Hui Ka Lung TEELE Yes &
FEMREERERAT 2024 5% 41
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the
Board. The Company embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number of aspects,
including, but not limited to, gender, age, culture and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
industry and regional experience.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve as a
director of the Company, the nomination committee would consider
the above criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendations to the Board.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.

The Board currently has one female Director out of 9 Directors,
and is committed to improving gender diversity as and when
suitable candidates are identified. As at 31 December 2024, the
gender ratio of the Group’s workforce was approximately 65%
male to 35% female. The Company’s hiring is merit-based and
non-discriminatory. The Board is satisfied that the Company has
achieved gender diversity in its workforce.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, through the Nomination
Committee, has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Diversity Policy and confirm that the Board has an appropriate
mix of skills and experience to deliver the Company’s strategy.

The nomination committee will review the Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and
cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements for

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREAEE
EEHMBHRRNEML

EFERERBEANZEZEREEERGREASE
REBEAHENYBERER  EERFIHEHRARN
SENEBRL EEXERRTRE - RNER
BE_ZT_HWNF+-_A=+—HIFENHBR
K CERMRARERAAENGHEEK -

the year ended 31 December 2024, suitable accounting policies

have been adopted and applied consistently.

The individual attendance records of each Director, on a
named basis, at the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee during the

year ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:

RBZE_Z-_MF+_A=+—RHIEFE BRESF
BEREFEFE BEZRZRES FHZESRE
AREEMERLBAREIWT:

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HER/ERELEERNAY
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Name of Director Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting!
EEfg e ENZEE HMZEE REZEE RREFAY
Number of Meetings EE 8 9 3 3 3 1
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (Chairman) BTREE(ZE) 9/9 - - - 111
Ms. Yeung So Mui (Vice Chairiacl) BEBRL(HZE)

(resigned on 8 November 2024) (R=B-mE+-ANBEE) i - - - 17
Mr. Lin Junwei WEERE 9/9 - 33 33 111
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry BRERLE 9/9 - - = 17
Mr. Xiao Junjia (appointed on 8 November 2024)  EE R4

(R-Z-mE+-AN\BEZH) 22 - - - 000
Ms. Li Tingting (appointed on 16 December 2024) Z &+

(W=E-mE+-A+/ REZT) 0/0 - - - 0/0
Independint Non-executive Diractors BUFHTEE
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BrELsE 99 3/3 3/3 3/3 11
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TS 9/9 3/3 3/3 3/3 11
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan AEHTE 9/9 33 33 33 111
Mr. Hui Ka Lung HRELE 99 - - - 11
Note: B 7 -
1. 2024 Annual General Meeting was held on 30 June 2024, 1. T _NFRERBFAER _E_WFASNA=THET -
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring that the
Company has formal and transparent procedures for developing
and overseeing its policies on the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management. The committee’s authorities and duties are
set out in written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee
comprises the following four members, including one executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, Chairman of Remuneration Committee
(if) Mr. Fung Tze Wa

(ifi) Mr. Tse Ting Kwan

(iv) Mr. Lin Junwei

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Given below are main

duties of the Remuneration Committee:

(i) to make recommendations on the Company’s policies and
structure for all the remuneration of Directors;

(if) to propose the specific remuneration packages of the
executive Directors, and to make recommendations on the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors for the Board’s
approval;

(iii) to review and propose performance-based remuneration
for executive Directors by reference to corporate goals and

objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

(iv) to administer and make determinations with regard to the
Company’s share option scheme; and

(v) to review matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.
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During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

° Review the remuneration package of the Executive Director
and senior management for year ended 31 December 2024;

° Recommend the remuneration package of Mr. Xiao Junjia
and Ms. Li Tingting as Executive Director to the Board for
approval. Before making recommendation to the Board, the
Remuneration Committee has reviewed and assessed the
remuneration package of the Directors with reference to the
Group’s operating results, duties and level of responsibility of
the Directors and the prevailing market conditions. Details of
the remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year are set
out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee comprises the following three
members, all independent non-executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Fung Tze Wa, Chairman of Audit Committee

(if) Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

(iii) Mr. Tse Ting Kwan

Given below are the main duties of the Audit Committee:

(i) to make recommendations with respect to the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the Company’s external
auditor, and to evaluate their independence, objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process;

(if) to review and monitor the interim and annual financial
statements, reports and accounts of the Company, and to
review significant and judgemental financial reporting issues
contained therein;

(iii) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems; and

(iv) to discuss with the management the system of internal
controls, and to ensure that the management has discharged
its duties and responsibilities in implementing an effective
internal control system.
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During the financial year, the Audit Committee performed, RABREERN BEERZESCET ZE N
considered and/or resolved the following matters: AT EIE:

Considering the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 for the approval by the Board;

Considering the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2024 for the approval by the Board;

Approval of external auditor’s scope, plan and fees of the
annual audit;

Meeting with the external auditor and discussing their major
findings in the annual audit;

Review the reports prepared by the external auditor relating
to the annual audit;

Considering the effectiveness the external auditor, giving due
consideration to the quality and contents of their reports to
the committee, feedback from management and compliance
with relevant regulatory, professional requirements and their
independence;

Considering the safeguard of external auditor’s objectivity
and independence in proposed engagement in respect of
audit-related and permissible non-audit services; and

Assessment of the resignation of previous auditor and
appointment of new auditor.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written

terms of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate

Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing

Rules. The Nomination Committee comprises the following four

members, including one executive Director and three independent

non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan, Chairman of Nomination Committee

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

Mr. Lin Junwei

Given below are main duties of the Nomination Committee:

(i)

(i

(iil)

(iv)

to review the structure, size and composition (by taking into
account the criteria as set out in the Board diversity policy
adopted by the Company from time to time) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

to review the Board diversity policy regularly (including
any measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing the Board diversity policy and the progress
on achieving those objectives); and make disclosure of its
review results in the corporate governance report of the
Company annually;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors in particular the
chairman and the president (chief executive officer).
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During the financial year, the Nomination Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

° Annual review on structure, size and diversity of the Board;

° Review the existing nomination policy and Board diversity
policy, and the implementations;

° Assessment on the independence of Independent
Non-Executive Directors and review of the annual
confirmation on the independence;

° Review of re-appointment of Directors who retired from
office by rotation at the past AGM and offered themselves
for re-election; and

° Recommendation of the appointment of Mr. Xiao Junjia
and Ms. Li Tingting as executive Director to the Board for
approval.

The Nomination Policy aims at assisting the Nomination Committee
in identifying and nominating suitable candidates for directorship
based on the Board Diversity Policy and sets out the nomination
criteria and the nomination procedures for (i) nominating new
Director to fill a casual vacancy on the Board; (ii) making
recommendation to Directors and Shareholders regarding any
Director proposed for election or re-election at general meeting;
and (iiij nomination by Shareholders on election of new Director.
The Nomination Committee may identify potential candidates from
any source as it may consider appropriate and evaluate them by
considering various factors, including their professional expertise,
industry and business experience, time commitments, potential
contributions to board diversity, material conflict of interest with the
Group (if any) and independence (for INEDs). The Committee will
then make recommendation of suitable candidates to the Board for
consideration of appointment. In case of reappointment of existing
Directors who will retire at an annual general meeting (“AGM”),
the Committee will review the retirement of Directors and make
recommendations to the Board accordingly.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION % B &

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payableto REBEZ T -_WNE+ A=+ —BILtFE ' HiE
auditor of the Company for the provision of audit services and non- M BERE R IIEBARB SN TEL RNAD B % EH

audit services are as follows: MezBRAWNT:
2024 2023

ZE-NF —B_=F
Nature of services HK$ HK$
R % 4 & BT BT
Audit =t 980,000 1,600,000
Corporate Governance Functions TtEERBEE
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance ZFE€BEEBITLEEARTHMHENDEE AR
duties set out in the CG Code. Given below are the main duties of & - U T ALEE ABENTEH S

the Corporate Governance Functions:

(a) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on  (a) FlE R BEITANCEERABRRLER
corporate governance and make recommendations to the TREFEREES:
board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous (b) BFAREREERSAEEAENEINR
professional development of directors and senior FEHEXERR

management;

()  to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on  (c) BARERBTATETEEREERT

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; FTHERBER RS
(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and (d) #IE BRI LEREENZEFZMNERTER
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and FERFMAE) &

directors; and

(e)  to review the issuer’s compliance with the code and (e R BT ABTTABRXHNBERLRERE
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. BERMENMBEE -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain and oversee an
effective risk management and internal control system on
an ongoing basis in order to protect the Group’s assets and
shareholder’s interests. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are implemented to minimize risks to which
the Group is exposed. The systems can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The internal control system includes a well established
corporate structure and organisation with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Each department is responsible
for its daily operations, and is also required to implement and
monitor the strategies and polices adopted by the Board and
effective employment of the resources of the Company, in order
to avoid misappropriation of resources and damages made to the
Company’s assets, and prevent against errors and fraud.

The risk management framework includes identify significant risk
in the Group’s operation environment and evaluate the impact of
those risks on the Group’s business, develop necessary measure
to manage those risks and monitor and review the effectiveness of
such measures.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Board and management, with the assistance of the external
consultants, are responsible for designing, implementing and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

Risk identification

° |dentifies the risk through discussion with the management
and directors of subsidiaries of the Company. Risk
identification and management questionnaire are used
to document the risks identified by the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company.
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Risk Response

° Categories the risks into low risk, medium and high risk;
° Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and
° Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and

determines the frequency of review and control testing on
key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° On-going communication of monitoring results to the Board
which enables it to assess control the Group and the
effectiveness of risk management during the Year;

° Risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk
register and internal control audit plan; and
° Fact finding report with recommendations on the review and

testing of internal control on certain operating cycles and
areas.

Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the
management of the Company, including analyzing and appraising
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. For the enhancement of the quality of
the internal audit, the Company has engaged an external consultant
to execute a certain scope of internal audit function to:

° Facilitate the management’s process to perform the risk
assessment and evaluation; and

° Conduct various agreed upon reviews on certain selected
operating cycles and areas in accordance with the
Company'’s internal control audit plan.

During the Year, the Board conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board concluded that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company were adequate and
effective during the Year.
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INSIDER INFORMATION

The Company is fully aware of its obligations under the new Part
XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 and
the Listing Rules. The Board has adopted procedure and internal
control policy which contains the guideline to the Directors and
officers of the Company to ensure that the inside information of the
Company is to be disseminated to public in an equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
Such policy provides guidance on the Company conducting its
affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirements under the
Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong in June 2012.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Ip Ka Ki has
received no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
refresh his skills and knowledge.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

A Whistle-blowing Policy was put into effect for all levels and
operations in the Group to show zero tolerance towards corruption
and assist individual employees to disclosed malpractice or
impropriety within the Group. All employees must fully comply
with relevant local laws and regulations as well as the Group’s
own policies on the prevention of corruption. All employees have
a responsibility to raise concerns, confidence, about possible
improprieties such as misconduct and malpractice in any matter
related to the Group and report any suspected violations to
a supervisor or senior management. Such policy also aims at
protecting whistle-blowers from unfair dismissal, victimisation and
unwarranted disciplinary actions.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company has in place an anti-corruption policy within all its
employees, which forms part of the Company’s employees staff
manual. Employees are required to act with integrity and to report
any suspected bribery, corruptions and money laundering cases to
management or the Audit Committee.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate)
will be available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Having considered the implementation and effectiveness of
multiple channels of communication in place, the Board is satisfied
that the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly
implemented during the Year and is effective.

Details of the Last General Meetings

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with the Shareholders. Under Revised Code
Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the shareholders.

Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, a special general meeting may be convened by the
Board upon requisition by any shareholder holding not less than
one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall
make a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
of the Company, specifying the transaction of any business in such
requisition.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two
(2) months after the receipt of such written requisition. Pursuant
to the Article 59 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Company shall serve requisite notice of the general meeting,
including the time, place of meeting and particulars of resolutions
to be considered at the meeting and the general nature of the
business.
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If within twenty one (21) days of the receipt of such written
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such special
general meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner,
and; all the reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the head office address
of the Company, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the Company’s head office in Hong Kong
at Room 02, 26/F., One Harbour Square, No. 181 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is
made for its business and financial performance through a
variety of formal communication channels. Information regarding
the Company will be published in its website: www.776.hk.
Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the Group
will be despatched to Shareholders in due course. The website
of the Company provides information such as e-mail address,
correspondence address, telephone numbers etc. for inquiries, and
provides information on business activities of the Company.

The Company’s AGM of Shareholders is a good opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Notice of
AGM and related documents will be sent to Shareholders pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules, and will be published on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Company will also meet with the investment community and
respond to their inquiries about the status of the Company from
time to time, so as to strengthen the contacts and communication
between the Company and its investors.

Constitutional Documents

During the financial year, there were no changes in any of the
Company’s constitutional documents. The constitutional document
of the Company was published on the Company’s investor relations
website (www.776.hk) and Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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OUR REPORT
OVERVIEW

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(hereinafter referred to as the “Report”) is the 2024 Report
published by Imperium Technology Group Limited (the
“Company”,

It systematically reviews the Group’s performance and

together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”).

inadequacies in fulfilling its social responsibilities and
formulating a sustainable development strategy. We
strongly believe that offering a summary of the sustainable
development disclosure of the Group to stakeholders is
conducive to enhancing our sustainable development
performance.

This Report provides information on the corporate social
responsibility performance of the Group in terms of the
environment, society and governance during the year from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024. This Report complies
with the “comply or explain” provisions of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Code and contains all
disclosures as recommended in the Code.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The scope of this Report includes all areas of the Group’s
business over which the Group has financial significance and
operational influence and those of ESG significance to the
Group and its stakeholders. This environmental, social and
governance Report mainly covers our core business”
including:

° Game publishing business: Cubinet Interactive
(Thailand) Co., Ltd., Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn.
Bhd. and Seven Senses Game Company Limited

° Esports business: Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital Science
Investment Co., Ltd.

° Cloud computing and data storage business: Seven
Elements Interactive Digital Technology Limited

During the Reporting Year, the Group reviewed its core business and revised
the scope of the Report with reference to all areas of the Group’s business
over which the Group has financial significance and operational influence and
those of ESG significance to the Group and its stakeholders.
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The above business operations account for over 90% of the
Group’s earnings.

Unless otherwise indicated, all key performance indicators
herein only cover the data of our game business, esports
business, and cloud computing and data storage business.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

We have considered the following reporting principles in
preparing this Report:

° Materiality: the Group determines the impact of
environmental, social and governance issues on the
Group’s operations through management interviews
and surveys of internal and external stakeholders.
For more information, please refer to the Materiality
Assessment section.

° Quantification: the data in the Report is collected and
analysed in accordance with relevant guidelines and
standards, and the relevant standards, approaches,
assumptions and/or calculation methods are set out
where appropriate.

° Balance: our Report is based on the actual operations
of the Group without any false or biased information,
and gives an objective view of the Group’s overall
sustainability performance for stakeholders.

° Consistency: we have followed the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Code issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) for reporting since 2017. Where there are
any changes that may affect the comparison with
previous reports, the Group has added notes to the
corresponding content of this Report.

FEEDBACK MECHANISM

This Report is prepared mainly in accordance with the
Group’s internal statistics, various archive documents and
estimations. Should you have any feedback on this Report,
please send an email to ir@776.nhk so that we can further
improve our policies in relation to sustainable development.
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ESG STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

The Board of Directors of the Group (the “Board”) is
pleased to release the 2024 ESG Report, which sets out the
Group’s institutional building and performance in fulfilling
its environmental and social responsibilities in 2024 (the
“Reporting Year”) to address stakeholders’ concerns and
expectations regarding the Group’s sustainable development
management and information disclosure.

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

The management of the Group firmly believes that effective
and excellent environmental, social and governance (ESG)
management can help enhance its corporate brand image
and reduce energy consumption, thereby reducing operating
costs. We are committed to incorporating the concept of
social responsibility into the Company’s decision-making
management and business operations, and seizing every

opportunity for sustainable development.

The Group’s sustainability strategy is based on four
core areas of sustainable development, which are the
environment, employees, business and community. These
core areas underpin our commitment to creating value
for our stakeholders and enable us to deliver on our
commitment systematically.
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Our Sustainable Development Goals:

EANTRERRER:

BRI HERERRE

Business

%

Environmental

RIE

Employees
8T

Social

e

Ethics and Governance

Environmental
Management

RHEE
C||mate Change Strategy

Rix R
Employee Care

BEET
Personnel Training

BEAM

Diversity and Inclusion

H>}

TER

R

Occupational Safety

eI

Community Investment

R E

Product Safety

EmZ:

Responsible Procurement

BEARE

Comply with the policies and codes developed by Imperium Technology Group. Conduct

transparent reporting and take remedial measures if necessary

Operate in good faith and comply with all applicable laws and regulations within the

operational framework

Maintain a high standard of corporate governance, a superior board of directors, sound

internal control, increased transparency and accountability to all stakeholders

BITEMBREBEFENRERTR - WAFE - BILAE R 7 = E 8RR RS i

WBERRIGEER EEEERNNGMAERNERERT

BERKENGEER RERNESR RI2NNPEE REREARHMERNE

&

Regularly monitor environmental parameters and review production plans to reduce

environmental impact

THEREERE2EARIEENR REAIHENRETZE

Review the Group’s policy on climate change and develop a sustainability plan to identify

and address related physical and transition risks and opportunities

ROSERERERECN A CHEREER;E  ABPNEHEANERNE
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Provide adequate support for employees and strengthen good relations with employees

REIRHEARXE MBRESINRTFHEEK

Create a continuous learning environment and encourage employees to develop their

careers within the Company

BERBEEENRE ITHBEEECENERER

Respect the labour rights and human rights of all employees, maintain high ethical

standards, clearly define human resource management policies, and promote an inclusive

culture in the Company

EE%%%IWMI%W&A%
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Promote a healthy and safe work environment

REERE UREIRHANERERRE Y&

— Achieve zero fatal accidents in the workplace

REREZ2HIHERS
EIRSHERTHNDEN

— Work with local charities to support the underprivileged and the needy

Provide job and training opportunities for young people
EAMEERBOEXEBEHBREREAL

REFEARBIEREINIKE

Improve quality, safety and environmental/health performance through innovative product
design, so as to give users a better user experience

Comply with all applicable data protection and cybersecurity regulations and reduce the risk
of business interruption from cyber attacks
BRABFMNERRIREEE Z2UARE /BRENG LK TRFEENERER
BIMAERANBBRENBRZENEANSERERBIBEALETTNAER
Require suppliers to comply with the Group’s environmental standards in all aspects,
covering workflows, products or services, child labour, basic human rights, working
conditions, compensation, occupational health and safety, and business ethics

The Group only cooperates with suppliers and business partners who meet our requirements
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2.2,

The Group will continue to review its internal sustainability
governance strategy and refine relevant policies and
measures. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to strengthen
communication with stakeholders to further enhance its
environmental and social performance and create value for
our shareholders and stakeholders in the long run.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Governance Structure

The Group’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) assumes
the role of leadership and supervision in the Group.
The Board reviews and manages ESG issues and risks
every year, ensures that they are incorporated into the
Company’s strategy, and leads the Group to develop and
achieve long-term strategies and goals. The management
of the Group is responsible for monitoring sustainability
performance and targets, reviewing the feedback from
stakeholders, collecting ESG data and information to prepare
the Group’s annual ESG report, and reporting to the Board
for approval. This Report was approved by the Board on 26
March 2025 after being confirmed by the management.
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Sustainability Governance Structure of Imperium Technology Group
FTENEEENTEHERRERERS

Board of Directors

risk management and internal control, and report
to the Board on the appointment of external
auditor and their audit work
MOEESEEMBER  RBRERE - NI - .
AEREEINERBMREERTEFRNEESE
£

Responsible for special matters assigned by the
Board from time to time

BREFETERERNFRNER

Exg
Audit Committee The Management
ERERS BEXBHNEER
° Assist the Board in overseeing financial reporting, ° Responsible for monitoring sustainability

performance and targets, reviewing the feedback
from stakeholders, and collecting ESG data and
information

BEERAHEEZRRANAE  ERENEN
BER KERE HERELNBEBELEH

60 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Internal Control and Risk Management

To ensure that climate-related issues are integrated into our
strategy, the terms of reference of the standing committees
of the Board have been expanded to cover ESG issues. For
example, the Audit Committee regularly monitors ESG risks
and reviews our sustainability policy in public disclosures.

The Board is responsible for continuously monitoring
and reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems. In order to better support the
decision-making process, the Board will engage external
independent professionals if necessary to help identify and
evaluate the sustainability risks facing the Group through
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interviews.
Risk Category Risk Description Countermeasures
[ B aE A B B 5 FE 4 o e
Energy With the increasing awareness of energy With an emphasis on energy conservation, the

Conservation use in society, a sound energy conservation

policy will help the Group avoid risks related to

Group strives to reduce unnecessary energy
consumption and introduce energy-saving

environmental laws and regulations, and facilitate

o
anp

in-house discussions and planning.
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MELERRERERER  TENHHER
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equipment. Employees are required to turn off
all computers, monitors, lighting, etc. after work
and this requirement is stipulated in the Code of
Conduct for Employees which all must follow, so
as to reduce energy consumption. In addition,
the lighting equipment in the office is gradually
replaced with LED energy-efficient lighting to
improve energy efficiency.
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BRI HERERERE

Risk Category Risk Description
EER [ B 4

Countermeasures

FE ¥ 12 ie

Employment System With regard to protecting employment rights,
legal regulations in many countries around the
world are becoming increasingly stringent. If the
requirements are not met, the Group may be
subject to legal and compensation risks.

& 1% = HRRERBER

EEERBEERR

Employee Training  Talent development is the cornerstone of a

and Development company’s continued prosperity and progress.
If employees do not have access to training and
development opportunities, it may lead to talent

loss.
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ERZEBRNERRE
BBERE —BFTEEFR  SEFER &

The Group recruits and manages employees in
strict accordance with the labour laws applicable
in all countries where its business operates,
and absolutely prohibits any employment of
child labor and any form of forced labor. We
have established a strict recruitment procedure.
When recruiting workers, we must strictly check
their identity cards and other documents, sign
labor contracts and establish personnel files in
accordance with the principles of fairness and
voluntariness and legal requirements.

SEBRRRRMAEKELHHMERTER
MBTZRETETIRENER  BHELE
MEMAEIMNTARMEMNEANRESS - &
PEREBRROBEREN ERIRBAES
MEFBMHREER  LIRAE - BRREIM
ERBERBREBLEBER BIUASFHER -

The Group invests heavily in its employees,
providing them with training and development
opportunities, as well as competitive
remuneration and benefits, in order to recruit
and retain our talents.
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With the increasing interest of regulatory institutions and
investors in sustainability issues and addressing related
risks, looking ahead, the Group will continue to refine
its sustainability governance, intensify the functions of
its ESG management, and enhance risk identification
and assessment, thus enabling the Group to deal with
sustainability issues more effectively and respond to

stakeholders’ concerns.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group’s overall sustainability policy is closely related
to stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment.
We believe that a thorough understanding of stakeholder
concerns and the sustainability challenges we face will help
us adjust our sustainability strategy to achieve maximal
positive impact and reduce the negative impact on social
and environmental issues while fulfilling our corporate
responsibility. Accordingly, we strive to build trust with all
stakeholders through transparent and open communication
ESG reports,
questionnaire surveys, regular dialogues and meetings, etc.

channels, including annual reports,

During the year, in order to better understand the ESG
awareness and vision of stakeholders, the Group engaged
an independent consultancy firm to carry out stakeholder
communication activities and materiality assessment,
including: questionnaire surveys of the management and
internal and external stakeholders.

2.3.
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BRI HERERERE

We take three steps to conduct a materiality assessment:

Step 1
|dentify material issues

Step 3
Confirm and review

£=4
ERLEMN
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BPRN=EFRBAEHBEEMLNE:

We identify potential material issues that can reflect the economic, environmental and social impact of
the Group’s business or affect stakeholders’ assessment of and decision-making on the Group with
reference to the HKEX Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code and based on factors
such as corporate development strategy, industry development trends, regulatory and capital market
requirements, etc.

SEFRRGA(RE HBRELRETIDNESARZREKE TXERBY  EENEL®
GERERT LLE RE #H& BEANEKELE  FHEARRAKEXBELNLE
BRENHEYE AP ERc AUAREFGENRENEEERSRE -

We collect feedback from internal and external stakeholders of the Company through online surveys to
understand the priority issues concerning stakeholders, and rank the issues based on the impact on
the Group’s ESG development and the impact on stakeholders to form a materiality assessment matrix.

AMBBRLEATRERAARRIAENEREER  UTHRERSAMBINELEZE IR
BHAKEESCERYENHERSATEMBAITBATHF BUEEUHIEREE -

The management and the ESG Reporting Working Group review and confirm the assessment results.

EEEBRESGHRETLH/NAEMLBEAFMEER -
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BiE - HESRERHE

Materiality Assessment Matrix

BB Mt EEE
Moderately important issues Highly important issues
REZERE . BEEfNE
Q@
Y 1s @ e
)
ko] 12
2 o
i 10— 13 ,/.
g 0 ®
E H‘K 21 . I|I
/2] Hﬂlﬂ 14 1'1
§ 2
= irg 1.715 )
% = o ° o
o Hm ' /6 Lg a4
- =5 /
Za ° ©
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b= 22
o
= .“'—1 _— !
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2 (4]
Less important issues 3
REZMHE
Materiality to the Imperium’s Development
HYESEERRNEENY
Air Pollutant/GHG Emission Management 12 Employee Training and Development
RERN/ RERBHNER EEEIEER
Sewage Discharge Management 13 Labour Standards
REK B E B BT AR
Waste Management 14 Environmental and Social Risks in the Supply Chain
BEEMER RN RE R g AR
Energy Conservation 15 Quality Control of Production Materials
B 40 B2 IR EEMHNE B
Water Conservation 16 Customer Health and Safety
& 40 7K EFHNRERER D
Use Efficiency of Other Resources 17 Product Recall System
HinBReE A& 2 [E YR )
Impact of Management and Operations on the Environment 18 Customer Complaint Handling and Response Mechanism
and Natural Resources BREFEE R EY#H
EREEHRERAAERERNT E
Strengthening Climate Adaptability and Resilience 19 Protection of Customers’ and Business Partners’ Interests
@b RIRE R BE 1T REZFPREBAEBHNN G
Employment System 20 Prevention of Bribery, Extortion, Fraud and Money Laundering
ERHE BILREEE  BR - HFERERE
Anti-discrimination, Equality and Diverse Employment 21 Community Needs and Interests
Environment HEEENH &
RE®R  FERNSETERERER
Occupational Safety and Health 22 Community Investment

REZZRER

HEREE

FENEEEERAT 2024 3% 65
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Analysed by the materiality assessment matrix, the Group’s

22 relevant issues are as follows, in descending order of

importance:

Highly important issues

SEEEEE

Moderately important issues
PEEEZERE

Less important issues
BKEEEZRE

66 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Employee Training and Development

Labour Standards

Occupational Safety and Health

Customer Complaint Handling and Response
Mechanism

Anti-discrimination, Equality and Diverse
Employment Environment

Prevention of Bribery, Extortion, Fraud and
Money Laundering

Environmental and Social Risks in the Supply
Chain

Employment System

Energy Conservation

Customer Health and Safety

Protection of Customers’ and Business
Partners’ Interests

Community Needs and Interests

Use Efficiency of Other Resources

Quality Control of Production Materials
Product Recall System

Water Conservation

Strengthening Climate Adaptability and
Resilience

Impact of Management and Operations on
the Environment and Natural Resources
Air Pollutant/GHG Emission Management
Waste Management

Community Investment

Sewage Discharge Management

Annual Report 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROSPERITY
Management guidelines and policies

The Group always upholds the concept of sustainable
development. We are aware of the possible environmental
impact of our business operations, identify the key
environmental risks we face, and put into practice the
concept of green operation. We review major business
processes to reduce the negative impact of business
operations on the environment, enhance environmental
protection capabilities, and improve overall environmental
performance, in an effort to create a sustainable future for
our next generation.

For emission and waste management, the Group aims to
fully comply with regulatory requirements and strictly abide
by all applicable environmental laws and regulations, such as
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China. During the reporting period, the Group had no
violation of relevant regulations.

Directional targets on environmental
protection

To take up its corporate social responsibility, the Group
takes an active role in incorporating environmental protection
concepts into its daily operations to ensure that its
operations are environmentally responsible, prevent pollution
and reduce resource consumption and has established
the following targets to manage the environmental impacts
caused by its operations.

BiE - HESRERHE

REHE

EEFEREEK

ARFBEEREEERAARMBTAFHE
BRNER  BRMASHINESXBELR
R AIREE R IRIREE - BB RMIAE
ROETERRAR BETQEELEER
BMERIEXBRE BREXHKETY
REERNBATE  RATERRKRES
HEERBRFRERR TH/AEMAHNT—K
BlE—E R EBRERARK -

AEBNBEREBENERNTENEER
ZRAEF BBEBTHAERBNRRKRZA
FIFER - PlandR E AR AMBR TR &
A MEHMAALRBEROBR

RERENERL M

RETEEHEEME AEEEZRERRE
ESBANCXAREE BREELRE
HRFEAE  DESEARBIERNFER:
YHETINEFEAEREERHREME
PRV R &

FENMEEEERAR
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Directional statements

73 [0 1 B9 Bt

Environmental targets
REAR

Measures taken during the year

A5 A 5RO 4B e

Energy use efficiency Reduction of unnecessary energy

consumption

BERfE Ak s BB R

Introduction of energy-saving
equipment

12 L

%”%
an>
[Ny
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Employees are required to turn off all computers,
monitors, lighting, etc. after work and this requirement
is stipulated in the Code of Conduct for Employees
which all must follow
The printers are switched to energy-saving mode
automatically when not in use to reduce energy usage
Air-conditioned room temperature is kept at 25°C. Use
of air conditioners is minimised and limited within office
hours
The Human Resources Department conducts regular
inspections of the office of cloud computing and data
storage business, to see if the air conditioners are
turned off during off hours in summer, and if the lights
in the office area are turned off properly. Any computer
that is on after work will be turned off and a photo will
be taken to remind the employee concerned
RETREBAMAER  BRs  RABSE  YHA(E
IIRHFEE) MEEILAKEZRE
THRSEEARRNBEATEDERIEEERN
BT B EHE N ERE
REFEHERABKBE  WRAIENMEAZEARE -
BEAN - AR IR A = IR ] R P R 22 8 60 R B R
EERBBEREERNPRAE  AZTRBME
BHERKEBRARE  aF  EEZTTHERH -
MzEAER MRERETREBAMAEN - §HRIE
BZBET W REBH: A RREBEHRQRLIR
Use of LED energy-efficient lighting in offices engaging
in esports business and cloud computing and data
storage business to improve energy efficiency
Installation of energy-efficient office equipment or giving
priority to purchasing products with energy efficiency
labels
EEEBTHRBRREAERBERFEBNOPRRE
9 FLEDERE B E » RIT R R A =
REGEMARBEIELRBERECERUSRENE

]
alx}
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Environmental targets
REABR
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Directional statements

73 16 1 B9 BR

BRI HERERRE

Measures taken during the year

A5 Fi 5RO 4B e

Emission reduction

D B

Waste reduction

;?4_
\o7
)
i
S

Use of energy-efficient equipment and
thereby reducing energy indirect emissions
(Scope 2) GHG emissions from purchased

electricity

ARG MBI INEE PIESE
gaeREEEN(BE D) WA EREBHER
s

Use of equipment that can reduce
direct emissions (Scope 1) GHG
emissions

REAIRADEREZRERN(RE )R

EREBORME

Waste reduction at the source and
reduction of disposables

TR SRR E - R D BIE A

Reduction of indirect GHG emissions from power
consumption through the above-mentioned measures
to improve energy efficiency (switching off power,
configuring to power-saving mode, using LED energy-
efficient lighting, etc.)

Regular review and analysis of monthly electricity

bills as well as actual electricity usage to develop
improvement measures

FERLRRAERERRGNER(BRER  BH

LERN - FHLEDEREES) BmRd EENHE
%m%&mﬁf%—
THBRENOMEREEERA UNERHERBR
LA I & B 1L 38 i

Regular promotion of low-carbon green mobility by
encouraging employees to use electric vehicles and
bike hire services to travel, thereby reducing direct
(Scope 1) GHG emissions from conventional vehicles
on the road, such as carbon dioxide
THEEERRZEET BRBEIXREPHEELAR

BEHT RLESEHEREERERERN (BE)
BERE I ALK

Advocating employees to use reusable tableware and
utensils to reduce waste caused by disposables
Reduced use of benzene-containing solvent at the
source to avoid hazardous waste

REBIFTELFRAZAERAE BRLONERRM

ERHEEY

REBERIERAERAMER BRELEEEERED
FEREEMARA T 2024 £ 69
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Environmental targets
REAR

Directional statements

73 [0 1 B9 Bt

Measures taken during the year

A5 A 5RO 4B e

Water use efficiency

K% &=

Waste recycling

Bl 4 ) P % 2 D

Reduction of paper waste

Enhanced water-saving efficiency

R KIS

Using environment-friendly Preventing the deforestation of forests

materials

HBRERE

70 Imperium Technology Group Limited

B RERNN T E

Annual Report 2024

Recycling of electrical appliances and waste

Placing multi-sort recycling bins in the office, such as
paper recycling bins and food waste bins to help staff
cultivate good recycling habits
HESFRENETORENA
ERREARE D REIKRAE - flanEEE KA FE RS -
EPETEROWNMITEE

Strengthening electronic operation and file
management to reduce paper consumption
Communicating online and handling approval processes
electronically to achieve paperless office

Encouraging employees to use less paper, use double-
sided printing as much as possible, and recycle waste
paper

MEEFENEERERER  RIARNAE
BEIFAMLER BERBURENEFEALHEL
HEETILVRM IRECHREEINED  ARERE
Y 7 B

Replacement of equipment by more water-efficient
ones to enhance water use efficiency

Regular monitoring of water equipment to monitor
water-saving efficiency

Regularly educating employees to raise awareness of
water conservation

Displaying an eye-catching notice at the water-use
locations reminding employees to reduce unnecessary
water consumption

Regularly reviewing the monthly water bills as well as
actual usage to analyse and improve water efficiency
FHRBHEKNRE  RIAAKKE

T HRES B KRR 4 DA BRI & K&
THRETIETHE  RAGHAKNEH
ERKURBRAEENZE WREEIRITY
ZH AKX

THRESAKEERA UREEERENR -
KRB K

Using paper with PEFC/FCS, which is from sustainably

A

managed forests to prevent the deforestation of forests.
FTX AR R APEFC/FCSRE - RENHEE R
RAEARR - A LR R IG TR ©



3.1.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI HERERRE

EMISSIONS 3.1. BB
Air emissions BESR B
No exhaust gas is generated from our game publishing EREEBTER EFBEHEEMER
business, esports business, and cloud computing and data HLREBERETEGHEBEE R LB
storage business due to their business nature. REREE °
Carbon emissions e HE
The source of carbon emissions from our game publishing BEERITER STBEREENMEFER
business, esports business, and cloud computing and data SBERETFESOREREEAET HFER -
storage business is the use of electricity, so we will continue BPeEEURDVERAENRER -
to aim to reduce the consumption of electricity.
During the reporting period, the Group’s total greenhouse EREHRNEENAZERBEENRERD
gas emissions in the tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent: W= A e £ -
Cloud
computing
Game and data
publishing Esports storage
business  business  business
iR
BE EF HERF
Unit Bfy BOER  BREEH £%
Total greenhouse gas emissions RERBAMAE  tCOg AE-—ElKEE 27.85 7418 60.03
Direct emissions (Scope 1) ERSR(EE) tCO8 AE—ELKEE 0.00 24.88 0.00
Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2) AR # (8B =) tCOe ABZ4likge 27.85 49.30 60.03
Emission intensity EREE tCOcperemployee A -E(LHEE/BLHET 1.07 1.4 3.34

Notes:

— The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, the IPCC
Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, the IPCC Sixth
Assessment Report, ISO14064-1: Specification with Guidance at the
Organisation Level for Quantification and Reporting of Greenhouse
Gas Emissions and Removals, Guidelines to Account for and Report
on Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Power Generation Facilities (2023
Revision), 2023 Sustainability Report of CLP, Energy Policy and
Planning Office (EPPO) Thai Government Ministry of Energy, and
Carbon Footprint Ltd’s GHG Factors for International Grid Electricity
(ROW) 2023;

— Scope 1 includes emissions from stationary combustion sources of
natural gas;

— Scope 2 includes energy indirect emissions from the purchase of
electricity; and

— There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of
reporting

=
-

— HAEDERBIMEMANREEARERE
EHEES - IPCCERAEREFEER -
IPCCE N R AR Z L 7F i 3| & - 1SO14064-1
HEER LY AEREBHERMBERMNE(T
WMEMRD RIERE - (BN EM2023F E N
EMEAHEHNRAE) (EEBEMLLIREEM
WI12F EE N BEfk R B ~ (R E20237] 4% &
R &) - (Energy Policy and Planning Office
(EPPO) Thai Government Ministry of Energy) *
A K {Grid Emission Factor (GEF) in Malaysia
published by Energy Commission) :

= HBENRERAROEE MG

= HECEEBETINRREAZEITI LR

-~ EARSEEEMRE AABETRL—EF

EFEMBBEARGEFEAERLER

FENKEEERAR 2024 £ {1
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Waste management

As the control of waste has become increasingly stringent
in China, it is critical for the Company to take a step
forward, making its manufacturing process greener and
cleaner. In order to enhance employees’ awareness of
waste disposal, the Group also provides training on waste
identification, management and classification. We will follow
the management strategy of waste recycling, reduction and
harmlessness to reduce environmental pollution in order to
fulfil our commitment to waste management.

The main source of waste in game publishing business,
esports business and cloud computing and data storage
business is daily trash generated by employees in the
office. Such waste will be collected and disposed of by
cleaners before being processed by the local Sanitation
Bureau. In addition, we promote environmental recycling
by placing multi-sort recycling bins in the office, such as
paper recycling bins and food waste bins, for employees to
use, which encourages employees to cultivate sorting and
recycling habits so that resources can be recycled, reducing
the consumption of global resources and reducing general
waste. We also advocate our employees to use reusable
tableware and utensils to reduce waste at the source caused
by disposables.

Annual Report 2024
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BEYEE

TEHEZEYNEHBAEERE  ETLQF
EREBRRERE EFER - AKESM
BETHRERZEVWZIRZ  EETHE
TEEWHR  EEESBEE) - HME
KEEEMBERLEL BEL  BEFEH
EERE BARMIHRENITR M
BITRMEERYE BN ARE -

BRETEL SFHREBNEAER
BEREEBIENEMRRETETER
RENAELR  EF2HEBERABK
SEREE RNEBMHTHERRE S
BMPESREROKRIE ERL2EARE
oD FEEURE - B0 AR HE B RS AN BT BR A
FEEIFERA EADHRBEIBZKRS A
KR EE ETRERERNE Y EE B
DHFRMIRER - WD —RaR - BFE
BT REETENEEEAEAERA
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MAKING GOOD USE OF RESOURCES

The Company is well aware of the value of resources. In
order to use all resources including energy, water and
other natural resources more effectively and prudently, we
have formulated the Energy Conservation Action Plan, the
Management Procedures of Energy Conservation Projects,
the Energy Conservation Management Procedures and the
Water Management Measures.

Energy saving

Energy use has long been a key issue for global
environmental agencies. Therefore, the Group always strives
to introduce new technologies and equipment which can
not only improve production efficiency but also promote
environmental performance and reduce energy consumption.
During the Reporting Year, we have adopted the following
initiatives to improve the energy efficiency of our operations:

In addition, LED energy-efficient lighting has been used in
offices engaging in esports business and cloud computing
and data storage business to improve energy efficiency. The
Human Resources Department conducts regular inspections
of the office of cloud computing and data storage business,
to see if the air conditioners are turned off during off hours
in summer, and if the lights in the office area are turned
off properly. Any computer that is on after work will be
turned off and a photo will be taken to remind the employee
concerned.

BiE - HESRERHE

3.2. ZHEIR

REIRAMERNEE REARNMEERL
ERAEER BREER KEEMXR
BIR - BRI TCRRIERE T #1788
(e B EHAEEERN) (HEEEEEN)
FMCAKERFIENE -

B BE BE 7%

B ARETR —E 2 BEEBIRMR AT ITHNR
R e Ut R E—E BN WA R R R
- BRARSLEERERIN  RKITFA{EHE
RRRE - MPOFERE - ABREFA - &M
RITATHERARESRFMEENEU:

ELEETHREBNEAFERBERT
XM AEEEALEDE LB E @ R IT
ERYE EEAHERBBEREEBOMW
RE AFTHHBHAESEEERLREBR R
RIE B - EEFTIRRE  BHAZAE
WRMRBERETARBBHAEMN - HIBRE
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A number of targeted energy-saving measures have been
implemented for our game publishing business, esports
business and cloud computing and data storage business,
so as to further reduce energy consumption, which include

the following:

Employees are required to turn off all computers,
monitors, lighting, etc. when they leave the office after
work and this requirement is stipulated in the Code of
Conduct for Employees which all must follow

Air-conditioned room temperature is kept at 25°C

The printers are switched to energy-saving mode
automatically when not in use to reduce energy usage

Promote the importance of energy, water and
resources savings among our employees and
customers

Install energy-efficient office equipment or give priority
to purchasing products with energy efficiency labels

Regularly review and analyse monthly electricity
bills as well as actual electricity usage to develop
improvement measures

74 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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The total energy consumption of the Group in the past year

is detailed as follows:

SEEE-—FNRRERREER:

Cloud

computing

Game and data

publishing Esports storage

EItER

Type of energy ERES Unit By BERT BTHRE  BER#E

Total energy consumption BEREE kWh TRE 54,642.00 230,911.49  96,751.00

Total energy consumption intensity B REERE kWh per employee TRE/S481 2,101.62 6,597.47 5,375.06

Direct energy consumption HERRAE kWh TRE NATEE 15146100 NATEFE

Direct energy consumption intensity BEREREETE  kWh per employee TRE/S481 N/AT i FR 432746 NATER
Of which: e

Gas consumption MAFEE kWh TRE NARERE 15146100 NARER

Gas consumption intensity MEARERE kWh per employee TRE/ 5481 NATE B 432746  NATER

Indirect energy consumption M ERE kWh TRE 54,642.00  79,45049  96,751.00

Indirect energy consumption intensity BZEBEEERE  kWh per employee TRE/S481 2,101.62 2,270.01 5,375.06
Of which: e

Power consumption BNFEE kKWh TRE 54,642.00 79,450.49 96,751.00

Power consumption intensity ENEERE kWh per employee TRE/S548T 2,101.62 2,270.01 5,375.06

Notes:

— Energy data are converted to kWh with reference to lower calorific

values. Gas includes natural gas

— There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of

reporting

EREBZEZRERERERATRE -

BRERAR

AREHEAMEE  HARSFE L — AR
EENBIBREFEERLR

FENMEEEERAR
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Water efficiency B ok 58 34

To protect the precious water resources, we actively promote BREZEMKER  BRMEGREIH
the idea of water conservation among employees and TTER K A /K B9 BE & F0 hn ok 35 A OK B 8 9 4
strengthen the maintenance, inspection and management of EREEIE O UNEEHHNAKNER -

water-consuming equipment to achieve the purpose of water
conservation.

The Group’s total water consumption in the past year is SEBE-—FHRKEEZENR:
approximately:

Water
Water consumption
consumption intensity
FEXKE HEKERE
m3 per
ms3 employee
SEKRS
Unit B 3K ESE=Y =
Game publishing business PR EITHET 55.00 212
Esports business BEFHREER 8.82 0.25
Cloud computing and data storage business EERBBRTER 3.58 0.20
Notes: B 2 -
- Data are not available as the office water consumptions of Hong — R &+ 7T & K Cubinet Interactive (Thailand)
Kong Seven Senses and Cubinet Interactive (Thailand) Co., Ltd are Co., Lt AEHKEHMETEREME - AT
provided by property management companies K B I &R R
= There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting - REBEFMEE  WAREFE E—ER
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of EFNBBEREFEEELR
reporting
Packaging materials GEYH
No packaging materials are used in our game publishing BEHETER BIHREEBNEFER
business, esports business, and cloud computing and data HERTFEBOEBRENE Wt 2E
storage business due to their business nature. RaEmE -
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PROMOTING GREEN OPERATIONS

The Group integrates environmental responsibility into its
daily business operations. To this end, the Group promotes
green operations and a green procurement policy to reduce
its environmental impact and consumption of natural
resources. The Group regularly conducts internal and
external assessments on the effectiveness of the system to
ensure that the system keeps up with the times.

Raising environmental awareness

As to energy conservation publicity and related training, we
have formulated the Measures for Energy Saving Publicity
and Training, and the Human Resources Department and
Technical Support Department jointly conduct training on
environmental projection for employees in hope of enhancing
their awareness of energy conservation.

In addition, in order to make all employees regard energy
conservation as their duty, we encourage employees to
actively participate in the design of various energy-saving
and consumption-reducing schemes, and will commend
and reward employees who have made special contributions
to energy conservation. In the event of a serious waste
of resources, we will consider imposing punishment as a
warning.

Promoting green procurement

When looking for high-quality products and services, other
than the reasonability of prices, we also have to consider
human health and environmental factors to reduce the
impact on the environment. We use PEFC/FCS certified
paper from sustainable forest resources which prevents
deforestation.

Advocating green office

We advocate paperless office and promote electronic
communication via the Internet, email, internal workflow
system, etc. We also encourage customers to choose
electronic bills and place electronic orders. The online
collaborative office management platform and the related
mobile app introduced by the Group cover the day-to-day
office management and operations and approval processes
and greatly promote paperless office. The Company also
encourages employees to use double-sided printing as
much as possible and reuse all single-sided printed paper to
reduce the consumption of paper.

3.3.

BRI HEREREHE
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Vegetarian Carbon Reduction is an environment-friendly act
advocated by all places and environmental agencies around
the world. As such, we add vegetarian elements to the free
meals for our employees to help them understand that low
carbon diet is an important part of environment-friendly life
and is greatly beneficial to reducing global carbon dioxide
emissions and protecting the ecological environment.

[ZRRRICRIEREEIALABERRERA
BEANRENRERTR HEMEET
RELEFEFIMAZRNTE - #ET
FRMEBRARR ] TRAREENEEZRD
BRI _BCHMEBENE  RELER
BAEER -

3.4. CLIMATE CHANGE 3.4. RIE1L

The Group is aware that the impact related to climate change
may bring risks to the Group’s operations. As such, we seek
the best measures to reduce the environmental impact of our
business operations. With reference to the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD) of the Financial Stability Board, the Group identifies
operational risks related to climate change and develops
countermeasures based on such risks to mitigate the impact
of climate change.

The category, description and response measures of risks
related to climate change of the Group during the reporting
period are as follows:

Risk Category Risk Description
[ B 28 B g

SEERNREZELLEBANZEG IR
HEBLETRTIRABER - it - F
NKREBMEEREE - RO EBLEMBR
MERBETE SE2ZTeHBTEZESY
TR B B 7% 12 B 4 58 T 1 48 (Task Force
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures,
TCFD)MY &2 % - &Rl N & & TRk Z (b
AR R R B o N BR BR AR B B T I E R R R
M ARERIEEMERNTE -

@
=]

AEEREHANREKELOREREL -
[ f b st e FE SR AE AN TS -

Risk Response Measures
[ B FE ¥ f5 i

Policy and regulatory ~ With the tightening regulatory requirements

risk related to climate change, businesses are
under greater cost pressures in terms of
operation, products and services, including
rising costs of compliance and product
development.

R BOE R R EER NHERRECHBNE SR T BE
B bXRELEE EmMREHEERKBE
BMEAKARES  EREFEHRNKANE®
PR AR EF -

78 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024

The Group adopts multiple measures for energy
conservation and emission reduction in places
where it operates and fully complies with all
environmental laws and regulations. During the
year, the Group also set goals to reduce waste
and conserve electricity and water which are no
less exacting than legal requirements, so as to
mitigate regulatory risks.
SEERESE BRI ZIRMET AL R HE Bt
WEEEBTHAERREBENED - FR - A&
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Risk Category Risk Description Risk Response Measures
[ B aE A [ By 4 [ B P ¥ 45 e
Long-term risk Extreme weather events resulting from climate The Group adopts a comprehensive supply

change may lead to instability in raw material chain management mechanism, including a code
supply and delay in production processes. of conduct and a supplier assessment system,
to monitor and assess the quality of suppliers’
products and services and their performance in
environmental and social aspects and business
ethics. Good supply chain operations have a
positive impact on the environment and society.
Accordingly, we work closely with suppliers to
reduce relevant risks.
R EAME R b HRARKEZEBESENBHRARKEN A SEXABTE2ENHEEETEHG - BEF
BRHEEENTIREN I E ﬁlfki BRETRENMHEEETERS  WEEBEMF
HHEREERMRERE RELZURDE
XBEESEFTENKRE - RIFNOMHEEEFEHIR
BEMHeEEIENTE Rt HRMEEER
EEaE BORBEREEBRR -

Acute risk Extreme weather events resulting from climate The Group complies with the laws and
change, such as flooding, typhoons, and hot regulations in the places where its business
weather, may lead to damage to production operations are conducted and activates
plants, supply chain disruptions, and reduced contingency responses in light of the typhoon
production capacity due to work suspension. news released by the local observatories to

ensure the safety of its employees and assets.
We also make contributions to the five major
types of social insurances for employees,
provide regular trainings on disaster prevention,
inspect and reinforce the windows of our offices
and ensure that all windows are closed before
typhoons.

7 R0 R B FREZ({cmaRNRmRRES - flIKE - SEKREEBHHERER  AEBHAR
BEEERARE AREEREETIRT FMPIBMAEE )R W@F%ﬂﬁ REFEL
s HERERPELREINEHEST MEEZ2 HMTAEIBEEI AR &
EERRE - HRED X MBI ARBREMME R Q=

BF -RREA WERAEEFEAH -
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4. PUTTING PEOPLE FIRST 4. LABR
We invest heavily in our employees, providing extensive BMANKERETL S L BETEZEH
opportunities for staff training and development, robust JMERAOKE  BRINRERELZ2REE
health and safety measures and competitive remuneration UEEBFNOHFHMER  BHLBEMN
and benefits in order to recruit and retain the best talent. BAEZEAT SEBRBEF(REARHK
The Group strictly abides by the Labour Law of the People’s MELENE) (PEARLMBELEBERE) -
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s (FEAREMEESREBE)  BFNE
Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s BIEFY UARBENCBEBELEE) ®E
Republic of China, the Employment Ordinance of Hong BRI 0 f% 52 AR A A 1R 1% % ) K 0E AR A9
Kong and the Labour Standards Act of Taiwan. During RN EBETEABNRFER -
the reporting period, the Group did not have any cases of
violation of relevant employment laws and regulations, nor
did it receive any complaints related to recruitment.
Overview of the Group’s employees over the past year is as UWTAEBEBE—FHNEES N
below:
Cloud
computing
Game and data
publishing Esports storage
business  business  business
EitHR
BRET BFHRR  BERF
Employee E& Unit Bfy % % %
Total number of employees ETAAE Number AH 2% 35 18
Age profile EROMH
18-24 18-245% Number AE 0 21 4
25-34 25-347% Number AE 4 10 10
35-44 85-447% Number AE 14 2 3
45-54 45-547% Number AE 4 2 0
55-64 55-645% Number AH 3 0 1
65 or above BT A | Number AE 1 0 0
Gender profile 1574
Male g Number N 14 25 12
Female 7 Number A 12 10
Employment type EREEN
Full-time B Number AH 25 23 14
Part-time ®B Number AE 1 12 1
Apprentices and interns BRENEEL Number AH 0 0 3
Region profile HE D
Chinese Mainland PRI Number AE 0 32 18
Hong Kong Bk Number AH 9 0 0
Taiwan =y Number AH 0 3 0
Malaysia SRAED Number AH 5 0 0
Thailand RH Number AE 19 0 0
Notes: B 5 -

- The calculation is based on the data as at 31 December 2024 — FTETYE R EUEH 1E2024F12 A31H

HREHEFAET  HARESF R — AR
EFEMBBEARGEEERLER

— There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting —
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of
reporting
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UTREEEE—FNEEBAFHRA

over the past year is as below: BESR -

Cloud

computing

Game and data

publishing Esports storage

business  business  business

EFER

BEET BTRH  BERE

Employee turnover =] Unit By % % %

Turnover rate RALE % k¢ 358 1048 6.94
Age profile EROMH

18-24 18-245% % BAK 0.00 1.1 14.58

25-34 25-345% % BAl 6.25 11.67 5.00

35-44 35-445% % BAK 1.79 0.00 5.56

45-54 45-545% % BAK 417 0.00 0.00

55-64 55-645% % BAN 5.56 0.00 0.00

65 or above e % BAN 8.33 0.00 0.00
Gender profile 14 5 7

Male B % BAl 2.98 12.33 0.06

Female X % aslt 417 5.83 0.08
Region profile & 7 o

Chinese Mainland HE A % BAN 0.00 11.20 6.94

Hong Kong B % BAL 12.50 0.00 0.00

Taiwan & % BAK 0.00 2.78 0.00

Malaysia SRED % BAl 1.67 0.00 0.00

Thailand £ % BAK 3.07 0.00 0.00

Notes: B2k

— The calculation is based on the data as at 31 December 2024

— There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of
reporting

HE T ER2024F 12 A31H N EIE

AREHEAMET  WARSFE L — AR
EFEMBBEARGEEERLE

FENMEEEERAR
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4.1.

82 Imperium Technology Group Limited

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
Management guidelines and policies

The Group sees employees our greatest assets and the
key driver of our business success. Our businesses have
been working actively to create a working environment that
features mutual respect and harmonious coexistence of
employees and gives priority to safety, to attract the best
people and motivate them with a rewarding career, and to
equip them with the necessary skills and knowledge. We
have a dedicated human resources committee to regularly
review and improve the relevant policies, and we have
developed a written staff manual according to the relevant
laws and industrial standards to govern the recruitment,
promotion, working hours, leave and other benefits of our
employees.

Equal opportunities and diversity

We are proud of our talented employees and allow them
to achieve with their great potential. To attract and retain
the right talents is always crucial in our people approach.
We care for our people and offer them fair and equal
opportunities and benefits irrespective of their gender, age,
family status, race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation or
disability. Experience, ability and related qualifications are
the primary concerns in talent selection.

As a responsible employer, the Group will handle retirement
formalities for employees who have reached the statutory
retirement age in accordance with the relevant regulations,
and go through any dismissal procedures according to the
relevant labour laws. In the event of a work-related accident,
the Group will make reasonable compensation and handle it
properly in accordance with relevant laws.

Annual Report 2024
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Employee compensation

Our businesses give due recognition to employees’
contributions fairly and objectively by implementing equitable
remuneration policies. To offer incentives to our staff, our
remuneration mechanisms are reviewed and re-adjusted
regularly to remain competitive. We determine employee
benefits, rest time and holiday arrangements according
to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Standards Act of Taiwan, and applicable regulations in the
places where all business operations are conducted, such
as making contributions to the Five Major Types of Social
Insurance and Housing Provident Fund, Mandatory Provident
Fund, Labour Insurance, Health Insurance and Pension Fund
for employees and participating in the Well-being Mutual Aid
Fund Scheme for the benefit of female employees.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
Management guidelines and policies

Employees are our most valuable resources. The Group
strictly adheres to all relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Fire Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, so as to create a safe, healthy and
comfortable working environment for our employees.

In addition, we carry out assessment of workplace hazards
and detection of occupational hazards on a regular basis,
and engage third-party agencies to review our occupational
health and safety performance. Through such assessment
and review, we aim to ensure the effective implementation of
all occupational safety and health measures.

Due to our business characteristics, employees of game
publishing business, esports business and cloud computing
and data storage business mainly work in the office, and
they are not exposed to dust, radioactive materials and
other toxic and harmful substances at work, so there is
no occupational disease. But due to enduring desk work,
employees may suffer from symptoms such as wrist and
upper limb pain, muscle soreness, eye fatigue and mental
pressure. Therefore, we provide employees with ergonomic
desks and chairs, and regularly make arrange for employees
to participate in annual meetings, community activities, team
building for festivals, staff travel and other activities to help
employees relax, as well as enhance cohesion and a sense
of belonging among employees.

4.2.
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Furthermore, we arrange disaster prevention trainings
to raise employees’ awareness and ensure their safety.
During the year, we held a fire safety training course for all
employees from Fuzhou office of the cloud computing and
data storage business, in order to enhance their knowledge
of accident occurrence and prevention, as well as the
use of fire equipment. The training course was given by
experts from the fire brigade, and it effectively enhanced
employees’ understanding of disaster prevention, accident
response, and fire equipment operation. Moreover, we
regularly participate in fire drills organised by property
management companies, including evacuation and the use
of fire extinguishers, to enhance our ability to deal with fires
and keep employees safe. In addition to employees’ safety
and physical health, we also care about their mental health.
We provide stress management trainings for employees in
high-pressure positions of the esports business to help them
reduce negative emotions and stress.

During the reporting periods for the last three years, the
Group did not have any cases of work-related accidental
fatalities. No work days were lost due to work injuries in the
past year for various business segments.

Employee communication

The Group welcomes and values the opinions of employees
who can express their opinions through different channels,
such as: the general manager mailbox and the trade union.
We also encourage employees to provide constructive
suggestions on the management measures and methods of
the Company. The Company will grant certain rewards as
appropriate to those whose suggestions are adopted.
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4.3. TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Management guidelines and policies

We firmly believe that continued training and development
for employees will enhance the value of the team and
professional quality of the employees themselves, thus
bringing higher production efficiency for the Group. The
Company has formulated the New Employee Training Policy,
the Employee Guidance Policy and the Vocational Skills
Training Policy to continuously improve the ability and quality
of our workforce. In order to conduct staff training in a more
regulated manner, we establish the staff training system and
incorporate the objectives into the evaluation indicators, so
as to encourage the staff to actively participate in various
work-related internal and external training activities, improve
personal professional skills, keep up with the strategic
development of the Group and strengthen the Group’s
market competitiveness.

Our training topics include the following:

4.3.

BRI HERERRE

B2 E
EBLHREF

BMBEEIFET TG MEECNER  F
iR BB EERETHEANBESRS
MELSEETRESNEEREX - RA
ETCGhETHIBR) (BITHEEHRROK
(BEREBIERE)E UTERAET
BFHMEIMZE - REETIHIERE
bt - ZYEBTIHIBR XHERAAR
ZHER URBEIRG2ETEREA
MEBER  IEEIES  BABAZRE
e NEAASEEBERMINBAE
BT HHEFES

BANEIETERRE:

Induction training

#E T ABIEII

Action sharing session

= =45
THHES

Technical staff training series

A B F 5

Management efficiency
improvement training

B EEFE I

External training

S BB 15 B

New employees are provided with induction training which covers the Group’s
background, profile, facilities, employee handbook introduction and corporate social
responsibility, so that new employees can become familiar with the situation about the
Group quickly and gain a sense of belonging

MEIABRHRE FEANREEEEER BN R EIFMENREELE
BEESE EFHEIRAREESERARNEHEENHEE X

We invite industry experts, scholars or senior mentors from external training institutions
to carry out special training sessions, so as to improve employees’ skills and
comprehensive capabilities

BBETEFER B2EHEINMBBIRBEREMBEREREI  UIEREIEULKAE
MER & BN

The Group adopts a training strategy of “having old employees guide new ones” in hope
of passing on the experience and technical know-how of old employees to new ones.
We also arrange experienced staff to provide orientation and induction training for junior
staff

SERBIAZEFINEIRE  HESCRERMAR -BATSELHFALRNE
TRVBETETHEERTRHE ARSI

We carry out special training for the management, which deepens management
personnel’s understanding of corporate culture, hones their management skills,
sharpens their communication skills, and thus raises management efficiency
FRHEHEREENITEEN  MAERABHCEUVENER  ITEEERE  FH
RRERBERD  BAETERX

We offer subsidies to our employees for participating in accredited external courses

to equip them with professional knowledge and skills relating to their duties and keep
them abreast of the most cutting-edge developments in the industry
BEETEERUMINBIEINRE  UIEABIMERCABNEENS - HEEUR
RWITERAT A EA

FENMEEEERAR
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Average training hours for staff
AB TR

Cloud

Game computing and

publishing Esports  data storage

business business business

BREA ETHE  EMEREE

Unit By £ £% REER

Male g Hours N 0.1 1.50 1.50

Female 4 Hours N 2.00 1.50 1.50

Senior management BREEE Hours 1N 3.00 1.50 0.00

Middle management HRERE Hours 1N 313 1.50 0.00

Supervisor E Hours 1N 0.00 0.00 1.50

General staff —RET Hours INE 0.00 1,50 1,50

Percentage of staff training
ABEHERY

Cloud

Game computing and

publishing Esports  data storage

business business business

BERT ETHE EMEREE

Unit By ES % REXH

Male 3 % BAL 50.00 71.43 66.67

Female x % B 50.00 28.57 33.33

Senior management BRERE % BAl 33.38 2.86 0.00

Middle management HRERE % BAM 66.67 8.57 0.00

Supervisor IE % BAL 0.00 0.00 1111

General staff —-RET % BAl 0.00 88.57 88.89
4.4. PROTECTION OF RIGHTS AND INTERESTS 44. BERE

Management guidelines and policies B RBE

The Company conducts staff recruitment and management
in strict accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Regulations on the Prohibition of
Child Labour, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Standards Act of Taiwan, and applicable regulations
in the places where all business operations are conducted.
It is absolutely forbidden to employ any child labour and
any form of forced labour. Once any form of child or forced
labour is noticed, the Company will strictly abide by local
laws and regulations to curb such situations.
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The Company considers child labour and forced labour
intolerable, which must be eliminated. The Company has
set up strict recruitment processes to conduct an intensive
examination of identity documents, such as ID card, sign
labour contracts and create the personal file in a fair and
voluntary manner in accordance with legal requirements.

In accordance with the standard working hours stipulated
by the laws in the places where our business operations are
conducted, the Company makes reasonable arrangement of
working hours for our employees. Leave and benefits, such
as paid leave and sick leave, are provided in accordance
with labour laws. Subject to production requirements,
our production bases arrange overtime work on a
voluntary basis, and it requires negotiation with employee
representatives and employees and approval from the local
labour department, and must not exceed the statutory
working hours. Production bases and sales divisions of the
Company in the PRC and overseas prohibit and disapprove
any forced labour or contractual servitude, corporal
punishment, confinement, violent threat, and forbid collecting
any deposits illegally from employees, withholding identity
documents and battering employees.

During the reporting period, the Company did not have
any material non-compliance incident relating to the labour
standards under relevant laws and regulations.
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5.

5.1.

OPERATIONAL COMMITMENT

In the process of business development, the Group always
keeps in mind that we have to manage our relationships
with our suppliers and customers in a responsible and
sustainable manner. We are dedicated to providing our
customers with the highest quality products and services,
and working with suppliers to create win-win results. To this
end, we implement different plans and measures and provide
safe and reliable products to achieve the vision of creating a
better society.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
Management guidelines and policies

Good supply chain operations have a positive impact on the
environment and society. Accordingly, we work closely with
suppliers to reduce relevant risks and jointly create a better
and greener future. The Group adopts a comprehensive
supply chain management mechanism, including a code of
conduct and a supplier assessment system, to monitor and
assess the quality of suppliers’ products and services and
their performance in environmental and social aspects and
business ethics. The Group is also committed to complying
with all laws and regulations related to its business
operations, and did not violate relevant laws and regulations
during the reporting period.

5.1.
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The Group has developed a standard Supplier Management
Mechanism for its game business. We will give priority
to partners with sustainable development concepts who
undertake corporate social responsibilities. We hope to work
with suppliers on improving the industry’s performance in the
environmental and social aspects, and effectively managing
the environmental and social risks of the supply chain. In
addition, according to the situation, we will classify the green
products purchased or to be purchased and make a list of
green products applicable to the Group for subsequent use.
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5.2. HIGH QUALITY PRODUCTS 5.2. BEEM
Management guidelines and policies EE TR EE
Providing quality products to our customers is our ultimate AEFRHEEBENERARMORKEE -
goal. The Group commits itself to establishing, maintaining EEBIRELFAERFISONTRERR -
and improving the 1SO9001 quality system, with a mission WiENRE NEHEENEMRKRY
to provide quality products and services to meet customer HMmmEEENER: UAKLLEREP
needs. In the course of operations, the Group strictly B ETRZOABERMITENE SF % -
abides by national laws and regulations and industry quality REEEEEKE REZPELRESZE -
standards and constantly improves quality management to
safeguard the basic rights and interests of customers.
Product
responsibility
indicators of
the Group
TXEENER
BEREE
Percentage of products to be recalled EmAREEZ2EAMABK Percentage B 0
for health and safety reasons WEDL
Number of complaints about products ~ E fn & IR B 1% SR 2k B Case [HES 0

and services

For marketing and management, the Group strictly controls
the release of marketing information through the Internet,
newspapers, media and other channels to ensure the
compliance of publicity, promotion and advertising releases
in accordance with the requirements of laws and regulations
such as the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Interim Measures for the Administration of
Internet Advertising and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance.
For intellectual property rights, the Group strictly complies
with the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Tort Liability Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Measures for the Administration of Internet Domain Names
of China, the Administrative Measures for Software Products
and other laws and regulations to formulate the Intellectual
Property Management Policy in order to regulate intellectual
property management. We have also signed non-disclosure
agreements with our employees and business partners to
ensure the security of our intellectual property. We take
measures to prevent infringement of the intellectual property
rights of third parties, and conduct frequent monitoring and
review. If any potential infringement risk is found, the legal
department will set up an urgent working team to investigate
the potential infringement, and cease the infringement
activities against third parties through legal actions, while
protecting the legitimate rights and interests of the Group.
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5.3.

90 Imperium Technology Group Limited

In terms of privacy, employees who have access to customer
information and important company information will sign
confidentiality agreements to prevent data leakage.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Management guidelines and policies

The Group requires all employees to comply professionally
with the Group’s policies on conflicts of interest,
intellectual property rights, privacy, confidentiality of
information, prevention of bribery and corruption, and equal
opportunities. The Group’s employment contract requires
employees to abide by the code of business ethics and to
refrain from corruption and bribery.

The Group strictly abides by the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China and, according to its own characteristics
and circumstances, stipulates standard anti-corruption
requirements to strengthen corporate governance and
internal control and standard business practices to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of shareholders
and promote the healthy and stable development of the
Company.

The Audit Centre of the Group regularly conducts
group-wide anti-fraud publicity. Specifically, it collects the
latest anti-fraud information, including recent major fraud
events in various industries and the handling measures,
prepares anti-fraud publicity materials after compilation
and analysis based on the characteristics of the Group’s
business, and distributes the materials to all employees of
the Group for self-study, with a view to creating a sound
anti-fraud environment in the Group.
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In addition, our esports business provided standard
anti-corruption training for directors and employees
during the reporting period, and formulated relevant
rules for employees to abide by, so as to facilitate the
Group’s strategic development and enhance its market
competitiveness.

The Group also provides whistle-blowing channels for
stakeholders to report suspicious activities by email,
telephone or fax. The reported cases will be independently
investigated and properly followed up. After the final review
of the investigation report, if it is specified in the handling
plan that the labour contract with any person involved in the
fraud is terminated, the employee dismissal process will be
initiated. For a fraud case that must be referred to the judicial
authority, the Audit Centre will hand over the personnel
involved in the fraud and the related materials to the judicial
authority for handling. We will take remedial measures to
rectify any procedural defects or implementation loopholes
found in any fraud event and follow up on the implementation
of such remedial measures, so as to avoid recurrence of
similar fraud events.

During the reporting period, the Company found no cases of
violation of laws and regulations related to corruption.
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6.

92 Imperium Technology Group Limited

GIVING BACK TO SOCIETY

The Group is well aware that our responsibility is not only to
contribute directly to the economy, but also to generate a
positive impact on society as a whole through our business
operations and charity undertakings. During the reporting
period, we not only made charity donations, but also
encouraged employees to take an active part in community
activities such as acting as volunteers.

The Group participated in a number of community service
activities during the year, including second-hand items
donations, tree-planting activities, regular participation
in cultural and educational activities and visits to nursing
homes.
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B - HEREARE
APPENDIX C2 HKEX ESG REPORTING CODE MEEC2(RE - HtEREBBETHD
Chapter
=4
A Environmental
A BE
Aspect A1 Emissions 3.1 Emissions
HEAI 738/ SR
Indicator A.1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data 3.1 Emissions
ERAL HRmREE R B R EE SAHER
Indicator A.1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, 3.1 Emissions
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BEAL2 ER(EE)REREEZ (BE2) RERBENE UEAE) R(WER) BE (MUSESEML - 315EHY
BRERMAE) -
Indicator A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of 3.1 Emissions
production volume, per facility).
BEALS EABEREEVAECNARER(NERTE(WMUNEEEEM  BBERETE) - SAHER
Indicator A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 3.1 Emissions
unit of production volume, per facility).
EEALL EABREREDLAEBNEAE) R (MERBE (WNBESEN BRRMAHE) - 3B
Indicator A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 3.1 Emissions
ERALS HPAEI VMR ERRE R AEINE LB R AR S o CRE37 ¢
Indicator A.1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of 3.1 Emissions
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BEALS HIREEEREEEEMNA L RERMIVNAEEERAEINELEFEMENS 31D
TR o
Aspect A.2 Use of Resources 3.2 Making Good Use of
Resources
HHEA2 BIR{E R 32EMER
Indicator A.2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in 3.2 Making Good Use of
'000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Resources
BEA21 REHMEASMERER /SBMERR(WNE A AEEUTETERHE)REE(L 32.5RER
BESEML BERRFHE) -
Indicator A.2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). 3.2 Making Good Use of
Resources
BEA22 BRKEREE(WNEBEEEN  BEREFTE) - 32.EAER

FENMEEEERAR

2024 % O3



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI HERERERE

Chapter
=4
Indicator A.2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 3.2 Making Good Use of
Resources
EEA23 HRMTUNERERARAERRAENELERMERNSR - 32.ERMEIR
Indicator A.2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 3.2 Making Good Use of
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Resources
EEA24 WSk EGERKR ERI BERBE  ARMATUNAKASARRAEINGELERMER 32EAER
Indicator A.2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with 3.2 Making Good Use of
reference to per unit produced. Resources
EEA25 SRmAAREMHNEE NEARE)R(MER) BEEEUEE - 32.ERMEIR
Aspect A.3 The Environment and Natural Resources 3.3 Promoting Green
Operations
HHEA3 BRERXAER 33HBHRELE
Indicator A.3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources There were no accidents
and the actions taken to manage them. which have significant
impacts on the environment
and natural resources
during the period
EEA3 HOUEBEDHRBERRABRNEAZERERNEREHZENTY - HARBHRERRAE
RONEATENER
Aspect A4 Climate Change 3.4 Climate Change
HEA4 RIEE Y B4 RIEE
Indicator A.4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which 3.4 Climate Change
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
EIZAA HAERLARHGHETAELAYENERRREBSEE REHTH - 34.RIRE
B Social
B e
Aspect B.1 Employment 4.1 Equal Employment
JEBA ER 41T SRR
Indicator B.1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-time), age group and 4.1 Equal Employment
geographical region.
E1ZBAA RIER - ERER(NM2BIFR) FRANBRASNESBE - 41T EER
Indicator B.1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 4.1 Equal Employment
E1EB1.2 BIER - FRAMRBEREDNEERELE - 41T EER
Aspect B.2 Health and Safety 4.2 Occupational Health
and Safety
7 EB.2 BREZR 42BERRRY
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RIS -

HERELAERE

Chapter
=41

Indicator B.2.1

#E1EB.21

Indicator B.2.2

E1EB.2.2
Indicator B.2.3

E®B.23
Aspect B.3

FEB.3
Indicator B.3.1

E1EB.3.1
Indicator B.3.2

E1EB3.2
Aspect B.4

7 EB.4
Indicator B.4.1

1B1EB.41
Indicator B.4.2

HE1EB.4.2
Aspect B.5

A EB.5
Indicator B.5.1

E1EB.51
Indicator B.5.2

EI1EB5.2

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years (including

the reporting year).

BEZF(DEERFE) SFRTCHAMARRILE .

Lost days due to work injury.

AIBGERIERE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

HEFMRAOBEREAZ2RER  AREBRTRERTE -

Development and Training

BR LR

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior

management, middle management).
RUEFREEEN(MEREEE +REEE)EHINXIERANL -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

BURLEEERNE D  BREETKZIOFIER -

Labour Standards

BITER

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour.

il BEREMNBEABRET RRHST -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

There were no work-
related fatalities in the past
three years (including the
reporting period)
BRBEHANBE=F
AERITHEH
There were no work days
lost due to work injury
during reporting period
BEBRBERIGREAT
fEB &

4.2 Occupational Health
and Safety
42BERRER S

4.3 Training and
Development

4.3 FIE R

4.3 Training and
Development
435 % R

4.3 Training and
Development

435 FIE R

4.4 Protection of Rights and
Interests

4ARERRE

4.4 Protection of Rights and
Interests

4ARERRE

There was no violation
during the period

HAEERBABREREBEBRARRNLER - HAREEABR
Supply Chain Management 5.1 Supply Chain
Management
e R 51t E
Number of suppliers by geographical region. 5.1 Supply Chain
Management
RBRESNREFRHAE - 51t EEE R
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the 5.1 Supply Chain
practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
HOEBRERHEEENED AEATERAEMNNOHERHE  AREBRTRER L SIHERER
FEREEMARA T 2024 £, OB
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Chapter
=41

Indicator B.5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply 5.1 Supply Chain

chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
E1EB.53 HOAAABARERGERSNBRERMERARBNEN  URBEANTRERAE 5.1 e E 2
Indicator B.5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services 5.1 Supply Chain
when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
E1EB5.4 HOAERERERFREZARREQRRENEN  URABERTRERAE - 51 EEE 2
Aspect B.6 Product Responsibility 5.2 High Quality Products
7 EB.6 EmAA 52BEEm
Indicator B.6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.  There were no products

subject to recall for safety
and health reasons during

the period
#E12B.6.1 EEAEEXERBETRAR 2 BREEMMALRNAEDLL - HARFERRZ 2 REE
FR I8 | 1 /8 3 1
Indicator B.6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with. There were no complaints

due to quality problems
during the period

E1EB.6.2 REMEREMRBRBENRFBEALEH L - BAREEmEMENR
Eil

Indicator B.6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights. 5.2 High Quality Products

1E1EB6.3 HtEEERRBOZEREBNED - 52BEEm

Indicator B.6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 5.2 High Quality Products

1E1EB6.4 HAEERTAREREREKRER - 52BEEMm

Indicator B.6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented 5.2 High Quality Products
and monitored.

1E1EB.6.5 HLHBEERRBRABERE  URMBRAIRERRE 52BEEMm

Aspect B.7 Anti-corruption 5.3 Corporate Governance

7 HEB7 R&B 5.3 %IR8

Indicator B.7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or There were no corruption
its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. proceedings during the

period

BEBTA REGHAUBETAIHEEREYCEANESHFARTNBERFLER BAREHFADRMS

Indicator B.7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are 5.3 Corporate Governance
implemented and monitored.

HE1EB.T.2 Wl HEERRERR  UARBBHRIRERLZ 5.3 %88

Indicator B.7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 5.3 Corporate Governance

EEBT.3 HAMEERETRBOREFEI - 53 %7018

Aspect B.8 Community Investment 6. Giving Back to Society

7 EB.8 HRKRE 6. Bl &

Indicator B.8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, health, 6. Giving Back to Society
culture, sport).

1H1%B.8.1 EFERER(NHE  REFE BIFR BE - 8BF)- 6. Bl &

Indicator B.8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 6. Giving Back to Society

1E51EB8.2 EEIEBEMPRER(WMEERERH) 6. B &
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

IMPERIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
TEMREBER AR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Imperium
Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 106
to 240, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABERE

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw your attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements concerning the adoption of the going concern basis on
which the consolidated financial statements have been prepared.
The Group experienced a net loss of approximately HK$41,725,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$216,800,000 as at that date. These conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. The directors of the Company, having considered
the measures being taken by the Group, are of the opinion that the
Group would be able to continue as a going concern. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed a disclaimer of opinion on those financial statements on
30 April 2024.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Valuation of investment properties

B A REN RS

REYEIGE

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the FH2FH A MEMRMF19RFE1258 2 @51 R

accounting policies on page 125.

The key audit matter
R

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EEFTNNEEZEIE

At 31 December 2024, the Group had investment properties
of HK$19,699,000. A gain on fair value changes of investment
properties of HK$104,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties is
determined by adopting the valuation techniques with
assumptions of market conditions and judgement. The Group
also engaged an independent qualified professional firm of
valuers to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
techniques.

Due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the
significant assumptions and judgement involved, valuation of
investment properties is identified as a key audit matter.
RZT-_MFE+_A=+—H - &EE£EHF19,699,000% T2
REMEX -BE_T_NF+_A=1T—HILFE REVZE
ZANRBEZEEHKZE104,0008 TERBRER -

BEEEREVEZARENERAERTRBE LA EH 2 HE
RitEE - BEEENZRBUASERZIEXMEMEHAR -
AHERBEEE 2 EERM -

HREFIAEEEZTERRER IR 2ERBRLAE &
EMEMGEADN SBEEETSFE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

= Assessing the external valuer’'s and our
valuation specialist’s qualifications, experience
and expertise considering their objectivity and
independence;

- Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based
on our valuer specialist and our knowledge of the
property industry; and

— Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

BESNEEEHRENEAECRFERE:

—  HENBEEMREFZAEERZER KR
REXENH ZREFBEMERBLIE:

- REERER ESHMETEZNE
%ﬁ%%%EZTTI&FEfUEJ RZBEEME: R

- EHEEEREMRABABERZERME LA
B -

FEREEMARA T 2024 £ 99



100 Imperium Technology Group Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABERE

Estimated provision of expected credit losses
(“ECL”) for trade receivables

Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements and
accounting policies on page 137 to 143.

The key audit matter
BRESER

the

FE W B 5 R 5%
Z 1 E R

FREGEAUNBERERMT24N F1372143B 2 &
STUSR ©

(B EER ([BREEER ]

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EEETNNERZEE

The Group has trade receivables of HK$19,455,000, net of
allowance ECL for trade receivables of HK$1,750,000 as at 31
December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, reversal of
impairment loss on trade receivables based on management’s
estimate of the expected credit losses of HK$1,042,000 were
charged to profit or loss.

RZZ_WME+_A=+—0  BEEHEEVZESIER
19,455,000 T (BB EWESER 2B HEEEBEE
1,750,000/ 7T) °

BE_T_WF+_A=T—BLFE REELEEMLE

HEEBRITEZERKE SRR BERE B E &1,042,0008
TR B IR ©

Annual Report 2024

Our procedures in relation to management’s estimated

provision of ECL for trade receivables included:

Obtaining an understanding of the internal control
and processes over the impairment assessment
on trade receivables by management;

Assessing the grouping of trade receivables by
considering the nature of the debtors and credit
risk characteristics;

Testing the accuracy and completeness of
the data used by management to develop the
historical loss rates and assessing the sufficiency,
reliability and relevance of that data;
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Estimated provision of expected credit losses

(“ECL”) for trade receivables (Continued)

The key audit matter (Continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A REN RS

BREZEABRREEBRE ([ BAEEER])
Z 1G5 R ()

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

BRESAEEGE) EEFTWNARBZERGE)

The loss allowance is estimated by taking into account the — Assessing the appropriateness of the impairment
credit loss experience, aging of trade receivables, customers’ loss methodology, testing the calculation
repayment history and an assessment of both the current and of the historical loss rates and evaluating
forecast general economic conditions, all of which involve a the reasonableness of the forward-looking

significant degree of management judgement.

B BERBENFIREERELR BUEZHEAKREK &

FPEREHEARHEMABNERLE NN 2 G - WLt

— 1935 KRB IR EVE B K H -

adjustments made to reflect current and forecast
future economic conditions;

- Testing the aging of trade receivables on a
sample basis; and

- Testing the calculation of expected credit loss
provisions applying the provision rates to the age
categories of the trade receivables outstanding
at the reporting date.

— Involving our internal valuation specialist to
evaluate the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology adopted by the management of the
Group and the reasonableness of assumptions,
including loss rates and forward-looking
information applied by the management of the
Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABERE

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the 2024 annual report,
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

but does not include the

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABERE

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

1 04 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chin Wang Leung.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chin Wang Leung
Practising Certificate Number: P07806

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

melEmR
For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE
2024 2023
—®¥-mF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT 5 FET FAT
Revenue Y x5 8 51,510 72,557
Cost of sales 5 & B AR (31,217) (61,916)
Gross profit £ F 20,293 10,641
Other income H g A 9 1,870 1,405
Other gains and losses Hipug =5 K B8 15(a) 2,241 16,114
Distribution and selling costs 73 85 I 88 & B AR (1,390) (3,295)
Administrative expenses THBAX (47,665) (90,056)
Reversal of impairment loss (impairment loss) & U 3% 18 i & &5 18 # @
of receivables, net of reversal CREEE) (kD) 15(b) 1,042 (7,417)
Impairment loss of non-financial assets, FeMmEEREBAE
net of reversal (M #EE) 15(b) (2,060) (33,458)
Loss from operations REEER (25,669) (106,066)
Finance costs b & AR 13 (16,030) (16,793)
Loss before tax MR B ATE B (41,699) (122,859)
Income tax expenses Fr 8 i f 2 14 (26) (590)
Loss for the year FRER 15 (41,725) (123,449)
Attributable to: BLTALE:
— Owners of the Company — RARREEA (43,195) (127,733)
— Non-controlling interests — JEERERE 1,470 4,284
(41,725) (123,449)
Loss per share BERER
Basic AR 17 HK$(0.13) B T | HKS$(0.41)% T
Diluted g 17 HK$(0.13)8 Tt | HK$(0.41)%E T

106 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEBRERAMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

2024 2023
—EC-E T =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FAT
Loss for the year FAER (41,725) (123,449)
Other comprehensive income (expenses): Ht2mEmk A (BAX) :
Items that may be reclassified to profit or l0ss: AREEF DR Em B -
— Exchange differences on translating foreign operations— 2 & /BN EE M E £ 2
MEHEH 3,515 (1,468)
— Reclassification adjustment related to disposal of — FALEBIINEBEBEEN
foreign operations during the year DA - (16,949)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) for the FREMBZEUY A (B %)
year, net of tax (BrBit%) 3,515 (18,417)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year FRZHEHBXXAE (38,210) (141,866)
Attributable to: LTALRE:
— Owners of the Company — XRARTEAA (39,680) (145,926)
— Non-controlling interests — FERERE 1,470 4,060
(38,210) (141,866)
FENEEEERAR 2024 F 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R IR R

At 31 December 2024 A —ZE - pUE+—-A=+—H

2024 2023
—EC_E - e S
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT 5 FET FAT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- WENREZE 18 8,840 16,120
Investment properties "EME 19 19,699 19,169
Goodwill kS 20 - —
Intangible assets BEEE 21 5,220 7,114
Prepayments for acquisition of property, WHEME - BB R EREEN
plant and equipment B 2,591 =
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments &% - E b fE Y 5138 & 78 1+
IR 25 7,068 7,795
43,418 50,198
Current assets RBEE
Inventories EE 22 221 202
Contract costs B KK - 2
Loan receivables and interest receivables FE IR B 3R K B IR R B 23 - =
Trade receivables BUE SRR 24 19,455 18,165
Current tax assets BNERRH I8 & B 24 23
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments &4 ~ H{th JE W FIE &
TERIE 25 9,487 5,549
Cryptocurrencies e g% 26(a) 2,179 8,825
Cryptocurrency deposits and receivables nEE®Ee MERINE
5% 26(b) 3,884 7,776
Cash and bank balances Be MBFITER 27 8,491 10,189
43,741 50,731
Current liabilities nEAE
Trade payables FERESRK 28 3,786 4,859
Cryptocurrency payables FER N B - 4
Lease liabilities HEAR 29 2,333 3,449
Loans from related parties REBE T Z2ER 30 212,721 208,563
Other payables and accruals Hfh eI 5RIE K EETIE R 31 41,646 41,397
Contract liabilities CR O 32 55 439
Current tax liabilities BNEfFIE & & - 44
260,541 258,755
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e ISR R R

At 31 December 2024 A —Z —pWE+—-_A=+—H

2024 2023

—¥-F —To=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B 5 FET FAT

Net current liabilities REBEEFE (216,800) (208,024)

Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBARG (173,382) (157,826)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE

Lease liabilities HEAR 29 2,834 1,686

Loans from related parties REBEB T 2 ER 30 1,963 92,204

Other payables H th & 1 ZIE 31 276 342

Deferred tax liabilities REHIEEE 33 795 757

5,868 94,989

Net liabilities EETFE (179,250) (252,815)
Capital and reserves EARREE

Share capital fi& A& 34 3,732 3,110

Reserves & 1 (185,604) (255,687)

Deficits attributable to owners of the  AQ T HEH A FE 45 E 4

Company (181,872) (252,577)

Non-controlling interests JEERER 2,622 (238)

Capital deficiency B AR E 4 (179,250) (252,815)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 240 were

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Ting Kong

BTE
Director

=%

FIBE2UE 2 A M B BRERLEETERN_F
“HE=ZA-t+N\HHLERKELRE  WHNUTE

EREERE:

Li Junwei
HEE
Director

5=

FENMEEEERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

SRBETHR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & &
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERETREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

2024 2023
—EC-E T =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BETH
Loss before tax b B B B 1B (41,699) (122,859)
Adjustments for: SR
Net fair value (gain) loss on investment KEMELAAEME)
properties [Ri=PEE- (104) 515
Depreciation and amortisation TE R 14,867 38,158
Finance costs LRSI N 16,030 16,793
Interest income R EW A (10) (30)
Equity-settled share-based payments VARR #E 45 B0 LA IR 1 73 EHE Y
(NN - 6,274
(Reversal of impairment loss) impairment loss of & Ug 3% 78 (i & &5 18 B¢ [3l) el (&
receivables, net of reversal B8 (FOBREEE) (1,042) 7,417
Impairment loss of non-financial assets, net of e EE REEE K
reversal #m) 2,060 33,458
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BMEREKEZ
equipment Wz (E18) (4,537) 27
Loss on write off of intangible assets WMEBREEECBE - 6,056
Gain on remeasurement of lease EFrEEEZ kR (8) (96)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR K E - (20,969)
Operating cash flows before movements in LEEB PR LERERE
working capital (14,443) (35,256)
Decrease in cryptocurrencies s R 5,083 256
Decrease (increase) in cryptocurrency deposits mEZmEEEeRERINEEE
and receivables A (38 n) 3,395 (3,172)
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE GG M R (19) 1,306
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables FE U E SRR (38 ) R (215) 13,007
Increase in loan receivables and interest JE W E SR K JE MR B 38 A0
receivables - (973)
Increase (decrease) in deposits, other receivables &% - H b & Yg 7R I8 K T8 1+ 30 18
and prepayments #00 Gr ) (3,173) 10,101
Decrease in trade payables JERHE SRR (1,073) (5,321)
Decrease in cryptocurrency payables FE A N2 & HEOR A 4) (1,041)
Decrease in other payables and accruals EmEMAZREREFEERD (8,267) (28,298)
Decrease in defined employee benefit AERERABL (127) =
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERL (384) (1,457)
Increase in contract costs A K9 B AL N 2 171
Cash used in operations KERMAMNE S (19,225) (50,677)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE (505) (750)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHMANRESFE
ACTIVITIES (19,730) (51,427)
FENEEEERAF 2024 % 111
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FATSHEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —_ T - ME+ - A=+—HItFE
2024 2023
—®-F —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FHE T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWME BERKE (2,942) (186)
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZEREES ML FHE - (5,271)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a subsidiary W HEH B AT 2R & x HF 48 (1,102) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE BMEREKEZ
equipment Fr 1S 5k 18 5,248 =
Interest received [ S 10 30
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING RETERES(FIAN
ACTIVITIES REeEFE 1,214 (5,427)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AEEE
Borrowings raised FEEE 4,000 30,000
Repayment of borrowings BEEBE (95,000) =
Principal elements of lease payments MENZKZzAEHD (3,620) (6,293)
Interest paid EARFE (1,960) (60)
Gross proceeds from placing and subscription of Bt & K& R B I% (5 AT 1S 5K IB 4258
shares 111,351 —
Transaction costs arising from placing and i ERRERNORSHK AR
subscription of shares (1,114) —
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METEFENEESFEERE 13,657 23,647
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRESEEYRD FEE
EQUIVALENTS (4,859) (33,207)
Effect of exchange rate changes Exgms o e 3,161 632
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE REVNZz2BERBELEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,189 42,764
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF REXRZRERBEZEY -
THE YEAR, represented by cash and bank UBEEREBTEET R
balances 8,491 10,189
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Imperium Technology Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman lIslands. The address of its registered office
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business is Room 02, 26/F, One Harbour
Square, No. 181 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Diamond
State Holdings Limited (“Diamond State”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is the immediate
parent and Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (“Mr. Cheng”) is the
ultimate controlling party of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in the nearest (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosure required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) and by disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

1.
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EHRSRAIERAEESTMK LB —
HMERERBERAR  EidMHEEbi A
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands * MA F B E M EUREBNIE
#5 4% /5 & 3818157 One Harbour Square 2612
0RE - ARBIZROHREEBERIME
PRAR (TR AT ER £ -

ARA B —AREERRTE - HWHE AT
MEBRBHNGE M ERRM EA -

KNATIEER A - Diamond State Holdings
Limited ([Diamond State] + 7 % &8 # 5 = B¥
SHMK L2 RAR) ARARZEHET AT -
NEBTEEE(BEEDARRAFZ &
YRR T -

AW BHHRRABTTET] TRAR
AZMEEB2S - REBEAEI X
HAVBRROUKEOL 2T URETE

L2 e

mAREE

REGEMBBRERRDIREBEETESAMAE
([BAEESHMAS)EMNBTEMBRS
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REBREE UEABERNBRARER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE
2.

114 imperium Technology Group Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The Group incurred a net loss and operating cash outflow
of approximately HK$41,725,000 (2023: HK$123,449,000)
and HK$$19,730,000 (2023: HK$51,427,000) respectively
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and, as of that
date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$216,800,000 (2023: HK$208,024,000) and
HK$179,250,000 (2023: HK$252,815,000) respectively.

Further, as at 31 December 2024, the Group had loans from
related parties with a total principal amount of approximately
HK$214,684,000 and interest payable of approximately
HK$13,000,000 due to Mr. Cheng and related companies,
which are beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Cheng,
of which HK$225,721,000 will mature in 2025 while the
Group recorded cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$8,491,000 as at 31 December 2024. Considering the
above condition, the Company remains cautious about
its liquidity in the near term. The condition indicates the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding this fact, the directors of the Company
consider it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis as the
Group is expected to have sufficient financial resources
to meet its obligations as they fall due for at least the next
twelve months based on its projected cash flow forecasts.
In preparing the consolidated financial statement of the
Group, the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will be able to finance its future working
capital and fulfill its financial obligations and continue as a
going concern. Certain plans and measures are being or will
be taken to manage its liquidity needs and to improve its
financial position, which include, but are not limited to, the
following:

(i) The Group will continuously adopt a monitoring
process on the repayment status of trade receivables
in order to seek to achieve timely collection and
improve its operating cash flows and financial
position;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE
BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The Group will continuously take measures to tighten
cost control over various costs in order to seek to
achieve profit and operating cash inflows and seek to
implement various strategies to enhance the Group’s
revenue;

The Group will continue negotiations with its creditors
for extension of its debts when they fall due and seek
alternative debt and/or equity financing to meet cash
flow requirements;

Pursuant to the extension letter dated 18 March
2025, the ultimate controlling party of the Company
agreed to extend the repayment date for the loans
and interest payable amounting to approximately
HK$214,684,000 and HK$13,000,000 respectively up
to 30 June 2026;

The Group has obtained a revolving loan facility
from an independent third party amounting to
HK$25,000,000, which is available for drawdown at
the Group’s request.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,

adjustments would have to be made the consolidated

financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets

to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further

liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current

assets as current assets and non-current liabilities as current

liabilities. The effects of these potential adjustments have not

been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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3.

1 16 Imperium Technology Group Limited

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Application of amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA which are
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 January
2024:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) —
Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior periods
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE —E - &+ A =+—H It FE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosure?

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS
10 and HKAS 72

Annual improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the above new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements”

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements and will replace HKAS
1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. Minor amendments to
HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings
per Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and the consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards, will be effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early
application permitted.

The application of HKFRS 18 is not expected to have
material impact on the financial position of the Group but
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of
profit or loss and statement of cash flows and disclosures
in the future financial statements. The Group will continue to
assess the impact of HKFRS 18 on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis, except for investment
properties which have been measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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4.

1 20 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other
vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and
° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate

that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to

control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.

1 22 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024

EXERABRERM®

REEEE

VERSRAEMNBRARZMBEHRRNEER
ERREAKRE G RREB 2 -

HAEERERFARARRSEENMEEE
NARHEEREE #z@m KA HX
REERECNGEREFTHYH -

MBARZFERERERNEERNE PP
HRESHAZS - DEBRTERSEAER
ARBERRZULASEHEBHNBAREE
FEZREHEEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

Asset acquisitions

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The concentration test is
met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or
group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax
assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred
tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of
activities and assets is determined not to be a business and
no further assessment is needed.
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4.

124 imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Asset acquisitions (Continued)

When the Group acquires a group of assets that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to financial assets and
financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the other
identifiable assets on the basis of their relative fair values at
the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise
to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” (included in property, plant and
equipment) in the consolidated statement of financial
position except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal estimated useful lives are as follows:

Properties 50 years
Leasehold improvement 2-5 years
Plant and machinery 3-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for
a currently undetermined future use and property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as investment

property.

Investment property are stated at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.
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4.

1 26 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases
Definition of lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for the period
of time in exchange for consideration. For contracts entered
into or modified on or after the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases
with similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio
basis when the Group reasonably expects that the effects
on the consolidated financial statements would not differ
materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in the “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at

the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option.

1 28 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments. The Group
remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

° a lease contract is modified and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease (see below
for the accounting policy for “lease modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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4.

1 30 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modlfications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value
model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Annual Report 2024

EXERABRERM®

HE @

EEEFEBABA(E)

HEEE (&)
AARERBLBEEARNBEEEITMS -
AEBERERERETERARNREE
ATMERPBRLETHENRZEETHE
ENHEHENTEEERAGECNEMER
HEEE) -

g

E3
o

AEEEBERBAEAREEFLAR
B UBRHEERAENENRTEAR -

K& B DL HEA

KEMHENES W A AEEBESHAN
ERZHERABED ERRLHKEUHH
ERMEENVBERXNABRMEEE
EEMERESR  ZERAEHRHPANE
AR RAX  ERAAREBEAGFEN
BREWMEERI

AEBRFEEBBRETEENHESBRAZ
5 e o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Game intellectual properties and licences, game software,
rights on esports team and trademark acquired separately
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives.

The intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the following period:

Game intellectual properties and 1-2 years
licenses

Game software 3 years

Rights on esports team 5 years

Trademark 5 years

Intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.
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4.

1 32 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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4.

134 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Cryptocurrency assets
Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrency, a form of Crypto assets, with all the
characteristics that (i) it is a digital or virtual currency
recorded on a distributed ledger that uses cryptography
for security; (i) it is not issued by a jurisdictional authority
or other party; and (iii) it does not give rise to a contract
between the holder and another party.

The Group receive cryptocurrency as consideration in its
cloud computing and online game operations. It is engaged
in cryptocurrency mining and rental of machines to lessees
to engage in cryptocurrency mining. The Group received
cryptocurrencies from the operations of its cryptocurrency
mining equipment, lease of mining machines and sale of
non-fungible token (the “NFT”) and other virtual tokens. The
cryptocurrencies on hand at the end of the reporting period
can be bought and sold, do not qualify for recognition as
cash and cash equivalents or financial assets, and are similar
to intangible assets in nature.

The Group’s business model for holding cryptocurrencies
received from its operations are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Accordingly, the cryptocurrencies
are accounted for as similar to inventories based on the
requirements of HKAS 2.

Cryptocurrencies are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost represents the fair value at the date
when a cryptocurrency is generated from cryptocurrency
mining and historical purchase cost is calculated using
weighted-average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Cryptocurrency assets (Continued)
Cryptocurrency deposits and receivables

Certain cryptocurrencies are transferred to cryptocurrency
deposits for the Group to engage in cryptocurrency
mining. Cryptocurrency receivables are due from lessees
as rental receivables for leasing of mining machines. The
cryptocurrency deposits and receivables are measured at
cost less accumulated impairment. The carrying amounts
of cryptocurrency deposits and receivables are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur

to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

4.

EXERBRERM®

MEEWEE#®)
MEBEEZRERERNEZEELE

EThZEEREANEEEZeUER
SEREMEEERE  BlRNEmEEE
R 2 iR 2R 6 FE WK FE & 1A AR A A KCER o
mEEBZES R EWMNE S TR K AR
Z2HBEFE MEEBEERE RERMNE
BE¥CERMERSRERRRIBERME
BER e

7E

GEUKAERATSEFEME R IBE
EIR -ADERMEFHEETE - &
R RERRKABIERME - EEST
RBEELOINAAEERERS kD H
PERMWMER AR FERATES
B2 Al FT I8 B B AR R A ET T K ANE
R RAEENTNRAEB ETHE
FIENRAREREEEEEBNIEE K

ARAEBEBETIHEMMANIEEE K
Z’So

@M I A
CEEERBATREANKIZENS 8
BReMEENEHEBE FIEHBEER

KHEZLEREEDRIHAELEBRA R
RILER - HEBEXLERERRTER

AIREPI BRI cBRARNEEZERE
EREHLE -

FEMNEEBEBRAT 2024 Fif

135



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

4.

136 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
interest income is recognised by applying the

effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial

impaired,
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination

that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, loan receivables, deposits and other receivables
and bank balances) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

4.

138 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including the Group, in full. Irrespective
of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

1 40 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(il

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables by using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

1 42 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE —E - &+ A =+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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4.

144 imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including trade payables, lease liabilities,
loan from related parties and other payables and accruals
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms taking
into account all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received,
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as
an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The
exchange or modification is considered as non-substantial
modification when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in
profit or loss at the date of modification.
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4.

146 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from the manufacturing and sales of
household products

Revenue from the manufacturing and sales of stainless steel
furnishings products is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped
to the customers’ specific location (delivery). Following
delivery, the customers have full discretion over the manner
of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the primary
responsibility when selling the goods and bears the risks of
obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to
the customers as this represents the point in time at which
the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only
the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from online games business
(a) Game publishing service revenue

The Group is a publisher of online games developed
by third-party game developers. The Group licenses
online games from game developers and earns game
publishing service revenue by making a localized
version of the licensed games and publishing them
to the game players through distribution platforms,
include online application stores (such as Google Play
installed in mobile telecommunications devices), web-
based and mobile game portals in certain countries
and regions (collectively referred to as “Platforms”),
including the Group’s websites.

The games licensed to the Group are operated under
a free-to-play model whereby game players can play
the games free of charge and are charged for the
purchase of virtual tokens or other virtual items via
payment channels, such as the various mobile carriers
and third-party internet payment systems (collectively
referred to as “payment channels”).

4.

EXERBRERM®

W 2 K H b WA (48)
LERFHEREEmZ Kz

ETRMERAERNENECERE  AE
MmO BXIEPEEMH (M E - #ER
EmMEERBEEKDZ IR BFA
ERMBREERNDETAMEEERS
VWARBEFRZIIRZETRERRER
BRZER AEEREVXNTELKE
fE SR e W R - R = B R B HI S KT
EFFEEHER MEVINTEFPZE
RBBBMAKEZEMKSEREOEEE -

X E AR L 5B K 2
@)  BEERTTIRE W %

AEBARGREHEBETR  BTH
FEo-HEEAEERAENE EER -
AEBRFTELEEBAEINE L
BE TRIEZSEREESEOARLT
bR AR BEBRDHFTR(REMALE
AEAFE(MEZREERSEERE
F # Google Play) * & TEIR & i@
WEBERBRDEMPMEFEL(REA
[Fal BEAEERM) T T
B BT R MU B AR 9 L 1T AR S R

m °

AEBEERENBERAREETRR
AEE Bt BEBRORANURE
EmEBMEBEERAEREM
ERYAREENRREWERER
HEERRE=FEBBN R (5
BAMRRENNXNER -

FEMNEEBEBRAT 2024 Fif

147



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business (Continued)

@

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i)

Principal — agent consideration

148 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Proceeds earned from selling virtual tokens
and other virtual items are shared between
the Group and game developers, with the
amount paid to game developers generally
calculated based on face value of virtual
tokens or other virtual items determined by
game developers, after deducting certain
deductible fees, multiplied by a predetermined
percentage for each game. The deductible fees
are predetermined and negotiated game by
game, including the fees paid to the payment
channels and the Platforms, as well as the
credit allowable for deduction for each game.

There were game license arrangements under
which the Group takes primary responsibilities
of game operation, including determining
Platforms and payment channels, providing
customer ser vices, hosting game servers, if
needed and controlling game and services
specifications and pricing during the license
period. Under this type of game license
arrangement, the Group considered itself as a
principal in this arrangement. Accordingly, the
Group records the online game revenue from
these third-party licensed game on a gross
basis. Commission fees paid to Platforms and
payment channels and amortisation of license
fees paid to third-party game developer are
recorded as cost of revenues.

When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises

revenue on a net basis when the services are
provided to the respective players.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4., EXREFHEXRER B

INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued) KEREMBAE

Revenue from online games business (Continued) KE R E BB EFE W 75 ()

(a)  Game publishing service revenue (Continued) (@  EEETRB WK (E)

(i) Timing of revenue recognition (i) U 2 T 57 BF 1

For the purposes of determining when REETMENREHRBEHN
services have been provided to the respective BHE - ASBE23BEFEEE#
players, the Group has distinguished between Yo R PR A E R AT
consumable virtual items and durable virtual @7
items:
Consumable virtual items represent items that BEREEHY D EEIZEE
are extinguished after consumption in the form FitERREEEANE
of fixed charges levied on each round of games ARERBIABFAENY M -
played. The paying players will not continue NEMRHETSEES =
to benefit from the virtual items thereafter. REHEYG - WE TR Y @
Revenue is recognised at the point in time WREARME —FREEER -

when the items are consumed.

Durable virtual items represent items that are MAEERYREENER
accessible and beneficial to paying players RAORKHHNALREZOY
over an extended period of time. Revenue is mhoo W A AR 9E LA M AR
recognised ratably over time by the average HERYOFEETRKS (R
life of durable virtual items for the applicable REBERNERR T I E
game, which the Group makes best estimates BEBMRENRKEGRE [t
to be average playing period of paying players KR HA D) A B By A HE R 4 b
(“Player Relationship Period”). Bl R °

The Group estimates the Player Relationship AEEZEMNERE —HE
Period on a game-by-game basis and MRBERY YBEFEGHH
reassesses such periods semi-annually. If there FAHADR o W 17 £ & %0 /9 B IR
is insufficient data to determine the Player KiEEITK @R flF
Relationship Period, such as in the case of a BHEMES AREBERAASE
newly launched game, it estimates the Player RE=ZTHEERAENHE
Relationship Period based on other similar MR ERGERKBEERE -
types of games developed by the Group or BEEFHEBBELEARSEHE
by third-party developers until the new game XNMES - £HEITREE
establishes its own patterns and history. The R AEEZEERBR
Group considers the games profile, target BERITR A RERENT
audience, and its appeal to players of different FABARITKBRS A -

demographics groups in estimating the Player
Relationship Period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE
4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business (Continued)

@

(b)

(c)

1 50 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i) Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

If the Group does not have the ability to
differentiate revenue attributable to durable
virtual items from consumable virtual items for
a specific game, the Group recognises revenue
from both durable and consumable virtual
items for that game ratably over the Player
Relationship Period.

Royalty income

The Group receives royalty income from third-party
licensee in exchange for the exclusive operation of
the Group’s licensed games in certain region. The
royalty fee includes a monthly minimum fee and an
additional fee during the contracted license period,
which is determined based on an agreed percentage
of sales of the licensee when it exceeds the monthly
minimum fee in that month. The monthly minimum
fee is recognised ratably over time by the contracted
license period. The additional fee is recognised when
the actual agreed percentage of sales of the licensee
exceeds the agreed monthly minimum fee in that
month.

Contract liabilities and contract costs

For game publishing service revenues, contract
liabilities primarily consist of the unamortised revenue
from sales of virtual tokens and virtual items for web-
based games and mobile games, where there is still
an implied obligation to be provided by the Group and
will be recognised as revenue when all of the revenue
recognition criteria are met.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business (Continued)

()

Contract liabilities and contract costs (Continued)

Contract costs are mainly related to contract
acquisition costs, which primarily consist of
unamortised commission costs charged by
distribution platforms. The Group recognises
contract costs in relation to commission charged by
distribution platforms, which meet contract acquisition
cost criteria as an incremental cost of acquiring a
customer contract. They are capitalised as contract
acquisition costs and amortised over their respective
Player Relationship Periods, which is consistent with
the pattern of recognition of the associated revenue.

Revenue from esports business

@

b)

Merit awards for esports competitions

The payments to merit awards for esports
competitions based on final position and performance
are variable consideration as they are contingent
on achieving certain performance goals. Such merit
payments are recognised over time over the season
at an amount that is highly probable of not being
reversed when the uncertainty is resolved.

Live streaming

Live streaming revenue are recognised on a straight-
line basis over the contractual term of the agreement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from cloud computing and data
storage

@)

®)

1 52 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Cryptocurrency mining

The Group is engaged in the provision of transaction
verification services within cryptocurrency networks,
commonly termed “cryptocurrency mining”. As
consideration for these services, the Group receives
non-cash consideration in the form of cryptocurrency
from each specific network in which the Group
participates and from the customers of the Group.
Revenue is measured based on the fair value of the
cryptocurrencies earned. The fair value is determined
using the spot price of the cryptocurrencies on the
date of earned. A cryptocurrency is considered
earned at the point in time on the completion and
addition of a block to the blockchain, at which time
the economic benefit is received and can be reliably
measured.

Leasing of machines to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining

The Group is engaged in the leasing of machines to
customers to engage in cryptocurrency mining. The
Group receives non-cash consideration in the form
of cryptocurrency consideration calculated as certain
agreed percentage of the cryptocurrency earned by
the customers through their cryptocurrency mining
activities using these leased machines during the
lease period. These variable lease payments are
recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are earned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. When a fair value gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised
in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign currency
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Employee benefits
(i)  Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the
cost of providing benefits is determined using the
projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations
being carried out at the end of each annual reporting
period.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset
ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets
(excluding interest), are recognised immediately in
the consolidated statement of financial position with
a charge or credit to other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement
recognised in other comprehensive income will not be
reclassified to profit or loss.

1 54 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EXSTHEER®
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued) EBEEF(E)

(i)  Retirement benefit costs (Continued) (i) BIKEFEKE)

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss when
the plan amendment or curtailment occurs, or when
the Group recognises related restructuring costs or
termination benefits, if earlier. Gains or losses on
settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised
when the settlement occurs. Net interest is calculated
by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit
liability or asset.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

o service cost (including current service cost,
past service cost, as well as gains and losses
on curtailments and settlements);

° net interest expense or income; and

° remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s
defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from
this calculation is limited to the present value of any
economic benefits available in the form of refunds
from the plans or reductions in future contributions to
the plans.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when the entity
recognises any related restructuring costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there
will be contributions from employees or third parties,
the accounting depends on whether the contributions
are linked to service, as follows:

If the contributions are not linked to services
(for example contributions are required to
reduce a deficit arising from losses on plan
assets or from actuarial losses), they are
reflected in the remeasurement of the net
defined benefit liability or asset.

If contributions are linked to services, they
reduce service costs. For the amount of
contribution that is dependent on the number
of years of service, the Group reduces service
cost by attributing the contributions to periods
of service using the attribution method required
by HKAS 19 paragraph 70 for the gross
benefits (i.e. either using the plan’s contribution
formula or on a straight-line basis). For the
amount of contribution that is independent
of the number of years of service, the Group
reduces service cost in the period in which the
related service is rendered.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when
it recognises any related restructuring costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in
the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

4.

1 58 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Shares/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
payments reserve). At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share-based payments reserve. For shares/share options
that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the shares/share options granted is expensed immediately to
profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-
based payments reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under other income.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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4.

160 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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162 Imperium Technology Group Limited

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent consideration for online
game business

Pursuant to game publishing and operation arrangements
signed between the Group and the third-party game
developers or Platforms, the Group’s responsibilities in
publishing and operating the licensed games vary for

5.
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these revenues using gross or net basis is based on an RAEENERZ P = TR B E R
assessment of various factors, including but not limited to BOhRz2E—BEER: (ll)E Hi
whether the Group (i) is the primary obligor to the game REBZER (IREENERKET

developers and game players in the arrangements; (i) has
latitude in establishing the selling price of virtual items; (iii)
changes the products or performs part of the services; (iv)
has involvement in the determination of product and service
specifications; and (v) has the right to determine secondary
Platforms.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets other than goodwill

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
other than goodwill are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (i) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount or, in the case
of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit to which the assets belong, including
allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise
recoverable amount is determined at the smallest group
of cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate
assets have been allocated. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets other
than goodwill subject to impairment assessment were
approximately HK$8,840,000 and HK$5,220,000 (2023:
HK$16,120,000 and HK$7,114,000) respectively, after taking
into account the impairment losses of approximately Nil and
HK$34,460,000 (2023: Nil and HK$34,460,000) respectively
in respect of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets other than goodwill that have been recognised.
Details of the impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets other than goodwill are disclosed in
Notes 18 and 21 respectively.
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1 64 Imperium Technology Group Limited

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair value of the investment properties. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions
of market conditions that are set out in Note 7.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions.

Whilst the Group considers valuations of the Group’s
investment properties are the best estimates, change in
assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of
the Group’s investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or losses reported in the
consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31

December 2024 was approximately HK$19,699,000 (2023:
HK$19,169,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group makes loss allowances on the trade receivables
based on various factors including the past due status
of the receivables, past default experience, qualitative
creditworthiness, collateral values and forward-looking
macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs. The
assessment of ECL on receivables involves high degree
of estimation uncertainty and is sensitive to changes in
estimates. Where the expectations are different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact the carrying
amounts of receivables and the allowance for credit losses
on receivables recognised in the years in which such
estimates have been changed.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on certain trade receivables which are not assessed
individually by using a provision matrix. The provision rates
are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

Further information is disclosed in Note 6.3(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES

The Group operates in six major business segments in which
cloud computing and data storage and online game carry
distinct risks related to its business model and correlation
with the macroeconomic environment since cryptocurrency
transactions and blockchain technology are involved.

6.1 Business development and the
associated risks

The Group has tapped into the blockchain games and
metaverse sector since 2022 and continue to invest
resources to further explore the blockchain game
and metaverse market. A large-scale universe park
with various theme planets — Metasens is built which
will include the feature of NFTs market place and
blockchain wallet.

Management considers the risks and uncertainties
associated with cryptocurrency and blockchain
technology largely related to information technology,
safe keeping of cryptocurrency, fluctuation of
cryptocurrency prices, compliance and the ever-
evolving nature of the markets. As the industry
continues to grow, the Group has been implementing
an operational infrastructure to support business
development and growth. These initiatives include
expanding IT infrastructure and hiring additional
management personnel with an emphasis on
experience in legal, regulatory, compliance, risk,
financial reporting, operation and technology
development.

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology

(i)  Regulatory risk in relevant
jurisdictions

With the Group continuing to expedite the
development of Metasens actively, the
operation may require the Group or its
subsidiaries to apply for and hold further
regulatory licenses, authorisation or permits
due to potential regulation for virtual asset
trading platform in Hong Kong.

1 66 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2024
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

()

(ii)

Regulatory risk in relevant
jurisdictions (Continued)

To manage the enhanced risks and
potential complicate frameworks associated
with licensing, the Group has expended
substantial resources to build a strong team
of experienced legal, risk and compliance
professionals, who are responsible for oversight
of all business activities with respect prevailing
and potential regulatory frameworks applicable

to the Group.

Risk related to safekeeping of asset

The Group maintains cryptocurrency in
both “hot” (connected to the internet)
and “cold” (not connected to the internet)
wallets. “Hot” wallets are more susceptible
to cyber-attacks or potential theft due to
the fact they are connected to the public
internet. To mitigate such risks, the Group
has implemented guidelines and risk control
protocols to adjust the level of cryptocurrency
maintained in “hot” wallets required to facilitate
settlement. The Group has developed a
proprietary cryptocurrency wallets solution
with comprehensive security controls and
risk mitigation processes in place. Control
procedures cover wallet generation, day-to-
day wallet management and security, as well
as monitoring and safeguarding of the Group’s
“hot” and “cold” wallets and public and private
keys.
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HERBREEGwE
6.2 Risk management of business 6.2 FRMZEWKEH MK

segments involving cryptocurrency and XKoo EREEE)

blockchain technology (Continued)

(iii) Risks related to source of funds and (iii) HESRKFHARAEEH
anti-money laundering H) 2 B2
Cryptocurrencies are exchangeable directly mMzE¥ALBEBRATESR
between parties through decentralised RGHERDEPRBESHZ
networks that allow anonymous transactions, MEERKR ZERFHIEH
such transactions create complex technical RIHB T MEEMB RS
challenges with respect to issues such as HBIiTHERAER - ATRE
identification of parties involved and asset ZERR  AEBECDERRE
ownership. To mitigate such risks, the Group BAMTHREPABURMRKE -
has implemented policies and procedures ZERENREEERPEX
for AML and Know-Your-Client (“KYC”) that BIEPRE WAFEEE
are initiated during the client acceptance MFETAER - k(L&
process and are applied by way of continuous EHEMERXE  ZME2E
monitoring and reporting. In enhancing these BRIT¥EEER SENE
policies and procedures, we have considered BER UERITEEEBM
industry best-practice, respective regulatory BERSemTEENITEHAN
requirements, and Financial Action Task Force EEMEE o
(“FATF”) recommendations and guidance as the
industry moves towards regulation.

(iv) Technology leakage risk (iv) # i & & B

168 Imperium Technology Group Limited

The Group’s developing metaverse platform
lies in its blockchain-related technology IP
and trade secrets. Should its IP and trade
secret be compromised, the Group could face
risks in its ability to remain competitive and
execute its strategy. Technology leakage risks
are mitigated by controls of information, ability
to defend against intrusion into the Group’s
technology infrastructure, protection and
prevention of leakage of sensitive data.
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

v)

(vi)

Information security risk

Both the Group and client information are
maintained on proprietary data infrastructure
in conjunction with cloud service providers,
such infrastructure is connected to the public
internet and therefore subject to potential
cyber-attacks. To mitigate such risks, the
Group’s has implemented security controls
including but not limited to multi-factor
authentication, data and network segregation,
system redundancy and encrypted backups,
segregation of duties, least privilege principal,
event monitoring and incident response.

New product risk

Prior to the deployment and release of new
products and businesses to the Group’s clients,
every such new activity phase through a
rigorous review process. The board of directors
reviews each proposal against business
capability, impact on financial performance
as well as analyses the suite of risks that are
typically inherent in such activities; particular
attention is paid to operational risk, legal risk,
regulatory risk, market, credit and liquidity risk.
Approval to proceed with a proposed business
or product will only be forthcoming once the
board of directors is satisfied that all necessary
controls and support function processes are
fully implemented.
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6.

RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

1 70 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Credit risk

In connection with the operation of leasing
of machines to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining, the Group enters
into lease agreement with clients, which may
expose the Group to credit risk. Credit risk
in this context is the risk of non-payment,
non-repayment or default by a counterparty
in respect of its obligations to the Group
in relation to the relevant cryptocurrency
transactions.

To mitigate or reduce such credit risks, the
exposure of credit risks and transactions with
clients are monitored by the board of directors
regularly.

Operational risk

Operational risk covers a spectrum of potential
incidents and actions that can affect both the
Group and its counterparties and that may
cause financial loss, reputational damage,
regulatory sanctions or loss of business
capability. Such losses may arise from process
weakness, lack of staff training, technology
failures, honest errors or malicious actions by
internal or external factors.

The Group’s management is the central
oversight and management function for all
operational risk actions and related control
activities including regularly performance
review and business evaluation.

Annual Report 2024

6.

B B 3% B (&)
6.2 BRMZFEULRE B K i

E

(vii)

(viii)

7 BB EY A B E E (@)

1= /5 8 B
RERREPHEHLAERMNE
EEHNREBNELMS  AK

BMETFIIVHE R - A6
EEAEETmBRERRR - ©
ZEBAT  FERARARERS
HFREENEEERSSP
HUAXSEEZEH T ET
Xt MEELEBONER o

BTREXSERAR &%
EEHELERARERE
FHRSER -

EE R

BLEREBRBRE-RIAER
EXEERERZHETFNE
EEHRTY  ZEEMHRT
RSB BRL BE
BE EEMSINEHE
fEK - ZFEHRKRATEE B R IE
R BIRIITR - Rk
[E - AEEINE R BT E
TREBEBITR/EKH °

AEEEEEAESTEEM
BEEMAELZRRITINEM
ZHE®  BREHERE
EREBFME -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

6. RERBREEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of

financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk,

liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s

overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s

financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk
primarily through sales that are denominated in
a currency different from domestic currencies
used to fund the operations of the relevant
group companies. The currency giving rise to
this risk is mainly United States dollar (“US$”)
and these subsidiaries do not have significant
monetary assets or liabilities denominated in
currencies other than their respective functional
currencies. Accordingly, the management
considered the foreign currency risk was
significantly reduced.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
the
management of the Group monitors foreign

exchange hedge policy. However,

exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arise.

6.3

Bt % L By 2

AEENEBLIPHERSESRE
- BRIERR - FERAERR R
BHERREMNERER AEENE
BEBREEFEHBINSRTISN
AAEBM YFNBEAEEYG
BRANBEINZERERE -

S E 7 B

AEETZEAREFEREE
VIHRAAREBREE AR E
BREREHESHNAMLER
ZHEAZIERR - EL
Rz ' RET(ET])
BZEWB R RLARETFHNR
EERVREEBENINZEE
FHECEREREESAR
it EEERREKNERE
1K 9N EE [ B -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE
6.

RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b)

1 72 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Credit risk and impairment
assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, loan
receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks

associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment
for financial assets and other items under
ECL model. Information about the Group’s
credit risk management, maximum credit
risk exposures and the related impairment
assessment, if applicable, are summarised as
below:

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each
business unit subject to the Group’s
established policy, procedures and control
relating to customer credit risk management.
Individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days
from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

6. RERBREEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk
as 63% (2023: 70%) and 71% (2023: 85%) of
the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively within the esports
segment and household products segment.
the
management of the Group has delegated a

In order to minimise the credit risk,

team responsible for the determination of credit
limits and credit approvals.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions
during the year over which the historic data
have been collected, current conditions and
the Group’s view of economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables.

6.3 MM EREEE@E
(b) 1=/ /m B K B 1E T 14 ()

FENMEEEERAR

JEWE 503 (&)

REEE3% (ZEZ=%F : 70%)
R71% (=& = = F : 85%) JiE
WESEHRBENEFREE
ERoBREAEEEFHE
DEHEREERD BHIZKK
BEFRAREF - AREER
BREHRE AEEEEER
ZEEBKBEEERFEERE
RIEEHE -

AEERBEENBEFED
ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%@%%%%
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RERBEE AAKENB
EEEEBRERRERTT
REFPOHBEEAZRENE
BRE WERBHREHE
MEBERREYEEASET
REFPHEE—FED

REKESERME  A5E
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE
6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6.

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The trade receivables contributed from esports
and household products segment are within
credit terms with no default history and
neither past due nor impaired. Based on the
management assessment on expected credit

B B 3% B (&)
6.3 HMERBEREE)
(b) EAEEREREFEE)

JEWE 5050 ()

ETHREREEMD O
BB ZERFANEERA -
EofakITIFC @B K
WE- REHEHAEEEE
MEEEFMG BERER

loss, the loss allowance is considered to be RWAEITEKX -
insignificant.
Gross
Loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
BiERX REAE BERE
2024 —E-OEF % HK$’000 HK$’000
% FET FET
0-30 days 0E30K 1.1 5,955 67
31-60 days 31E60K 1.4 839 12
61-90 days B61ZE90K 0.9 2,796 24
91-120 days 91E120K 1.5 1,830 28
121-150 days 1212150k 2.9 1,673 49
151-365 days 151E 365K 5.9 6,949 407
Over 1 year B 1A 100 1,163 1,163
21,205 1,750
Gross
Loss carrying Loss
rate amount  allowance
FiEEx KREEE FBEEG
2023 —E =4 % HK$’'000 HK$’000
% FAET FAET
0-30 days 0&30K 5.6 5,995 338
31-60 days 31£60K 6.5 2,295 149
61-90 days 61290k 6.6 1,438 95
91-120 days 91£E120K 5.8 4,092 239
121-150 days 121E2150K 141 2,078 293
151-365 days 1512365K 15.7 4,015 629
Over 1 year B B 100 1,083 1,083
20,991 2,826
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. BERBREEG®E
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXEBRERE
(b) Credit risk and impairment (b) 1=/ B R & FF A5 ()
assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued) JFEW B Z AR5 (&)
Movement in the loss allowance for trade FR - EWRE SR EERE
receivables during the year is as follows: wHEEOT
2024 2023
—E g —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
At 1 January R—A—H 2,826 =
ECL (reversed) recognised, net (B ) MR 2 T8 8 {
BEFRE (1,042) 2,841
Exchange differences 5 E% (34) (19)
At 31 December R+—RA=+—H 1,750 2,826

JE W B R E T8

rEEEBFEEFPFNEE
mEXEEEBBAMN B
TRBREARKREEEFER

G

and other factors. %

Loan receivables and interest receivables

The Group manage the credit risk by assessing
the credit quality of the customers, taking into
account its financial position, past experience

AEBENREFPBAENGEE
EREERAREFPERMNIE
HoAREWE) HEKE
R EE B IR R 1T E R
AEfE - XA AT RE M B BHE W

for forward-looking information. FEE o

The Group assesses allowance for credit
losses on loan receivables individually based
on historical credit loss experience of the
customers as well as fair value of the collateral
pledged by the customers, if any and adjusted

FENEERERA 2024 8% 175
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HERBREEG®E
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXKEBRERE
(b) Credit risk and impairment (b) /AR EEREEFGE)

assessment (Continued)

Loan receivables and interest receivables
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount
of loan receivables were approximately
HK$7,042,000 (2023: HK$7,042,000).
Movements in allowance for credit losses
(credit-impaired) are disclosed in below table.
The loan receivables and interest receivables
was due from one (2023: one) customer for the
year ended 31 December 2024,

JE W B 3R E WP B(E)

RZZE_NFE+=—HA=+—H"
FE U E S B 5B XY A7,042,000
BT (ZF = =4 :7,042,000
BT - FEEEREUEE
WE)ZEBERNA TR E
BoREBEE-T-_WF+=A
=t+t—HLEFE BREXR
MERMEHKE—R(ZE
ZEF—R)BF -

HK$’000
FET

At 1 January 2023 R-_E-_=%¢—H—H 11,575

1 76 Imperium Technology Group Limited

ECL recognised EEREHEERERE 4,576
Amounts written off [ iﬁ ck (9,109)
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 B/\\_ E_=Ff+HA=+—8 =
and 31 December 2024 ZHF-A—HBRZZE-NWN ¢
+_Hf+ H 7,042

Changes in loss allowance during the year
ended 31 December 2023 were mainly due
to the written-off of loan receivables which
were fully impaired in prior years and the full
allowance of ECL for defaulted unsecured
loan receivables. There was no change in loss
allowance during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

6. RERBREEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables

the
management makes periodic individual

For deposits and other receivables,

assessment on the recoverability of deposits
and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. For the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, the Group assessed the
ECL for other receivables and deposits are
insignificant, except for the amount of credit-
impaired loss allowance made below, and thus
no 12m ECL allowance is recognised.

6.3 MM EREEE@E
(b) 1=/ /m B K B 1E T 14 ()

w o KM R TR

Rige Rk HMEWHRIERE -
EEEgERNBELEHELH
BEEBRARBREEASE
E’Jﬁﬁﬁﬁ’l‘iﬁgﬁi’l‘i;ﬁﬂ’
EHE RE R EMEKRRIE
E’JT”&@E%&TTTI%U%%°
HEZT_NFR-_ZT-=%F
TZA=+—HLEFE KT
N BEEEREEBEEE
SEIN AEEFHEME
WHBEBREZeWEBHEEREES
BRUTEKX Bt R#ER
12EABHEEEBEE -

HK$’000
FER
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZE-_=F—H—8"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 :$:f¢+ A=+—8"
—E-mME—-A—ABK
TN F+ZA=1+—H 5,134
Cash and cash equivalents He RECZEY
Credit risk on cash and bank balances and RERRITEHEHRURRER

cash held on behalf of customers are limited
because the counterparties are reputable
banks with high credit ratings assigned by
credit agencies and the ECL on bank balances
are considered to be insignificant.

FENMEEEERAR

REZRemERARER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HERBREEGwE
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXKEBRERE
(c) Liquidity risk (c) RnEBELEERE

AEBHNBRRASEMEER
AIRBHRESE SRR AR
REGFATRSHE N
MEEEBARERHMORSE

SEE -

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

VAT B 2R 8151 10 ¥ o B 48 SR B
AEEFETESRABERTH
BRBNHHRE > Yk ATE
BanEBEUEGHN KL
(WEFRERBEHER
B H) R R E A E M) &
AEEREXNNRERH -

The following table sets out the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay.

Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows
HEAMN - AEERERA

More than More than
On demand 1 year but 2 years but Total Total
or within less than less than  undiscounted carrying
1 year 2 years 5years cash flows amount
REXY -E4E MEN L ATERS

—ENR BHRME BHREE HEHEE RE&E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR ThEn TiEn ThEx Thn

At 31 December 2024 R-Z2-ME+ZA=1-H
Trade payables EEGET 3,786 - - 3,786 3,786
Lease liabilities HEER 2,801 1,255 2,192 6,248 5,167
Loan from related parties REBYHFZET 216,631 2,070 - 218,701 214,684
Other payables and accruals KB REREE 41,646 - - 41,646 41,646
264,864 3,325 2,192 210,381 265,283

At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=E+-A=1-H
Trade payables EGET 4,859 - - 4,859 4,859
Lease liabilties fHERR 3,837 1,774 - 5,611 513
Loan from related parties REEE R ER 218,500 101,600 - 320,100 300,767
Other payables and accruals i BB REER 41,340 - - 41,340 4,340
268,536 103,374 - 371,910 362,101

1 78 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

6. RERBREEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk primarily relates to its bank deposits, loan
receivables, loan from related parties and other
payables that are interest bearing. The Group’s
bank deposits bear interests at variable rates
that vary with the then prevailing market
condition.

The Group’s loan receivables, loans from
related parties and other payables bear
interests at fixed rates and therefore are subject
to fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s bank
deposits bearing interests at variable rates
are subject to cash flow interest rate risk. At
31 December 2024,
100 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss for

if interest rates had been

the year would have been decrease/increase
by approximately HK$85,000 (2023: decrease/
increase by approximately HK$102,000).

6.3 BIKEKRERE)

(d) FIFEE
FERRBRESBHRIAENAR
15&*1@%%//|u§-miﬁﬂ
R MEBER - ANEH
ZHERBFEFERFWPEERT

FENMEEEERAR

TR BWER - REBEBS
ZER KR EAME B EMNFE -
AEBZRTERREBEE R
ZHER AR TR KL -

REBE 2 EKER - REB@E
FZERREMENKIEBRR
BEMEFE MAKEIE
BAREMNRER AEEZ
WOTTFERIRZHFEGE
ﬁtﬁﬁnuﬁﬁmﬁﬂzﬂﬁﬁk ° E/t\
—E-mE+=ZA=+—H "

WFIE EF FFE1001EE 2 -
EMABEZERFETE  F
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HERBREEGwE
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXKEBRERE
(e) Categories of financial instruments (el £=HMITEAHE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Financial assets: eWMEE:
Financial assets measured at HBEKAFTEZ
amortised cost EMEE 35,548 32,038
Financial liabilities: cREE:
Financial liabilities measured at H#EEKAFTEZ
amortised cost cEams 265,283 352,101
(f)  Fair values (f) AiE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial REBEFALZREBBHRRE
assets and financial liabilities included in the NeREEREREEZE

consolidated statement of financial position are
approximately to their respective fair values as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers
out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value
hierarchy:

ARfEN B

ARERTHL2EERFEARETZE
FREFHEEEMRBDMIEZAEMS
NZER AERENERRIINEHR
CEHARAALREHEARIE =EE

BPEHEM—-EERNBAREL -

(@) 2AREERKFHEE:

Fair value measurements using:

ZE®

ARBETFEFANER:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1ER 2B R HIEH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FTER FTET FTEL
As at 31 December 2024 R-Z-WF
+=ZA=+-H
Recurring fair value measurements: £E#AAENE
Investment properties REME
Office units — Malaysia WABN — EXRAED - - 19,699 19,699
As at 31 December 2023 RZT_=F
+-B=+-8
Recurring fair value measurements: BEMALEHE
Investment properties REME
Office units — Malaysia MRER — HRAE - - 19,169 19,169
FENEEEERAR 2024 F 3R
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREFTEE
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at (b) REFEIBRERAAEBTEN

fair value based on level 3: EEYHER:
Investment
Properties
HK$'000
FEL
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H 20,496
Net fair value loss recognised in profit or loss ERERBRAZANEBEFE (515)
Exchange difference I H =% (812)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—HK

“E-F—HF—H 19,169
Net fair value gain recognised in profit or loss EREZERZAANERZFHE 104
Exchange difference MEH =5 426
At 31 December 2024 R-E-_WME+=-A=+—H 19,699

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by (c) *&EEMEANGBEERRFRERA

182 Imperium Technology Group Limited

the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The financial
controller reports directly to the board of directors
for these fair value measurements. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between the
financial controller and the board of directors at least
twice a year.

Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREFTEE

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by (c) xEEFRHEANKERFRA
the Group and valuation techniques and REFEFREANMGERMTR
inputs used in fair value measurements: SENEE: (B
(Continued)

RBEHRAR BOBRREIBRATR
B ECREVMRETEHERHAA
MAEERMTREEZEZ2HHBOT:

Details of valuation techniques used and key inputs
to valuation on investment properties which are
categorised as Level 3 fair value measurement at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Significant
Fair value Valuation technique  unobservable input Range
AR B EATTBESY #E
2024 2023
ZECDME | Z2-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
ThERL FAT
Investment properties
RENE
— Office units located in 19,699 19,169  Income approach (1) Reversionary yield 6.5% (2023: 6.5%)
Malaysia WAE WEFhaX 65%(ZE-=%:65%)
-NREREG 2 EE
AE (2) Monthly market rent per sq. ft - RM3.0 (2023: RM3.0)
QEBTFREANTHHS 304E(ZE-=F:30%%)

Reversionary vyield is the rate taking into account
the capitalisation of potential rental income, nature
of the property and prevailing market conditions.
Monthly market rent per square foot is the market
rent taking into account the direct comparable market
transactions to the related properties.

The fair value measurements are negatively correlated
to the reversionary vyield, while positively correlated to
the market rent per square foot.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 fair value
measurement during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

ERBEXRDARBEERSKRAE
e -MEMREREFTRELZ
R -BFTRZMEHEE N R
HENEZTSAIHERLERS
BHzmEHEE -

NREAEERERKREERRLE -
MBFFHTRZMHHEERKIEL -
READERIRER  WENHNKS
EEERESHERKRR

HE_Z_NWFER_ZT-_=F+=A
=t+t—HLEFE FIEHRALMEG
ERECMEBASKEL -
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e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

8. REVENUE 8. W=
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by AEERIEZEERARBREODZEFRA
major products or service line for the year is as follows: AW AT
2024 2023
=Rl 111 - S —_EF-=
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with BB HREERFE155
customers within the scope of EERAZEFEHAWE
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products or RFrEERARBEREA D2
services lines B 4
— Household products — REER 1,913 18,292
— Online game — R EEE 15,080 20,796
— Cloud computing and data storage — EFERBERT 1,858 2,999
— Esports — BFHEE 29,737 24,860
48,588 66,947
Revenue from other sources Hfth 2RR U &=
— Rental income from investment —REMEZHSHA
properties 1,257 1,642
— Interest income from money lending — MEEBZ M EWA
business 700 1,673
— Rental income from cloud computing and — Eft B R BB FH#E 2
data storage machines HeWA 965 2,295
2,922 5,610
51,510 72,557

184 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE —E - &+ A =+—H It FE

OTHER INCOME 9. Hug A

2024 2023
—BWF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T FHET
Bank interest income RITH BUA 10 30
Government grants (Note) AT 22 Bl (B 53) 142 160
Gain on remeasurement of lease EFtEEE 2 8 96
Gain on disposal of esports players HEEFHREEF 2 NG = 334
One-off sponsorship from business partner 37/ B 48— X EE B 1,164 -
Others HAh 546 785
1,870 1,405

Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2024, subsidy received from the EE: BEZZ-_NEF+-_A=+—HLFE +

PRC local government authority for the achievements of the Group
of approximately HK$54,000 (2023: HK$24,000) with no unfulfilled

conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. o HER
The Group has six major reportable and operating segments, AEBZNEAXZERHFREE>HOT
as follows:
Online game — marketing and operation of mobile BREFER @— HEREEFHERESE

186 Imperium Technology Group Limited

games and computer games and
sale of NFTs and other digital token

Cloud computing — to engage in cryptocurrency

S 2% 8K HH S INFT R HL th B
(a3

BHER -

Mz e RRAZPHEL

and data storage mining and rental of machines BT BB 0N 2 & A 8%

to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining

Esports — participating in esports BfHR — 2NEFHEREE - BRK
competitions, streaming and MZHESZBRAREE
marketing event, and merchandise
sales

Household products — manufacture and sale of stainless REEMRm — BERHEETHHRER
steel furnishings and home K IEHAm
products

Property investment — rental income from investment MHEKE — BREWEZHSKRA
properties

Money lending — interest income from money & — MEEBZMERA

lending business

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated finance cost and unallocated corporate
income and expenses. Segment assets do not include
unallocated deposits, other receivables and prepayments,
unallocated cash and bank balances and unallocated other
corporate assets.

Information relating to segment liabilities is not disclosed

as such information is not regularly reported to the chief
operating decision-maker.
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M B RRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE —E - &+ A =+—H It FE
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 2 HER @)
Information about operating segment profit or loss and EHREDHIBEEREEZER:
assets:
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HBLFE
Cloud
computing
Online  and data Household  Property Money
game storage Esports  products investment lending Total
EiHER
SLES  HERE  ETHEH  REER  MERE HeE @it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T T TEn TEn TEn TEn TExL
Revenue from exteral customers RENBEF 2 W& 15,080 2,823 29,737 1,913 1,257 700 51,510
Segment (loss) proft A E(EE) R (16,371) (6,746) 3,421 (382) 1,361 684 (18,027)
Bank interest income RITHEHRA 1 - 6 2 - - 9
Interest expense HERR (33) (1,720) (2,106) - - - (3,859)
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH (1,638) (5,908) (6,013) (14) - - (13,573)
Other material non-cash items: AEAERSER:
Reversal of impairment loss of receivables ~ ERFUAREEBEE 15 - 971 56 - - 1,042
Impairment loss of non-financial assets, net ~ FSBEEREER
of reversal (MEEm) - (2,060) - - - - (2,060)
Net falr value gain on investment properties ~ REMEAAELEFE - - - - 104 - 104
Additions to segment non-current assets RENBERDEE 1,554 2,492 2,505 - - - 6,551
As 31 December 2024 R-E-ME+-A=1-A
Segment assets PHEE 13,708 8,953 35,683 4,422 19,699 500 82,965
FENKEBRERAA 2024 F 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 7 EEH (&)
Information about operating segment profit or loss and EHREDHBEEREEZER:
assets:
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-_=f+=-A=+—HLEFE
Cloud
computing
Onling and data Household Property Money
game storage Esports products  investment lending Total
ZHER

RLEs  BERF  ETER FEE®  WXRA A gt
HK§000  HKEO00O  HK§000  HKS000  HKS000  HK§00D  HK$000
TEL TET TR TET TER TR TET

Revenue from external customers RENDEP U E 20,79 5,204 24,860 18,292 1642 1673 72,557
Segment (loss) proft A (EE) R (71,649) 20,439) (13,352) 23,959 (95) (2,903) (84,479)
Bank interest income BAHEKA 13 2 9 4 = = 2
Interest expense SR (86) (39) (209) - = = 333)
Depreciation and amortisation nEREH (14,202) (14,425) (7,348) (59) (65) = (36,099)
Other material non-cash items: EHEAEREER:
Impairment loss of receivables, net of EYRERESR
reversal (k&M@ (970) = (1,814) (57) = 4,576) (7.417)
Impairment loss of non-financial assets, net ~ F&BEERESE
of reversal (MEEm) (36,425) 5,483 2,516) = = = (33,458)
Loss on write off of intangible assets WHEVEE BE (6,056) = = = = = (6,056)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRAA NS - - - 20,969 - - 20,969
Net fair value loss on investment properties ~ REMELLEFRFE - - - - (515) = (515)
Additions to segment non-current assets RENDERDEE 11 3 2,129 - - - 2,178
As 31 December 2023 RZEZZ5+-R=1-H
Segment assets AHEE 11,033 24,286 34,781 4,805 19575 718 95,218
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 2 HER @)
2024 2023
113 —T_=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Profit or loss B
Total loss of reportable segments AR 3 2 42518 (18,027) (84,479)
Unallocated finance costs Ry BL @b & A AR (12,171) (16,460)
Unallocated corporate income ROMEERA 1,028 69
Unallocated corporate expenses Ao EMAE (12,555) (22,579)
Consolidated loss for the year FREEGEER (41,725) (123,449)
Reconciliations of segment assets: THEEHR:
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AERRD Pz REE 82,965 95,218
Unallocated deposits, other receivables and Ko ALz - Ha U FRIE &
prepayments AN 884 947
Unallocated cash and bank balances RAOMRE RIBITE & 2,428 2,575
Unallocated other corporate assets RAOMEMPEEE 882 2,189
Consolidated total assets AERBREE 87,159 100,929
FENEEEERAR 2024 F 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 2 HER @)
Geographical information: HEER:

AEBEREFPHHBEORABINBELZI
SmARREEMHEDNFEFRRBDEE (R
FRDEERETEBRER TR ZENF

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location
of customers and information about its specified non-
current assets (i.e. total non-current assets exclude financial

instruments) by location of assets are detailed below: IR UNNE
Specified
Revenue non-current assets
g = BEFERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
CECNE | —E-=F | ZEZNE | —E-=%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAEXT THER FAET
Hong Kong &5 12,777 19,414 7,137 10,848
People’s Republic of China REAREFMBE(HRED
(“PRC”) excluding Hong Kong (TBEREEH) 31,219 44,223 6,250 9,184
East and South East Asia RERFRmED 7,514 8,920 22,963 22,371
Consolidated total Faast 51,510 72,557 36,350 42,403
Revenue from major customer: REXEEFFZWE:

Revenue from customer of the corresponding years

HEFEEASBEAEKZBBEI0NNEP

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as WA T
follows:
2024 2023
ZE-mF —T_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Esport segment BB
Customer A =ZEA 15,796 19,558
Customer B =FB 5,629 N/A
i@ A
Household products segment REEmMDE
Customer C =2FPC N/A 18,292
TEHR
Online game segment BEERSE
Customer D =FD N/A 8,109
FTEHR

1 90 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Annual Report 2024




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES EEEFBEX
2024 2023
—BWF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FHET
Staff costs (including director’s EIREA(BREESEMHS)
emoluments)
Employee benefits expense (including EERMAZ(BEEEHE)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 12) (P 5212)
Fees e 516 406
Salaries, bonus prize distribution and e CARS DR KEERM
allowances
— Included in cost of sales — FFASER AR 10,562 10,494
— Included in administrative expenses — FFATTEA X 19,881 31,732
Equity-settled share-based payments DA E W AR D AER TR - 6,274
Retirement benefits costs BAKE F AR 3,297 3,689
34,256 52,595
Five highest paid individuals TEBREFMAL

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included 1 (2023: 3) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 12. The

emoluments of the remaining 4 (2023: 2) individuals are set

FALXKELERSFMALRE R
E_=F ZREF REZHMS RN
A1R2FTPZ AT A - BRI HAR(ZT =4
ME)ANTHB S &I

out below:

2024 2023
—E-E T =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHB T FET
Basic salaries and allowances HEARE & NoRRL 3,268 1,310
Retirement benefits costs R PRAE F R A 36 18

Equity-settled share-based payments LA j e &5 B0 A B 15 A B
ORI - 734
3,304 2,062

FEREEMARA T 2024 #5191



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE
11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (Continued) 11. EERABAZ®

Five highest paid individuals (Continued) TEESHFMAL(E
The emoluments of the 4 (2023: 2) individuals (who are not EREFENANBE(CE_ZF : MAB)GEX
directors of the Company) with the highest emoluments are REIEB)ATHMEN T &EEZH:

within the following bands:

2024 2023

—E-WE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 70 21,000,000/ 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001/ T £1,500,000/% 7T 1 1

12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EEREAMEk#E&#

(a) Directors’ emoluments (@) EEM=
The remuneration of every director is set out below: BRESZHEMOT:
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s
services as a director, whether of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking
REAEREZS(FRAZXLDAFEMNBELARE)
BRENSEL#HE
Estimated
money value  Employer’s
of others retirements
benefits benefits
Fees Salaries (Note i) costs Total
HigFl & EBx3
A EREE RAER
Be g (M &ED) ZEA @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER
Name of directors g
Executive directors BITES
— Mr. Cheng (the chief-executive) - BEEITRER) - 120 - 6 126
— Ms. Yeung So Mui (Note ii) — B &L L (M) - 103 - 5 108
— Mr. Lin Junwei — Wi EEE - 480 - 18 498
— Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry - BEATE - 480 - 18 498
— Mr. Xiao Junjia (Note iii) — BB E &£ W i) - 106 - - 106
— Ms. Li Tingting (Note iv) - it (v
- 18 - - 18
Independent non-executive directors B 3EHTEE
— Mr. Tse Ting Kwan - HEHEE 132 - - - 132
— Mr. Fung Tze Wa - BTELE 132 - - - 132
— Mr. Ting Wong Kacee - TEEE 132 300 - - 432
— Mr. Hui Ka Lung (Note v) — FEEEE(HREY 120 - - - 120
Total for 2024 “ECNEAE 516 1,607 - 47 2,170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MIEHER M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE —E - &+ A =+—H It FE
12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EERA K#EXR (8
(Continued)

EEMEm@m

FRN BESRITBRABRTME
ERERMME CTE_=F:FTF
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the e AEEBERETMNESHAS
directors or other members of the five highest paid EEHFATHNEMKE NS
ERARSIMARER - EMAE -
B AR E R RS IE R E -

(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a)

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments during the year (2023: Nil).

individuals as an inducement to join, upon joining the
Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss
of office.

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a
director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

AEAREES(TRARRAREMBLARE)

BHEENIELME
Estimated
money value Employer’s
of others retirements
benefits benefits
Fees Salaries (Note i) costs Total
i Fl & EXH
R ESEE RIKEF
e i k) ZRA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAER TR TAER THT TR
Name of directors ¥
Executive directors HTES
— Mr. Cheng (the chief-executive) - BRETRER) - 120 - 6 126
— Ms. Yeung So Mui -BEERTL - 120 - 6 126
— Mr. Lin Junwei - MEREE - 480 182 18 680
— Mr. Yau Chak Fung (Note vi — BB % (i) - 320 1,824 12 2,156
— Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry - BREE - 480 3,534 18 4,032
Independent non-executive directors B FHITEE
— Mr. Tse Ting Kwan - WEHEE 132 - - - 132
— Mr. Fung Tze Wa - BFERLE 132 - - - 132
— Mr. Ting Wong Kacee - TE%% 132 300 - - 432
— Mr. Hui Ka Lung (Note v) -REREMEY 10 - - - 10
Total for 2023 —E-CEBE 406 1,820 5,540 60 7,826
Notes: Bt -

H M@t E%EEREENES -
BRES -

(i) Estimated money values of other benefits include rent paid, (i)
share options, etc.

V) R-B-_=F+—_FA—BHEZEF-
i) RZZZ=FNA=Z+NABHE -

(ii) Resigned on 8 November 2024. (i) RZZE-_NME+—ANBEE-

(iii) Appointed on 8 November 2024, (iii) RZTZ-_MFE+—ANABEE -
(iv) Appointed on 16 December 2024. (iv) RZZZNME+ZA - BEEMF -
(v) Appointed on 1 December 2023. (

( (

Vi) Resigned on 29 August 2023.

FEREEMARA T 2024 5% 193



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

13.

14.

194 Imperium Technology Group Limited

B ISRk MY RE

FINANCE COSTS 13. BER K
2024 2023
—EMF —T=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Interest on loans from related parties KEBE T 2 ERHE 15,525 15,983
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 505 750
Interest on royalty payable JETE R E T B - 60
16,030 16,793
INCOME TAX EXPENSES 14. FiEFHEAX
2024 2023
—E-MEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax BIEfF{E — AR ZEER
Provision for the year KEEFEE - =
(Over) under-provision in prior years BEFE(BEREE)
BETRE - 3)
- 3)
Deferred tax B RE TR IE 26 593
26 590

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity established
in Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above that
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits
of the group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit
Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%
for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
Enterprise Income Tax tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries has
been provided at a rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
profit for both years.

Malaysia Corporate Tax has been provided at a rate of 24%
on the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 14. FIEHRBAZE)
Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been E ftb b (2 E R E N 2 HIBREZ DERAR
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in B &L B K E BB X AR R IR 1T 8 48
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, Eﬁ Eh - RBRIEGGE
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.
The tax expenses can be reconciled to loss before tax MERATATEGEGEERAMEAEKR R
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other R ATEEERNT
comprehensive income as follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE T =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Loss before tax B 7% A &S 18 (41,699) (122,859)
Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate 2 FP B 1 3 AT 15 5 B R 25%
of 25% (2023: 25%) (ZEZ=F 1 25%) 5T Bl (10,425) (30,715)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERBRMANTE B E
purpose (1,301) (5,250)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for 8] 157 B 52 19§ 78 5 &
tax purpose 907 14,857
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MEBARTRRENFE 1,951 2,720
Over provision in previous years BAEFEBEEE - @)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERMBEBEENT B E 10,516 19,280
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not BALAABRBTIEEED
previously recognised i i 5 & (1,402) (288)
Tax effect of temporary differences not RAERLREENTBEE
recognised (220) (1)
Income tax expenses FrisBif 26 590
FENKEBRERAA 2024 F 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE

15. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 15. FRER
(a) Other gains and losses () HmREE
2024 2023
—B-mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, HEWE BMEEREKEZ

plant and equipment Wz (E518) 4,537 27)
Loss on written off of intangible assets M EEF B E 2 18 - (6,056)
Exchange (loss) gain, net PEH (B 18) = F 58 (3,388) 1,254

Net fair value gain (loss) on investment & W E A LBEWZE (EE)
properties F R 104 (515)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries el NN N - 20,969
Others Hh 988 489
2,241 16,114

1 96 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

15. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

15. FRAEBEE @)

(b) Other items (b) HfbEH
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging AEBEBZ2FANBETIIENERGIA)
(crediting) the following: TH&IEYER
2024 2023
—E-E T =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FAT
Auditor’s remuneration % B A Er B 980 1,600
Cost of inventories recognised as BRAAI 2EEXR
expenses 2,978 18,801
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEHH
— Included in cost of sales — TASHERK K - 2,721
— Included in administrative expenses  — st ATTEFI X 4,296 14,209
4,296 16,930
Depreciation of property, plant and WX - BE K&
equipment e )
— Included in cost of sales — FTAHERA 2,271 12,496
— Included in administrative expenses ~ — st ATTEFI X 8,300 8,732
10,571 21,228
Equity-settled share-based payments LAHX% EEIW RO AEERD
(included in administrative expenses) TR GEATTEFAX) - 6,274
(Reversal of impairment loss) impairment /& 4 5% 18 O (B /& 18 5 =)
loss of receivables, net of reversal BEEE (kR EE)
— Trade receivables — BWE RN (1,042) 2,841
— Loan receivables — BWER - 4,576
(1,042) 7,417
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment  3F & & & 7 )l (8 /& 18
loss) of non-financial assets, net of CREBERERE)
reversal (F0 B 5 [21)
— Cryptocurrencies — MEE® 1,563 (2,758)
— Cryptocurrency deposits and - MEEBZe R
receivables JE B N2 & & 497 (2,725)
— Goodwill — HE - 2,982
— Intangible assets - BV EAE - 34,460
— Prepayments — BRI RIE - 1,499
2,060 33,458
Gross rental income from investment KEMENHS KA
properties (Note i) 42 58 (Fe =% (1,257) (1,642)
Note: B 2
No material outgoings had been incurred for the rental WEEHEWRAEEEAIE -
income.
FENEEEERAR 2024 F 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE
16. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
December 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since
the end of the reporting period (2023: Nil).

17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company
and weighted-average number of ordinary shares, as follows:

16.

17.

@S

BE_Z_NF+_A=+—HLFE I
ERAKEZRMNRE -
MEZZRMATARE(ZE-_=ZF.8)-

BREE

B¥HREHRIAR

BREANBEERDRE T ARE %
BARGERRE BN NEFSHE:

2024 2023
—E-MEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Loss B8
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AR FtE TR E AR
for the purpose of calculating basic and BEEBENAAT
diluted loss per share BEAEBGEE (43,195) (127,733)
2024 2023
—E-mEgE| —T-=
Number of shares v - §E|
Weighted average number of ordinary ARFAESRELRK
shares for the purpose of basic and BEEBE2EBR
diluted loss per share In#EFH 322,625,000 | 311,036,000

Potential ordinary shares from the assumed exercise of share
options have not been included in the calculation of diluted
losses per share because they are anti-dilutive for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Therefore, diluted loss
per share was the same as the basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MIEHER M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥  BERRZHE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
Properties improvement  machinery  equipment vehicles Total
B £EBR
ng HE%EE REREH EY Bf @

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL

Cost A
At 1 January 2023 R-E-ZE-f-H 21,40 10,301 74,432 5,699 839 112,766
Additions FE 1992 - 3 150 - 2178
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (2,557) 957) - (145) (802) (4.461)
Disposal ik - - = (59) = (59)
Write off i (7,158) - - - - (7,158)
Remeasurement of lease ENfrEfiE (3179 = = = = (3,179
Exchange differences EXEE 68 (152) (16) 219 (37) 8
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZE-=F+-A=F-HEK

“2-mE-A-A 10,577 9,082 74,452 5,864 - 100,175
Additions TE 3,708 - - 351 - 4,059
Disposal e (1,557) - (34,019) ) = (35,585
Write off 5 - - - () - ()
Remeasurement of lease ENrERE () - - - - (5)
Exchange differences EREE 97) (78) (29) 210) - (408)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-RE+=A=T-H 12,626 9,204 40,410 5,993 = 68,233
Accumulated depreciation and ZHRERBEER

impairment losses

At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=F-f-H 9,247 9,819 54,215 272 754 76,760
Charge for the year ERF 5,693 486 13,642 1407 = 21,208
Disposal of subsidiaries LEMBAF (2,557) 957) = 33 (748) (4,295)
Disposal e - - - (32) = (32)
Write off i (7,158) - - - - (7,158)
Remeasurement of lease ENrERE (2,480) - - - = 2,480)
Exchange differences ERZEE (33) (171) i) 243 (6) 3
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-E-ZE+-A=F-BEK

“2-mE-A-H 2,712 9177 67,856 4310 = 84,055
Charge for the year ERF 3,484 105 5,799 1,183 = 10,571
Disposal e (1,557) S (33312) ) S (34,878)
Write off i - - - ) - )
Exchange differences EXEE (122) (78) () (150) - (353)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-METZA=+-A 4,517 9,204 40,340 5,332 - 59,393
Net carrying amounts BEFE
At 31 December 2024 R-E-MET-A=+-H 8,109 = 70 661 = 8,840
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZE+-A=+-H 7,865 105 6,59 1554 = 16,120
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. WX  BERRZHE®E)
(Continued)
The Group as a lessee rEBEERAEEA
Right-of-use assets (included in the property, EHEEE(GIAYE BERRE)
plant and equipment)
Leased Plant and
properties machinery Total
HEME BB R ‘et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T FAETT FAT
Cost 39S
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H 18,514 14,650 33,164
Additions nNE 1,992 - 1,992
Derecognised upon expiration HEREMRRIEER
of lease (7,158) — (7,158)
Early termination of lease REXRIEHEE (3,173) = (3,173)
Exchange differences P& i =% 26 — 26
At 31 December 2023 and 1 RZBEZ=F+=A=+—H
January 2024 F—ZF-_HE—F—H 10,201 14,650 24,851
Additions NE 3,355 - 3,355
Lease modification HEBET (5) = ()
Derecognised upon expiration HEEMRRIEER
of lease (1,557) (14,650) (16,207)
Exchange differences & =58 (179 — (179)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ_MFE+__HA=+—H 11,815 — 11,815
Accumulated depreciation EtERBEESR
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H 8,996 14,650 23,646
Charge for the year FAZH 5,525 = 5,525
Derecognised upon expiration HEEMRZIEER
of lease (7,158) — (7,158)
Early termination of lease REKRIEEE (2,656) — (2,656)
Exchange differences fEHE5E (267) — (267)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 RZE_=F+_HA=+—H
January 2024 T F—H—H 4,440 14,650 19,090
Charge for the year FAZH 3,402 = 3,402
Derecognised upon expiration THEEmRERIEER
of lease (1,557) (14,650) (16,207)
Exchange differences b 5 =58 (120) = (120)
At 31 December 2024 RZE_MF+_A=+—H 6,165 — 6,165
Net carrying amounts REFEE
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_WMFE+=HA=+—H 5,650 — 5,650
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H 5,761 — 5,761
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property,
plant and equipment) (Continued)

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$5,167,000 (2023:
HK$5,135,000) are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of HK$5,650,000 (2023: HK$5,761,000) as at 31
December 2024. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

All the plant and machinery are leased out under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 3
years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at
which time all terms are renegotiated. All the leases includes
variable lease payments.

Y% - BER&RE G

AEBERSEBAANGE

RHAREEGIAYE BERRKE)
(%)

RZZEZWMFE+=—A=+—08 ' /BB FERE
& 5,650,000 7o (ZF = =4 : 5,761,000
7 T) B R E B (& 45,167,000 T (=
T = =4 :5135,000/870) ° B A
ﬁsﬁa"ﬂfﬁﬁa’ﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬂ%\ Sh- HEHEIL
EBRUTMRE HEBETSIEAAN
%iéfmﬁﬁo

SHBERERYEEERETE - BE
B A R AT
BEE ERREVBARAKR- 28
HEHHATEEENHK -

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Expenses relating to short-term leases HEMHERE  RAX 613 2,143

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
approximately HK$3,355,000 (2023: HK$1,992,000). This
amount included the capitalised lease payments payable
under new tenancy agreements.

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is set out in Note 29.

RER - F B EE E 143,355,000 T
T - =4 :1,992,000/&7T) - Z L REBIE
FHEBEETEMNERNMEAENZK -

HMEBBEMI BB DT H N 29 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

18.

19.

202 Imperium Technology Group Limited

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Other properties leased for own use

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, and factories
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for a fixed
term of 2 to 5 years (2023: 2 to 3 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Other leases

The Group leases plant and machinery under leases expiring
in 3 years. Some leases include an option to renew the lease
when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out certain offices under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 to 3 years (2023: 1 to 2 years). Majority
of the lease contracts contain market review clauses in the
event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of
lease term.

18.

19.

M- BER&RE G

HthEAEAEWE

AEERAREERLE BEERBREAR
EBE - -HEARMBETHRAMELF (=
T_=F WME=F) HYHZMENEE
R YEeZBRIAEZEREEGEN - &
MEHARTHEIAIHERRE  AEE
KRAEMNESR  LHESAHABRIAITH
HR -

Hib HE

58 AR U =4 B30 R0 TR 40 T O R OB i
o TR A LI AL B A S RO
EENERE MERASTRETLEE
GES

REW=

AEEUCEREN A AEBAETHAE -
HEeESAXMN HENYHRBEHRBE A —
E-F(CTZ=F:—EWMF) - WAEAHEA
TEEHE AAXZHEEEARHBEET
BEEIEK -

HRAAHEOUNESEEERSANIER
Bt BMASETERHEHERHMAR
SRR - HERRTEREBERRRS
HARATREREREBEE LYW ENE
e

2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FET

At 1 January R—H—H
Net fair value gain (loss) recognised in REZERAR
profit or loss 5 FE

Exchange differences MEH =5
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19. REWHE(H)
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of the R-BE_MER_FB_=F+_A=+—H"
Group’s investment properties were arrived at on the basis AEBEBEEMEZ AARETIRES B B H
of valuations conducted by Masterpiece Valuation Advisory AEBVEFHENBLIEENZMME DT
Limited (2023: Jones Lang LaSelle Corporate Appraisal and HERAERAR(ZCEZ=ZF:-HhEWTL
Advisory Limited), independent firms of chartered surveyors XA RBABRARETHMEERL -
not connected to the Group.
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there HEZ-_MEER-_TE-_=F+=_HA=+—
was no change in valuation techniques used for the fair AIEFE - BEAFEL  AREAEERKREY
value measurement of the Group’s investment properties as ¥ ZRAERT S0 E BT I A ] &
compared to last year.
Details of valuation techniques and inputs used are set out in ERGERMEMBHASB ZFEIHR
Note 7(c). BEE7(c) °
GOODWILL 20. BHE
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Cost o
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—HE+ZA=+—H 16,482 16,482
Accumulated impairment losses ZtREEIR
At 1 January n—H—H 16,482 13,500
Impairment loss BEEE - 2,982
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 16,482 16,482

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) that is
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to Cubinet
Interactive (MSC) Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries (the “Cubinet
Group”) within the online games segment.

EXGEHTRBZAERNKRBRIET

BEHERZEGCHTESNRSELE
NIReELEM)D BENFEEEZ S

fid 2= 47 - #% B 9 36 W A Cubinet Interactive
(MSC) Sdn. Bhd. & E 1 & A &) ([Cubinet &
EpIC

FENMEEEERAR
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20.

204 1mperium Technology Group Limited

B ISRk MY RE

GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management of the Group covering the following five years
with a discount rate of 16.2% as at 31 December 2023. The
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using 0% growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculated is the turnover and budgeted gross margin,
which are determined based on the CGU’s past performance
and management expectations for the market development.

Due to the delay in plan of publishing mobile games in 31
December 2023, the Group has revised its cash flow forecast
for this CGU. As at 31 December 2023, this goodwill has no
recoverable amount and impairment loss of approximately
HK$2,982,000 was recognised on goodwill during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no impairment
was made in respect of the goodwill.
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ReELXBANZAIRESBEERFERER
HEER RAEFRERAEEEEE
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REBEXALEBRBHEMNE  HRBRER
CELBENMNBTRAREERBY MH
BROTEHETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GABBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE
21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. BREEE
Game
intellectual
properties and Rights on Money lending
licenses Software  esports team Trademark license Total
BRASERER VET
it Bt BEEBZER 1] HEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEL TERL Tin TEn Tin TEL
Cost HA
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=&£-f-H 86,027 5,083 18,060 7,300 500 116,960
Writs off i (51,666) (5,083) = = = (56,749)
Exchange differences ELEE (918) - (510) - = (1,428)
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZZ§+-A=1-H
1 January 2024 R=F-mE-A-A 33,443 - 17,540 7,300 500 58,783
Acquisition of a subsidiaries WERB AR - 2,492 = = = 2492
Exchange differences EREE (1,012 - (578) - - (1,590)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME
t-A=1+-H 32,431 2,492 16,962 7,300 500 59,685
Accumulated amortisationand ~ ZHEERAEEE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=F-f-8 34,196 5,083 8,724 3,172 = 51,775
Amortisation 3 11933 - 3,587 1460 - 16,930
Impairment BE 33,443 - 1017 - = 34,460
Eliminated on write off RN 5 (45,610) (5,083 - - = (50,693
Exchange differences ELEE (519) - (284) - = 803)
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZZ§+-A=1-A
1 January 2024 R=F-mE-A-H 33,443 - 12,994 5,232 - 51,669
Amortisation B - - 2,836 1,460 - 4,29
Exchange differences EREE (1,012) - (488) - - (1,500)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE
t-A=1+-H 32,431 - 15,342 6,692 - 54,465
Net carrying amounts FEFE
At 31 December 2024 RZB_RE
tZA=1+-H - 2,492 1,620 608 500 5,220
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F
t=A=1-H - - 4,546 2,068 500 7114
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

21.

206 Imperium Technology Group Limited

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group’s money lending license of approximately
HK$500,000 (2023: HK$500,000) at 31 December 2024 was
assessed as having indefinite useful life because the license
has a limited term of 1 year but would be able to be renewed
annually at minimal cost. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Group would renew the money
lending license continuously and any conditions necessary
to obtain renewal would be satisfied. The money lending
license will not be amortised until its useful life is determined
to be finite.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount
of its game intellectual properties and licenses classified
as intangible assets at the end of reporting period when
impairment indicator exists, having regard to the market
conditions of the Group’s products.

Game A

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, Game A has carrying
amount of Nil. These assets are used in the Group’s online
game segment.

Impairment loss of approximately HK$16,645,000 for Game
A’s intellectual properties was recognised for the year ended
31 December 2023. Due to the adverse market condition in
gaming industry and management’s expectation for market
development and the cash flow positions of the Group which
delayed the development plan of the game, management
carried impairment assessment and compared the carrying
amount to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
of HK$NIl for the relevant assets has been determined on
the bases of their value-in-use (“VIU”) from the approved
budget covering a period of five years and a discount rate
of approximately 17% using discounted cash flow method
with reference to the valuation conducted by an independent
professional valuer.

No reversal on impairment loss was recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2024,

Annual Report 2024

21.

BREEE)
RZE-_WNF+_A=+—8 AEEHH
W& KRR #49500,0005 T(= &F — = F:

500,000/ 7T) ¥ & & R\ R A] £ 3 F 8
RZEBRNAEZFHMSF  EEFARE
MRAEE -ARAEEZRR AKEE
FRESERERRIEBEXKREGERMS
MEMRGSE HERBETS®E B
HAERFHEERAR -

ERANAKEEROTHMNRR  AEREE
HEREFSRERRSHREBAEINAB
BB E < B HE R K A Ay Rl U e

TR -

#RA
RZE—mMER—E-_=F+=A=+—1
HEEBANEEAEAT -RSFEENARAE
EEME EBERD I -

HE-_T_ZF+_A=Z+—HLFE ¥
&% A B 20 58k S R e SRR 1B I 18 4916,645,000
BT BREBITETMOMSMARRE
EEHMBERNBHUREALSENE
MERAEREENRETEHEE B8
BETRENGTKEAEETKE S
ETER -HEAEENTKRESEATE
T RBERELERRERFHRESR
mEREE(EREARD KRR ENIT%
RAMBRSREZNL2ZBITEMGE
FETHBEMEE

HE_Z_ME+_A=+—HLEFE I
EERREEERE -



21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Metasens

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Metasens has
carrying amount of Nil. These assets are used in the Group’s
online game segment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, three of the
projects included in Metasens were suspended. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
will no longer be able to generate future economic benefits
from the use or disposal of these projects. Therefore,
intellectual properties related to these projects with a
carrying amount of HK$6,056,000 were written off during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$16,798,000 was recognised in
relation to Metasens. Due to the adverse market condition in
gaming industry and management’s expectation for market
development and the cash flow positions of the Group which
delayed the development of the game. management carried
impairment assessment and compared the carrying amount
to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of HK$Nil
for the relevant assets has been determined based on VIU
from the approved budget covering a period of five year and
a discount rates of approximately 17% using discounted
cash flow method with reference to the valuation conducted
by an independent professional valuer.

No reversal on impairment loss was recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Rights on esport team

Due to the poor performance in the esport team during the
year ended 31 December 2023, the management carried
out impairment assessment on the rights on esport team by
comparing the carrying amount to the recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount was estimated based on its VIU using
discounted cash flow method. The cash flow projection
adopted in the VIU calculation was based on the approved
budget covering a period of five years and a discount rate of
approximately 17% was adopted. Accordingly, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$1,017,000 was recognised in the
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2023
to impair its carrying amount to its recoverable amount of
approximately HK$4,546,000 as at 31 December 2023.
These assets are used in the Group’s esports segment.

No impairment loss was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2024 for the rights on esport team.

21.

BREEGE)
Metasens

R-E-_NMFER-_T-_=F+_HA=+—H"
Metasens WEREEAZ - ZFEE AR
AEERG EBER D EB -

REBEE_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—BLFE"
Metasens ) =B IHE W EF - X AR ES
RE AEBEEFAFERKEEZEHE
BEfMEERKEENZ - ALt - BizFHE
B A8 B8 &Y A0 & = 7 2 IR {86,056,000/% 7T
EREE_TE-_=F+_A=+—HLFE
i sE o
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17%2MBRE-FAy  HEZT-_=F+=
AZ+T—HLEFER BEREBEZABRR
B £ 18 #91,017,0008 T U E R ==
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

22. INVENTORIES 22. 78
2024 2023
—E-m&E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FET
Finished goods %Y BX in 221 202
23. LOAN RECEIVABLES AND INTEREST 23. EWRERKREKRF R
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FET
Loan and interest receivables FEWE R EF A 7,042 7,042
Allowance for ECL EHEERERG (7,042) (7,042)
Details of the loss allowance for the loan receivables and BRHRUERRERFNBEZEBRREFE
interest receivables are set out in Note 6.3(b). R B 7£6.3(b) °
The maturity profile of loan receivables and interest RBEEBHEEER R ERANERHETAH
receivables at the reporting date is analysed by the remaining HEHANBHZ BB ROAT

periods to their contractual maturity dates as follows:

2024 2023
—E-N&E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

Within one year —FA = =

FEWE R K WA B 2 BREE T 1R E T
@ o

The carrying amounts of the loan receivables and interest
receivables are denominated in HK$.

R_BE_WNER_F_=F+_"_HA=+—8"
PrBERKER SERM  REEFHX24%
TR =F FMEAUR)GFERIERARTF
BHEMEEMREER -

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, all loan receivables are
unsecured, bear interest at fixed rates of 24% per annum
(2023: 24% per annum) and are repayable with fixed terms
agreed with the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

24, BEREZERM

TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

—EME B

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FHET

Trade receivables JEUWE 5 8R K 21,205 20,991
Allowance for ECL B EEBEREE (1,750) (2,826)
19,455 18,165

Details of the loss allowance for trade receivables is set out

in Note 6.3(b).

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to 90 days.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by directors. The
aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on

the invoice date, and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

EREEEZER ZBEBBFBHRNN

5¥6.3(b) °

AEBETBUEERFTERZPETRS -
EEH RN FI0ENOK - EFFHF
BEESR AKEREESERRER
HEkRBERBERZERROTMOT

2024 2023
—E-mF R
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
0-30 days 0E30K 5,888 5,657
31-60 days 31E60K 827 2,146
61-90 days B61E90K 2,772 1,338
Over 90 days Q0K A E 9,968 9,024
19,455 18,165
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE
25. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

25, B HMEWRERANSRE

PREPAYMENTS

2024 2023
—E-MEF ZTZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Deposit ey 2,030 2,431
Prepayments SEENE ] 8,953 9,660
Other receivables H {th B W 5K T8 5,572 1,253
16,555 13,344

Analysis for reporting purposes as: MBMEEN TR
Current VinE)! 9,487 5,549
Non-current IE B 7,068 7,795
16,555 13,344

21 0 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

26. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS 26. MEEHEE
(a) Cryptocurrencies (a) MHZHE#
Notes HK$’000
B 5E FAT
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=%F—H—H 6,323
Additions NE
Cryptocurrencies mined BERFENZEE 2,755
Cryptocurrencies received B = B
— Received from cryptocurrency receivables  — U ELE U N & #E 26(b) 2,456
— Received from sale of NFTs and other — HENFTREMHF
digital tokens REFT1SRIE 485
Total additions NE B 5,696
Transferred to cryptocurrency deposits BANEEBZS 26(b) (3,220)
Cryptocurrencies sold EEMEE (2,049)
Cryptocurrencies paid BfRmEE (683)
Reversal of impairment loss during the year FRFAEFBERR 15 2,758

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=F+=ZHA=+—H

FZZ-_pmWFE—-—H—H 8,825
Additions NE
Cryptocurrencies mined ERERMNE &S 1,416
Cryptocurrencies received B UER = B
— Received from cryptocurrency receivables  — T U ELFE UL N2 & 26(b) 964
— Received from sale of mining machines — HERERETERIE 1,993
— Transferred from cryptocurrency deposits —EAMEEEZLS 26(b) 3,403
Total additions NE B 7,776
Cryptocurrencies sold BENZEEK (11,229)
Cryptocurrencies paid BN E % (2,308)
Impairment loss during the year FRFAEEIE 15 (1,563)
Exchange differences EHE5 678
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE_WE+-_A=+—8H 2,179
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE

26. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS (Continued) 26. MEE¥EEW®E
(a) Cryptocurrencies (Continued) (@) mMBEY (&)
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the breakdown of RZEZWNEFRZZTEZ=F+=H
cryptocurrencies are as follows: =+ —HB - NEEEMNHEMEET:
Coins/tokens HK$’°000
BIEEY R FHET
UsSDT TRiEME 54,327 422
Ethereum Ethereum 0* 1
BNB g o* —
Filecoin Filecoin 45,975 1,755
TRX TRX 708 1
Chia 7 g - -
At 31 December 2024 R WF
+=A=+—8 2,179
Coins/tokens HK$’000
BIEEE R FAET
UsSDT TRIEM 34,946 273
Ethereum Ethereum 11 109
BNB e 122 217
Filecoin Filecoin 114,261 5,361
Chia BSEEL 9,498 2,865
At 31 December 2023 R-EBE-=%F
+-—RA=+—H 8,825
* Unit less than 1. BRI e

** Amount less than HK$1,000. = DM,0008 T2 & FE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

26. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS (Continued) 26. MEBEWEE®)
Cryptocurrency deposits and (b) MEBEEXRZREREKRMEZEER
receivables

Cryptocurrency — Cryptocurrency
deposits receivables Total
NEERES RBUNEEER B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it 3x TET TET TET
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—Hf—H 1,770 109 1,879
Additions NE
Transferred from cryptocurrencies ~ EMZ & B E A 26(a) 3,220 - 3,220
Income receivable from rentaland ~ RERERFTRERK 2
services provided JE Wk A - 2,408 2,408
Received from the customers BE P 26(a) - (2,456) (2,456)
Reversal of impairment loss during AR B & 1B B @
the year 15 2,680 45 2,725
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-=ZF+-A=1+-—
1 January 2024 Ak=—Z-_m&E—-—A—H 7,670 106 7,776
Additions RE
Transferred to cryptocurrencies EAMER G 26(a) (3,409) = (3,408)
Income receivable from rentaland ~ RERERAMERRE 2
services provided 1 ON - 998 998
Received from the customers B &P 26(a) - (964) (964)
Prepaid to the suppliers BAftER - 73 73
Expense payables from service BEEXREL
accepted ERRX = (84) (84)
Impairment loss during the year FRRESE 15 (488) ) (497)
Exchange differences EHEE 17 2 (15)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZB-MF
+ZR=+—8 3,762 122 3,884

The directors of the Company carried out impairment
assessment at the end of each reporting period by
comparing the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount which was estimated based on fair value
less cost of disposal by using market approach.
Impairment loss of approximately HK$1,563,000
and HK$497,000 (2023: Reversal of impairment loss
of HK$2,758,000 and HK$2,725,000) respectively
were recognised in respect of cryptocurrencies and
cryptocurrency deposits and receivables for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

RAAREEFRNEREMRETRE
T FERAEBRARE BRI
Bl ABESENEARER
HEXAFERAMGEMESE - &
E_E_NMFE+_A=+—HBItHE
E ERMEEERMNEERZSE
REKRMZESBERABEERED
Bl #71,563,000/% T K497,0007% T
ZEZ=FRAEBBEERS RN
2,758,000 7t [ 2,725,000 7t ) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 27. REeERBITHER
Cash and bank balances include demand deposits and BeRRTEHKRBEEHERRAFTAL
short-term deposits for the purposes of meeting the Group’s SECHRSAREMENERFR  JHi%
short term cash commitments, which carry interest at market NF0.01%E0.2% 2 THIH M EFE -

rates range from 0.01% to 0.2%.

As at 31 December 2024, the cash and bank balances of RZB-_ME+_A=+—H FAEEBENUA
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately RE5E 2R & RIRITH # 4 52,982,000
HK$2,982,000 (2023: HK$3,163,000). Conversion of RMB BT (ZZEZ =% :3,163,000& 7T) - AR
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign HO RN 7R B 1E R B AN BE B B K 0 A %
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of wEE EERNETEHRE -
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.
28. TRADE PAYABLES 28. ERESZEN
2024 2023
—E-DOF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET TR
Trade payables BB SRR 3,786 4,859
The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 30 to HEE— M FAEBEIOEIORMZEH] -
90 days from its suppliers.
At the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of trade RBEHKF ENEEEREBTE[H Y
payables, based on the invoice date is as follows: BEWmofmuT:
2024 2023
—E-DOF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T B TR
0-30 days 0&E30XK 560 552
31-60 days 31E60K 556 314
61-90 days 61290K 737 379
Over 90 days 90K M k 1,933 3,614
3,786 4,859
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 & B RS 85 25 B3
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE
29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HE&ASE
Present value of minimum
Minimum lease payments lease payments
EREEESHR BREENRNEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“E-ME s “E-NE —T=F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THER AL THER TAET
Within one year —FR 2,801 3,837 2,333 3,449
Within a period of more than one year — %\ F BB F
but not exceeding two years Z Hf 1,255 1,774 1,062 1,686
Within a period of more than two WEALBIBBREF
years but not exceeding five years 2 HA 2,191 = 1,772 =
6,247 5,611 5,167 5,135
Less: Future finance charges BARBEER (1,080) (476) TEH i@ A
Present value of lease obligations HEEAEZRE 5,167 5,135 5,167 5,135
Less: Amount due for settlement wTZEARBEE
within 12 months (shown under SHEGIRNTE féta IE T)
current liabilities) (2,333) (3,449
Amount due for settlement after 12~ + AR ELEENESE
months 2,834 1,686
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities ARHEEBRZIEEEENMEN F8.74%
range from 8.74% to 20.45%. (2023: 1.55% to 20.45%). F2045% 2B ZEZ=ZF: N T15655% =

20.45% 2 f8) °

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total BHE _T_NE+_A=+T—HIFE"
cash outflows for the leases are HK$4,125,000 (2023: HEMR SR LR B4125,0008 L (ZF
HK$7,043,000). — =4 :7,043,000 B L) °
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30.

21 6 Imperium Technology Group Limited

B ISRk MY RE

LOANS FROM RELATED PARTIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group received loans from
Mr. Cheng and related companies, which are companies
beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Cheng, with
aggregate principal amount of HK$219,000,000 (2023:
HK$310,000,000). These loans were unsecured, interest
bearing from 0% to 2% (2023: from 0% to 2%) per annum
and repayable within 1 to 2 years. The fair value of these
loans were estimated at the prevailing market interest rates
for equivalent loans which ranged from 4.64% to 7.26%
(2023: 3.98% to 8.75%) per annum on initial recognition.

The carrying amounts of the loans from related parties are

30.

REBEBLTZERK

R-B-_WME+-A=+—8 K&EB AL
EEDHBEEESHEERIEROEEQ
RIEBE R ANd 45 5219,000,0007% T
(Z=& =~ =4 :310,000,000/8 7T) > Z £ &
RAEEF  BFEB0%RE2% (T - =4F:
0% ZE2%) T EREAR—EWMFARNEE - %
EERZARNENERBAEIERNIAER
B ZIBITMSENEN T464%FE7.26% (=
T =F:3.98%%FE8.75%) 2 AN °

KEBE T 2 EXRNOEREERNAT

repayable:
2024 2023
—E-MEF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Within one year —F KR 212,721 208,563
Within a period of more than one —FU EBTEBEBRMF 2 HH
year but not two years 1,963 92,204
214,684 300,767
Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : RSB EE T —FRNIHH
under current liabilities ol (212,721) (208,563)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 3ER B BEE 7T RH) & 58 1,963 92,204
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 31. HENRERESIEEB
2024 2023
—ENF —T=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Deposits received BES 415 754
Accruals FEEHIER 5,504 9,214
Rovyalty payable (Note a) JFE T R4 & (M ta) 1,455 2,087
Retirement benefits costs (Note b) IR AR AR F A (B 53 b) 276 399
Other payables (Note ¢) b & 3038 (B 7 ) 34,272 29,285
41,922 41,739
Analyses for reporting purposes B ERRIWNA:
Current & 41,646 41,397
Non-current B 276 342
41,922 41,739
Notes: Bt -
(@) The balance represented non-cancellable minimum royalty payable (a) EHREBBER EEBRER RN — BB
to a game developer under an online game license agreement. FBERIAAREREENEER -
(b) The amount represented defined benefit obligations arising from a (b) ZeHE—HREMNBATZERAETBAEL -
Thailand subsidiary. Under labour laws in Thailand, all employees BEZFBE2EITE LI{E@1208 2 FTERE
with more than 120 days of service are entitled to Legal Severance BRI (B 4E 5 6 42 1k s A KR SR IK) 18
Payment benefits ranging from 30 to 300 days of final salary upon HERETEMEBRAM - EMEA30E300H
termination of service, including forced termination or retrenchment, ZEBREHM o ZEETRES WA J|EE
or in the event of retirement. The plan is unfunded and therefore BE -
there is no plan asset.
() Included in the amount was interest payable of approximately (c) HARZZ-WHE+-_A=+—BWHENT &

HK$13,000,000 (2023: HK$4,500,000) as at 31 December 2024.

#713,000,000/& T (= & = = % : 4,500,000/

JT) e

FENMEEEERAR
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32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 32. EHERE
2024 2023
—E-mE e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Contract liabilities as a result of billing in EHERBEBEMTFRAGEM
advance of cloud computing and data EEEHNERE
storage 55 439
For the revenue from cloud computing and data storage, the MREBEFERBERTES 2 KE
Group received 25% of mining reward from cryptocurrency AEERARNEE® T HE ?%25%2 F
mining at the beginning which give rise to a contract liability. RER AmMELESNBE -
For revenue from mobile game business, contract liabilities MREFREBEB 2 REMS  BHEE
arose from sales of durable virtual items in the online game BEER(BAEREFTEEARNZMA
where the Group act as a principal. HEHRYODMEEENEE -
Movement in contract liabilities are as follows: BHRENEFHMT
2024 2023
—E-mE B =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Balance at 1 January R—A—HBW&E & 439 1,896
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AR FRERF AR LN EEDN
recognising revenue during the year that WHeaNaEmd
was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year
— Cloud computing and data storage — ESEREBERTE (439) =
— Game publishing service — BERLEITIRT - (1,896)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of FE IR AT E S AL B E 0
billing in advance
— Cloud computing and data storage - ENEREERT 55 439
Revenue recognised in the year from the REAKFEIFAEHNEENKIE
amounts included in the contract liabilities #5225
at the beginning of the year 55 439
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

33. EEBEAR

33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Fair value Undistributed Deferred
adjustments earnings tax on Right-of-use
on assets of PRC investment assets/lease
acquired subsidiaries  properties liabilities Total
FKREE +TEMBAR RENEZ ERAEEE/
ZORERE Z2RkITEBER EEHE HEAE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TEL TAT TET FTAEL
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=%—A—H 172 1,716 = = 1,888
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AT - (1,716) - = (1,716)
(Credit)/charge to profit or loss (5t A),/ 1k BB @) = 577 18 593
Exchange differences X ESH - - ) - (8)
At 31 December 2023 and R-ZE-=fF
1 January 2024 +ZRA=+—Hk
—E-ME-A—H 170 - 569 18 757
Charge to profit or loss nheaEz - — 11 15 26
Exchange differences ER Ay ) - 14 1) 12
At 31 December 2024 RZE-WM¥
+=ZA=+-A 167 - 596 32 795

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$381,557,000 (2023:
HK$332,801,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$29,066,000 (2023: HK$15,709,000) that will expire on
or before 2034 (2023: expire on or before 2033). Other tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has aggregate
amount of deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$4,347,000 (2023: HK$4,283,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

RBREMR  AEBARDARBEEIELD
381,557,000/ jt (= Z — =4 : 332,801,000
B TT) AT AEE S AR RO B o B R R AR
MAATER MUY EBRRELCHBEEE -
AERREEEBREBER-_S=NFk 2
A(CE-=F:—ZT==Fs5kZ7a3H2>
#729,066,0007% 7t (=& = =4 : 15,709,000
B EE EM B EE BT ERPLEE -

RMEBR AEB A NBERFELE
4 EE 4 /4,347,000 T( = F = = F:
4,283,000/ 7T) ° B R K @ F i & 7] 18
Bl MW EEREERBEE -

FENMEEEERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —ZE - ME+_-_A=+—RHItEE

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. RA

Ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each

EREEIIETZEER
Number of
shares Par value
R4 EE HE
HK$’000
FAT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares, Tk
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZE-_=ZF—A—H"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 _$:_¢+ A=+—8"
—ZEZNFE-A—HRK
—E-_WE+ZA=+—H 500,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR:
Ordinary shares, LAER
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 R—E-=F—H—H"
and 1 January 2024 —E-=F+-A=+-HBK
—E-MF—H—H 311,036,000 3,110
Placing and subscription of shares (Note) Bl & KRB R (B 3E) 62,207,200 622
At 31 December 2024 RZB_MNFE+A=+—H 373,243,200 3,732

220 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Note:

On 24 October 2024, the Company has placed a total of 62,207,200 shares
at HK$1.79 per share to not less than six Placees in accordance with the
placing agreement dated 6 December 2021 (the “Placing”). The gross
proceeds from the Placing are approximately HK$111,351,000. The net
proceeds, after deduction of all relevant expenses (including but not limited
to placing commission, legal expenses and disbursements) incidental to the
Placing of approximately HK$1,114,000, are approximately HK$110,237,000.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise
new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Total debt
comprises borrowings. Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity
(i.e. share capital, share premium, accumulated losses and other reserves)
except for non-controlling interests.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s strategy
was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio as low as feasible. In order
to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

No debt-to-adjusted capital ratio is assessed as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 because the Group is in a net liabilities position as of these dates.

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is in order to
maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float of at
least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars monthly on substantial
share interests showing the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing
compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Deemed disposal of BLE B IR&EE R D
Al (“Taiwan Subsidiary”)

On 1 January 2023, the Group deemed disposed
100% of the issued share capital of the Taiwan
Subsidiary because the Group did not renew
the contractual arrangements with the Taiwan
Subsidiary. Management assessed the implications
of the non-renewal of the contractual arrangements
and concluded that, based on the facts and
circumstances, the ability of the Group to use its
power to direct the relevant activities that would most
significantly affect the returns of the Taiwan Subsidiary
was ceased. By 1 January 2023, it was no longer
practical for the Group to make relevant decisions in
order to obtain significant variable returns from the
Taiwan Subsidiary. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company assessed that the Group ceased to have its
control over the Taiwan Subsidiary and therefore the
carrying amounts related to the assets and liabilities
of the Taiwan Subsidiary was deconsolidated from the
consolidated financial statements as of 31 December
2023

34.

35.

R A (48)

R-ZE-_WNER-_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—0 BEGEE
HEAEEAL R BABEZZSHE AEBER
FAaBRR -

REBEBBFEEBIM EM AR ERER
RBERBEL2BBEMARREEE -

AEESAERNECEEERMIEAREREZE
ABREEZZRE  ZREBERAEEREEEEH
BEET5% ZBREE ©

= K B~ F

(a) RELEREBHULREBFRLD
A(agMEAR]

RZZEZ=F—A—B A5BEHRE
HESENBARZMEHETRA
RARAEEIL EESEKH B AR
BEANETH - *EFE?%KE
BEANRH I ZE URRBRENRSE
E&EW\\’$%I$%@@%
HBENERE ‘*%WFf“T@ﬁ

B2 RANWEBEEE - - #HZE ==
i*ﬂ*5'$ilﬁﬁ%¢ﬁﬁ%
AELNEDRREEENE AN E
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z —E - ME+-_A=+—RHILtEE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 35. HEMEBATEE
(a) Deemed disposal of BLE & U IR & B R 2 (a) BRELEREBVIREERA
7 (“Taiwan Subsidiary”) (Continued) A(TAEHE AR D@
Net assets at the date of deemed disposal were as RBEHERH EEFAENT:
follows:
HK$’000
FET
Property, plant and equipment Y- BB K& 86
Other receivables o {th & Y 5k E 195
Bank and cash balances RITRIB S EH 159
Other payables b &~ 3R IE (30)
Net assets disposed of HEEEFH 410
Release of foreign currency translation reserve 2% JitSM & #8815 (272)
Loss on deemed disposall RAIEL S &8 138
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEA R &R D T8
Cash consideration received EWBESRE =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERERRESEEY (159)
Net cash outflow He R Fa (159)
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 35.

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE —E - &+ A =+—H It FE

Disposal of JF Household Furnishings (b)
(Asia) Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“JF Asia Group”)

On 30 June 2023, the Group disposed 100% of the
issued share capital of JF Asia Group for a total
consideration of HK$1.

Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows:

HEKBE QR @)

R R AR (T M) B R
AAREMEAT (8T
%8 )

RZZE-_=FR"A=1TH ~&EIA
MRBIVETHERETMNERZ B
BEEITIA -

REERRZABEFENT:

HK$'000
FAT
Property, plant and equipment Y- BB K& HE 80
Other receivables H b fE L 5k IE 5,713
Bank and cash balances RITRBE &8 5,112
Current tax assets BNEAF I8 & B 19
Other payables HAth 5 3R 1E (13,638)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBER (1,716)
Net liabilities disposed of HEBEFE (4,430)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve 2% it Sh & #8815 (16,677)
Gain on disposal &k = (21,107)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEA R SR D F58E:
Cash consideration received EWBESRE e
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERESRRESEEY (5,112)
Net cash outflow WERHFEE (5,112)

* amount less than HK$1,000

21,0000 T 2 & B
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36.

224 Imperium Technology Group Limited

B ISRk MY RE

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs
to the Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$249,000 (2023:
HK$262,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting
period.

Defined benefit plan

The Group has defined benefit obligations arising from one
of its subsidiaries, Cubinet (Thailand) Co. Ltd. Under labour
laws in Thailand, all employees with more than 120 days of
service are entitled to Legal Severance Payment benefits
ranging from 30 to 300 days of final salary upon termination
of service, including forced termination or retrenchment, or in
the event of retirement. The plan is unfunded and therefore
there is no plan asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme
Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the ordinary written resolution passed in the
annual general meeting of the Company on 29 June 2018,
the share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was
approved and adopted by the Company to comply with the
requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to provide an incentive or a reward to eligible
persons for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.
The eligible participants include any directors or employees,
consultants and/or advisers, the eligible participants also
include any business or joint venture partners, contractors,
agents or representatives, suppliers, producers or licensors,
licensees (including sub-licensee) or distributors, of the
Group or any person who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group.

The overall limit on the number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and other share option scheme of the
Group must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company
in issue from time to time. Upon acceptance of the option,
the Grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant.
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37.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The subscription price for share(s) under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price as the board of directors in its
absolute discretion shall determine and notify to each
Participant and shall not be less than the higher of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day), (i) the average closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option and (jii) the nominal
value of a share on the date of grant of the option. The date
of grant is the date on which the option is offered.

An option under the share option scheme may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
at any time during the period to be determined and notified
by the board of directors of the Company to each grantee
which period of time shall commence on the date of grant
of the option and expire on such date as determined by the
board of directors of the Company provided that the option
may not be exercised after the expiration of 10 years from
the date of grant of the option.

The Share Option Scheme does not require a minimum
period for which an option must be held nor a performance
target which must be achieved before an option can be
exercised, unless the board of directors of the Company
otherwise determined and stated in the offer of the grant of
options to the grantee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I wm R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

37. LUBHBIZMAREE
LREZENBERESSE (B

Share Option Scheme (Continued) BREEE)
Details of the specific categories of options granted to the RTYTEShEECERERERINZFE
directors and employees are as follows: N
Exercise
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period price Note
REBEH HEBEH TR THE KW
HK$
BT
2022A 18 January 2022 28 September 2022 28 September 2022 to 1714 i
17 January 2032
—Z-__%-A+/\R ZE__FAARZTNR —E_FAAZTNBE
—E==f—A++tH
2022B 18 January 2022 28 March 2023 28 March 2023 to 1714 i
17 January 2032
—Z-__%-A+/\R —E_=F=AZt+N\H —F-=ZF=ZA=-ft/\BZ
—E==f—A++tH
2021A 28 September 2021 28 September 2022 28 September 2022 to 11.04 iii
27 September 2031
—E-FARAZTNH 2 _FAAZTNR “E_FAAZTNBE
ZE=-FAAZT LA
2021B 28 September 2021 28 March 2023 28 March 2023 to 11.04 ii
27 September 2031
—E-FARZTNH —E_=F=ZAZ+NH —F-=F=ZA=-ft/N\BZ

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years
from the date of grant, the options expire. Options are
forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.

“Z=—-®FAA=-t+tH
MBI E AR H B EARE 5T T F B i RITE

AR ESESER HESHMHAASE
81 F8 B HE S ROR MK -
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 37. UBRHBZAIREE

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) LREGENBRES (8

Share Option Scheme (Continued) BIREEE)

Details of the movement of share options during the year are FREREEH 2FBOT:

as follows:

2024 2023
—E-IMF —EZ=F

Weighted Weighted

Number average Number average

of share exercise of share exercise

options price options price

in#E ¥ NHEFH

BREHE TRE | BREHE T1018

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Outstanding at the beginning RE W RITE

of the year 4,732,432 11.04 7,842,792 13.46

Forfeited during the year (Note i) F4E A58 Wz (Fff 3%1) - - (3,110,360) 17.14
Outstanding at the end RERRRITE

of the year 4,732,432 11.04 4,732,432 11.04

Exercisable at the end RERAITE

of the year 4,732,432 11.04 4,732,432 11.04

Notes: B 5 -

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, 3,110,360 share options (i) BE-ZE_=F+Z-A=+—BHLLFE"
were forfeited upon Yau Chak Fung’s resignation as the director of 3,110,360 i A% 1 A £ /2= 2= 0 F A E AR A
the Company during the year. EEME IR -

(ii) No option was outstanding as at the year ended 31 December 2024 (ii) BE-_ZT-_NMFR=-ZT=-_=F+=-A=+—H
and 2023. WLFEE - BESRITEERE -

(iii) The options outstanding at the year ended 31 December 2024 have (iii) HE-Z-_NF+-A=+—HLEFENEHK
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 6.7 years (2023: 7.7 TEBRENNETORBEOFHR6TF (=
years) and the exercise price is HK$11.04. The estimated fair value of Bo=F77F) TRERNET - BKR
the options on the date of grant is approximately HK$34,456,000. HEREE A EF AR AL AE34,456,0007

ﬁ: °
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 37. UBRHBZAREE
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) LREGENBRES (8
Share Option Scheme (Continued) BREEE)
These fair values were calculated using the Polynomial ZEANEEAZEANECEELGE -
option price model. The inputs into the model are as follows: BAZERH2EMT
Share options Share options
grant date 18 grant date 28
January 2022  September 2021
BEBEHA REAHA
—EgE=-= —E-—%F
—At+NH NA=-+N\H
9 BB AR B B AR
Weighted average share price nwEEHRE HK$17.14 HK$11.04
17.14% 11.04% 7T
Weighted average exercise price INEFIIITEE HK$17.14 HK$11.04
17148 T 11.04% 7T
Expected volatility & HA 7 8 81.16% 78.61%
Expected life TEEFERFER 10 years 10 years
10 105
Risk free rate & R & 1.61% 1.43%
Expected dividend yield TEHIAR B X 0.00% 0.00%
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the FEHEEERTEALABEI0FRED
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the e FEMEE ZERANMAZESRE
previous 10 years. The expected life used in the model has RAERERBAEE 2 & EMFATE
been adjusted, based on the Group’s best estimate, for ECOTERFETAMNEZERERZ 2
the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and ERFAEE o

behavioural considerations.
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38. BiEZBEIEL2ABEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TERFMAEEREETDHELE 2 EEES -
arising from financing activities, including both cash and BREACRIFRSETH MEEFHMELE
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities ZEREREEIBRAEEGZEHEEMER
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will DEAMETHNREREZLHERE K
be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash RKRBERE °

flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Loan from
Lease related Interest
liabilities parties payable Total
REBEBAHZ
HEEE EX EMfFE @it
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FTAEL FTET AL
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=%—H 10,122 266,623 3,750 280,495
Financing cash flows BERETE (7,043) 30,000 - 22,957
Remeasurement of lease BYHERE (614) = = 614)
Interest expenses MERX 750 15,983 = 16,733
Effect of initial recognition MBI T 1,092 (11,089) = (9,097)
Transfer (to) from interest payable RE(Z)EMNHE = (750) 750 =
Exchange difference X EHE (72) - - (72)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZ_=%
1 January 2024 TZA=t—-Bk

“E-NM&E-A—H 5,135 300,767 4,500 310,402
Financing cash flows BERERE (4,125) (92,960 = (97,085)
Remeasurement of lease BNEME (19) - - (13)
Interest expenses Fl B H Y 505 15,525 = 16,030
Effect of initial recognition NigEA L2 3,355 (148) - 3,207
Transfer (to) from interest payable BE(2)aREMNFE - (8,500) 8,500 =

Transfer from prepayments and BRESENTEREMEMNTE
other payables 362 — — 362
Exchange difference X =5 (52) - - (52)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_mE+=-A=1+—H 5,167 214,684 13,000 232,851
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. XARZHMBRIRHEEZE X
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—E_mF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB L& 21 85
Investments in subsidiaries RMBRARZRE - -
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 842 2,106
863 2,191
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables JEUE 5 8RR 3,067 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W BT B A R %ZIE 14,457 —
Deposits, other receivables and Re  HMEKRFIER
prepayments TE 1 3B 884 946
Cash and bank balances REe RIBITHE R 2,230 =
20,638 946
Current liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilities HEBAE 1,060 1,447
Other payables and accruals H A EFRIE R JEETIE B 14,719 7,629
Loans from related parties REBEH 2 ER 148,641 170,051
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE < B B A B 3k 18 2,256 2,810
166,676 181,937
Net current liabilities REBAEFHE (146,038) (180,991)
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRBARG (145,175) (178,800)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Loans from related parties KEBEEB T ZER 1,963 64,604
Lease liabilities HEAE — 1,060
1,963 65,664
Net liabilities EEFHE (147,138) (244,464)
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital g 3,732 3,110
Reserves & (150,870) (247,574)
Capital deficiencies EARE 4 (147,138) (244,464)
The financial statements were approved and authorised for M mrSEETgRN_T_AF=H
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025 and are —+\H Ttt/ﬁ&?ﬁﬁéﬁ/ﬁ W AT
signed on its behalf by: EERKE
Cheng Ting Kong Lin Junwei
BT B &2
Director Director
EE EZ
FEREEMARA T 2024 £ 231
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. AARZHBEMARREEZEBR(E)

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Share-based

Shares  Contributed payments Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserves losses Total
(Note 40(0)l) ~ (Note 40(b}i) (Note 40(c)vi)
NRABREED
RA%E BABH BEL:1 Hitffe RithE aE
(Frr3Ed0()) (P ZE40()) (Bt sE40(b)vii)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AT A A TATL TATL
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=F-f-H 294,884 42,967 63,042 29,820 (621,599) (190,386)
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - (71,707) (71,707)
Capital contribution iE - - - 8,245 - 8,245
Share-based payments DRI BEREA X - - 6,274 - = 6,274
Forfeiture of share options BB - - (22,948) - 22,948 =
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZBZ=E+ZA=1+-HEK
WZZ2-Mm&-A—H 294,884 42,967 46,868 38,065 (670,358) (247,574)
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (13,059) (13,059)
Placing and subscription of shares (net of RERZERND (NERS
transaction costs) K A) 109,615 = = = = 109,615
Capital contribution TE - - - 148 - 148
At 31 December 2024 RZE-RE+-A=1+-H 404,499 42,967 46,868 38,213 (683,417) (150,870)
40. RESERVES 40. f#¥E
(a) Group (@) *&KE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements AEB L RESEREEZEHEHIRN
therein are presented in the consolidated statement meEmakEMEE W E RN KL
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and EEZEHEK -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) FEZMERAZRE
(i)  Share premium (i) KREOEE

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is
available for paying distributions or dividends
to shareholders subject to the provisions of
its Memorandum and Articles of Association
and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividend the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE

40. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company arose
as a result of the Corporate Reorganisation and
represents the excess of the then combined
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share
capital issued by the Company in exchange
for the nominal value of the share capital and
share premium of its subsidiaries arising from
group reorganisation on 8 September 2005
(“Corporate Reorganisation”).

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Capital reserve

This represents the transfer from retained
profits to capital reserve as a result of the
write off of certain trade payables by ZE&
ZXEAMBR AT JUF ACR. Equipment
Supplies (Ningbo) Co., Ltd.) (“JF Ningbo”), a
subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) accounting
principles and financial regulations, any gains
arising from debt restructuring which represent
the difference between the final settlement
and the carrying value of the debt concerned
are directly reflected in capital reserve and
therefore not distributable. Accordingly, a
transfer has been made from retained profits to
capital reserve. The capital reserve can only be
used to increase capital of this subsidiary.

40. f##& (%)

(b) REIMERABZREGE

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)
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40. RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

234 Imperium Technology Group Limited

General reserve

The general reserve is set up by way of
appropriation from the profit after tax
in accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC. The rate of
appropriation to the general reserve is subject
to the decision of the board of directors of PRC
subsidiaries, but the minimum appropriation
rate is 10% of the profit after tax for each
year, until when the accumulated balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
subsidiaries. Pursuant to the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC, if approvals
are obtained from the relevant government
authorities, the general reserve can be used in
setting off accumulated losses or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.

Other reserves

The Group received loans from related parties.
These loans were unsecured, interest bearing
from 0% to 2% per annum and repayable
according to the terms of the loan agreements.
The fair value of these loans were estimated
at the prevailing market interest rates for
equivalent loans ranged from 4.64% to 7.26%
(2023: 3.98% to 8.75%) on initial recognition.

As one of the substantial shareholders of the
Company has beneficial interests in the related
parties, the difference between the principal
amount and the fair value of the loans on
initial recognition were considered as capital
contribution and recognised in the other
reserve.

Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HiZE — T —_MNE+_A=+—H It FE
PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 41. T EMEAH

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at the end of the FEMBARINHERNFBEHT N T:

reporting period are set out below:

Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued Principal activities
establishment  Attributable and paid-up ordinary and place of
Name of subsidiary and operation interest shares/registered capital operation
AR ERARBEEER/
MEARAHRE B R i B EhEs ZMEAHE TEEH
Seven Senses Game Company Limited  Hong Kong 100% 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 Design, development and
each operation of online
games
tRERBBERAT G 10,000/ & 17 T & i IR Rit - HAEREERL
Hasssh Limited Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each Design, development and
operation of online
games
S 1RGRIBE TR K Rit HABEREERL
Suzhou Weifeng Digital Technology PRC 100%  Registered capital of Design, development and
Limited RMB30,000,000 operation of online
games
HMNE B BB RERAR HE 1 & & A K #30,000,0007T REt - HEREERL
Cubinet Interactive (Thailand) Co., Ltd ~ Thailand 48.99% 100,000 ordinary shares of Design, development and
THB100 each operation of online
games
ZE 100,000k BRI00R KM E B Rt FAEREERL
Seven Elements Interactive Digital Hong Kong 100% 1,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 Cloud computing and
Technology Limited each data storage
Tt ERUBREERAT Bk 1,000/ & A% 178 7T 0 & i R EHEREEHRE
Seven Elements Interactive Limited Hong Kong 100% 1,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 Cloud computing and
each data storage
tTEHAERRA BB 1,000/ & M 17 70 8) 3 8 Bk BitEREERRE
Dragon Crest Ventures Limited BVI 100% 1 ordinary share of USD1 each Cloud computing and
data storage
EBAIREBERAT EEERARES 1R AR 3E T B B 4 AR ENEREREE
FEREEMARA T 2024 5% 235
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

4. TEWEAE (@)

Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued Principal activities
establishment  Attributable and paid-up ordinary and place of

Name of subsidiary and operation interest shares/registered capital operation

AR/ BRTRBEZER/
MEARER BYREEE Bz HAMELHEE TEXH
Hainan Yihuan Network Technology PRC 100%  Registered capital of Esports operation
Co., Ltd. RMB10,000,000
BESOREHNBERDA e & A& A R #10,000,0007 BETHRREE
Hainan Wanhui Network Technology PRC 100%  Registered capital of Esports operation
Co., Ltd. RMB20,000,000
BEABEREREERAA HE 1 B 2R A R #20,000,0007T BFHREE
Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital PRC 100%  Registered capital of Esports operation
Technology Co., Ltd. RMB?20,000,000
BEEMNEBREERAA HE 1 & A A & #20,000,0007T EFHREE
Fuzhou Wanhui Network Technology PRC 100%  Registered capital of RMB1,000,000 Esports operation
Co., Ltd.

BMTEBEMEERAR g i B AR A K #1,000,0007T EFHREE

Best Gold Corporation Limited Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each Money lending

EHEEXFRAA it 1R RRAE T B B R &

Ningbo JF Metal Products Co., Ltd PRC 100%  Registered capital of US$140,000  Manufacturing and
processing of stainless
steel rods and other
accessories

ERREEBEMARRA FE T B AR140,000% T HERMITHHERE
o B

Smart System Limited (Note 44) Hong Kong 51% 100 Ordinary shares of HK$1 each  Cloud computing and
data storage

Smart System Limited (Fff 7£44) BB 100 BRIBTH L EK EHEREERE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally

affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details

of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of

the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 42. REHELTH

The Group as lessor AEBEBERAEHAA

Operating leases relate to investment property and plant CEHERAEERBA—Z=Z=F(F~A &
and machinery owned by the Group with lease terms of 1 HIWBERENMEARBE LKW B -
to 3 years, with no extension. The lessee does not have an ARAVEHEERNHHERSEEZDE
option to purchase the property or plant and machinery at B R o

the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: HEMNREERBAEREBEOT
2024 2023
- S —F-Z=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Within 1 year —F KR 585 416
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFR 429 11
Total Bt 1,014 427
The following table presents the amount reported in profit or TREVNRERRWN S
loss:
2024 2023
“E-mEF —T-=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Rental income on operating leases BRANTEENKLEHEYW
related to: HEBA:
— Investment property — REYE 1,257 1,643
— Plant and machinery — TR R A 965 2,295
2,222 3,938
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

43. BB HI RS

(@) In addition to those related party transactions and (a) BAGAHBERREGBIHDFIHE
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated WA ARG REHRIN  RFEAR K
financial statements, the Group had the following SEBEEBEBAETUTRS:
transactions with its related parties during the year:

2024 2023
—E-mF —T-=%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FHET FET
Interest expense paid to MAT AR F B
— Imperium Credit Limited — BEEEVBERA
7 (2,358) (3,110)
— Sun International Group Limited — KBSEBEBEEBAREAQ
7 (7,110) (7,347)
— Imperium Group (Holdings) — FEEEER) BR
Limited AT (3,129) (2,596)
— Mr. Cheng — B (2,928) (2,856)
— Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry — BRKTE - (275)
Rental income from REUTEFHEERA
— Mr. Cheng — B4 156 439
Game published service RENTNARI® R ETT
revenue from P %5 W &
— Imperium Interactive — HEEETHHERA
Entertainment Limited Al 3,068 —
License fee charged by M AT A B KB &
— Imperium Interactive — FREEEHERA
Entertainment Limited Al = (26)

Note:

(i) Mr. Cheng is a director of Sun International Group Limited
and Imperium Group (Holdings) Limited as well as a

shareholder of Imperium Credit Limited.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,

238 Imperium Technology Group Limited

the key management personnel compensation paid by
the Group including amounts paid to the Company’s
director as disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements and the highest paid employees
as disclosed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 43. BEEAIXRZ (&)
(b) Balance with related parties (b) EEEEEES BV AR
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had the NR_E-_PWER_ZE-_=%F+_A
following balances with related parties: =t+—B - AEEEBEAHMSHE T4
%
2024 2023
—E-—m&E —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Loans from related parties and related REBE A ZERR
interest payable FERT BT &
— Imperium Credit Limited — FREEMBERAF (5,100) (52,572)
— Sun International Group Limited — KIGEBEEEBR AT (113,750) (68,129)
— Imperium Group (Holdings) Limited — FEEEFER)BERAF (53,150) (68,129)
— Mr. Cheng — %Ef‘ai (53,634) (57,156)
— Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry — BERKREE (600) (600)
Amounts due from related parties JFE iz 123 Bgt 752 A
— Imperium Interactive Entertainment — HEE E?E@Jﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ
Limited 2,748 570
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 44. WEKEB QT
On 10 December 2024, the Group acquired 51% of the RZEZNFE+ZATH TEBEERHR—

entire issued share capital of Smart System Limited (“Smart
System”) from an independent third party with a cash
consideration of RMB1,000,000. Smart System mainly
owns an intelligent property called “Coin Guide” Apps,
which is developed from the user’s practical point of view,
and provides accurate and timely alerts, quotations, data
analysis, and other services that are truly helpful to traders.

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test
in accordance with HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and
concluded that “Coin Guide” Apps are considered a single
identifiable asset. Consequently, the Group determined that
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets (excluding
cash and cash equivalents and deferred tax assets) acquired
is concentrated in a group of similar identifiable assets and
concluded that the acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date
of acquisition

%38 3 % = 77 W B Smart System Limited
(ISmart System|) 2 82 2 17 & KA #951% -
e RER AR 10000005 ° Smart
System = Z # B & A [Coin Guide] B Apps
WABERE REAEEBREHE  BOoH
BETLEHRZEAHBENIE  BERK
RHEE - 17185 BRI ERE -

AEEBRZRETBMIGRELERFEIFIH
BeattlEAEREESTAR - WRACoin
Guide] Appst R BE—AFAEE - Ellt -
AEBEETHMUBEERETRERSR
REZEEBEYREERBEE) 2B RES

AEERPR —HABEUNFERIEE  L&E
ﬁ?ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁzf%ﬂ%Eﬁ&%f?%jﬁ#*lﬁi
f“Z l:lnfﬂﬂ °

RUBEHEIANEERER

HK$’000
FET

Intangible assets

BVEE

2,492
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44.

45.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
Net cash outflows arising on acquisition of

44. WHEKEB AR (&)
W BE Smart SystemFiIEEX R LR

Smart System HF
HK$’000
FER
Consideration paid in cash HeEHRE 1,102
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B EBEWBRSRREEEYD —
1,102

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(i)

(if)

240 1mperium Technology Group Limited

On 24 January 2025, Diamond State (the “Vendor”), a
controlling shareholder of the Company, has entered
into a placing agreement with Waton Securities
International Limited (the “Placing Agent”) as the
sole placing agent, in relation to the placing by the
Placing Agent in multiple tranches on a best effort
basis of up to an aggregate of 93,310,000 shares
(the “Placing Shares”) of the Company (representing
25% of the total issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of the Placing Agreement) held by the
Vendor at a placing price of HK$1.05 per Placing
Share to professional, institutional, corporate and
other investors (the “Placee(s)”). The placing period
shall commence from 24 January 2025 and end on 24
March 2025 or such longer period as the Vendor and
the Placing Agent may agree in writing.

On 24 March 2025, the Vendor and the Placing Agent
entered into an extension letter to extend the placing
period stipulated under the Placing Agreement from
ending on 24 March 2025 to ending on 30 April 2025,
or such longer period as the Vendor and the Placing
Agent may agree in writing. Up to the date of this
annual report, the Placing has not been completed.

On 14 March 2025, the Company entered revolving
loan facilities with an independent third party for an
amount up to HK$25,000,000. The rate of interest
applicable to the loan facilities shall be 12% per
annum from date of drawdown. The repayment date is
falling 12 months from date of drawdown.
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45. HEHREE

(i)

(if)

RZZE-_AF—AZ+WTHE AR
28 {% A% % Diamond State ([ & EJ)E
HEBFLBEBEERAFAGERKE
—RERE REREDITLES
WE NABHEERBEENE
EOoMEERESIMBNRZ A& H
93,310,0008% & 2~ & I 9 (B & &
B HRERFEHPARFEETT
A BREE25%) TEH - g
ENEMEELE ((AEAD RBREE
BEREER®M1.058T - HE’EE?@EE
_z_ﬁi B+ MB#EMABE
TRF="AZ+TWAILAER &
FEEERENEZEERENE B
BREM -

R-ZF-_AF=ZA-1tWHA Bk
fo & IE R IE B ek 4 - B & 15
ZEMEECRERHE _FT_0F
A tHBELEEE-—T-_RFNHA
=tAL HEBEBHEREEREAELES
HHENEBERERNE -BEEAF
HEH BEERHKRTK

R-ZE-_RAF=ZA+WMAB - ARQF
B-ZBIYE=—HITUSESE
25,000,000 THEREEHR A& -
ZEEFRMEARRNEBRERN
FEREE12% - BEHRAPHEERNE
HiEstmi2@AZA -
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